School of Doctoral Studies in Biological Sciences University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, Faculty of Science

Functional analysis of tick salivary serine and cysteine protease inhibitors

Ph.D. Thesis

Mgr. Jan Kotál

Supervisor: Michail Kotsyfakis, Ph.D. Co-supervisor: RNDr. Jindřich Chmelař, Ph.D.

University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, Faculty of Science, Czech Republic

&

Biology Centre CAS, Institute of Parasitology, Czech Republic

České Budějovice 2020

This thesis should be cited as:

Kotál J., 2020: Functional analysis of tick salivary serine and cysteine protease inhibitors. Ph.D. Thesis Series 19, University of South Bohemia, Faculty of Science, School of Doctoral Studies in Biological Sciences, České Budějovice, Czech Republic, 111 pp.

Annotation:

The proposed thesis focuses on the characterization of two protease inhibitors in tick saliva. More specifically, the thesis present presents immunomodulatory properties, biochemical specificity and structure of a cysteine protease inhibitor named Iristatin. Another characterized protein, IRS-8, comes from a serpin family (serine protease inhibitors) and inhibits blood coagulation and complement system in the host. Furthermore, the thesis provides a literature overview and discussion of tick salivary molecules in the context of tick-host-pathogen interaction, vaccination potential and medicine potential. Two review manuscripts, which are part of this thesis summarize the effects of tick saliva and protease inhibitors on host immune mechanisms.

Declaration

I hereby declare that this thesis is based on my own work and all other sources of information have been acknowledged. I hereby declare that, in accordance with Article 47b of Act No. 111/1998 in the valid wording, I agree with the publication of my PhD thesis, in full to be kept in the Faculty of Science archive, in electronic form in publicly accessible part of the STAG database operated by the University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice accessible through its web pages. Further, I agree to the electronic publication of the proceedings and results of the thesis defense in accordance with aforementioned Act No. 111/1998. I also agree to the comparison of the text of my thesis with the Theses.cz thesis database operated by the National Registry of University Theses and a plagiarism detection system.

Declaration [in Czech]:

Prohlašuji, že v souladu s § 47b zákona č. 111/1998 Sb. v platném znění souhlasím se zveřejněním své disertační práce, a to v úpravě vzniklé vypuštěním vyznačených částí archivovaných Přírodovědeckou fakultou

elektronickou cestou ve veřejně přístupné části databáze STAG provozované Jihočeskou univerzitou v Českých Budějovicích na jejích internetových stránkách, a to se zachováním mého autorského práva k odevzdanému textu této kvalifikační práce. Souhlasím dále s tím, aby toutéž elektronickou cestou byly v souladu s uvedeným ustanovením zákona č. 111/1998 Sb. zveřejněny posudky školitele a oponentů práce i záznam o průběhu a výsledku obhajoby kvalifikační práce. Rovněž souhlasím s porovnáním textu mé kvalifikační práce s databází kvalifikačních prací Theses.cz provozovanou Národním registrem vysokoškolských kvalifikačních prací a systémem na odhalování plagiátů.

České Budějovice, 2. 11. 2020

Mgr. Jan Kotál

This thesis originated from a partnership of Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, and Institute of Parasitology, Biology Centre CAS, supporting doctoral studies in the Molecular and Cell Biology and Genetics study program.



Financial support:

This work was supported by the the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (grants P502/12/2409; 16-07117Y; 19-14704Y; 19-07247S), by the Grant Agency of the University of South Bohemia (grants 04-150/2016/P and 038/2016/P) and by ERD Funds, project CePaViP OPVVV (No. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16_019/0000759)

Acknowledgements:

It is my great pleasure and privilege to express my gratitude to all the people who participated in the research and helped compiling the results in the presented thesis.

First I would like to thank Dr. Michail Kotsyfakis who gave me the opportunity to become a part of his research team and for his patience with me while working on my projects. Many thanks also go to my co-supervisor, Dr. Jindřich Chmelař. This work would never have been created without their help and support. I would also like to thank all members of Laboratory of Proteomics and Genomics of Disease Vectors, Department of Medical Biology, and Laboratory of Vector Immunology for everyday cooperativity, support, valuable comments and a friendly working environment. I feel honored that I could visit laboratories of prof. Triantafyllos Chavakis in Dresden and prof. James A. Huntington in Cambridge and learn from their experience in respective fields.

Most importantly, I would like to thank my wife Luïse and my family for their never ending support, love and care.

List of papers and author's contribution

The thesis is based on the following papers (listed chronologically):

- Kotal, J., Langhansova, H., Lieskovska, J., Andersen, J. F., Francischetti, I. M., Chavakis, T., Kopecky, J., Pedra, J. H., Kotsyfakis, M., and Chmelar, J. (2015) Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva. *Journal of proteomics* 128, 58-68; (IF: 3.509)
 - Jan Kotál is the first author, searched the literature, wrote the manuscript, prepared tables and figures.
- Chmelar, J., Kotal, J., Langhansova, H., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2017) Protease Inhibitors in Tick Saliva: The Role of Serpins and Cystatins in Tick-host-Pathogen Interaction. *Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology* 7, 216; (IF: 4.123)
 - Jan Kotál is the shared first-second author, searched the literature, wrote the manuscript and prepared tables.
- Kotal, J., Stergiou, N., Busa, M., Chlastakova, A., Berankova, Z., Rezacova, P., Langhansova, H., Schwarz, A., Calvo, E., Kopecky, J., Mares, M., Schmitt, E., Chmelar, J., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2019) The structure and function of Iristatin, a novel immunosuppressive tick salivary cystatin. *Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS* 76, 2003-2013; (IF: 6.496)
 - Jan Kotál is the first author, designed and performed experiments, performed the analyses and wrote the manuscript.
- Kotal, J., Polderdijk, S. G. I, Langhansova, H., Ederova, M., Martins, L. A., Berankova, Z., Kotsyfakis, M., Huntington, J. A., and Chmelar, J. (In preparation) Tick Ixodes ricinus serpin 8 (IRS-8) inhibits coagulation and complement in the host.
 - Jan Kotál is the first author, designed and performed experiments, performed the analyses and wrote the manuscript.

Table of Contents

1.	1. Introduction					
	1.1. Ticks as ectoparasites and disease vectors					
	1.2. The role of saliva in tick feeding and pathogen transmission	3				
	1.3. Proteases and their inhibitors	7				
	1.3.1. Cystatins - cysteine protease inhibitors	8				
	1.3.1.1. Tick cystatins	10				
	1.3.2. Serpins - serine protease inhibitors	11				
	1.3.2.1. Tick serpins	13				
	1.4. Protease inhibitors in other blood feeding parasites	14				
	1.5. Vaccinanation potential of tick salivary and midgut molecules.	15				
	1.6. Medical potential of tick salivary molecules	17				
2.	2. Aims and objectives					
3.	Manuscripts	23				
	3.1. Manuscript 1 "Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva"	23				
	3.2. Manuscript 2 "Protease Inhibitors in Tick Saliva: The Role of					
	Serpins and Cystatins in Tick-host-Pathogen Interaction"	35				
	3.3. Manuscript 3 "The structure and function of Iristatin, a novel					
	immunosuppressive tick salivary cystatin"					
	3.4. Manuscript 4 "Tick Ixodes ricinus serpin 8 (IRS-8) inhibits					
	coagulation and complement in the host"	72				
4.	Conclusion	91				
5.	List of references					
6.	List of abbreviations					
7.	Curriculum Vitae					

1. Introduction

1.1. Ticks as ectoparasites and disease vectors

Parasitism is an extreme form of symbiotic relationship between species, where the parasite is adapted to exploit the host's organism, causes harm to the host and benefits from the mutual relationship[1]. Eukaryotic parasites have evolved six main strategies that differ in the way of host exploitation. Parasitoids grow inside the host and kill it when they complete their development, parasitic castrators suppress host reproduction to use the resources for their own reproduction, trophically transmitted parasites are transmitted by their host being eaten by the definitive host, directly transmitted parasite require two different species – a host and a vector that transmits the parasite and finally micropredators use a variable number of species or hosts to feed on[2]. Ticks are blood-sucking ectoparasites of mammals, birds and reptiles and therefore belong to the micropredators group. Furthermore, they serve as vectors for a broad variety of vector transmitted parasites[2].

Phylogenetically, ticks belong to the class Arachnida, order Ixodida and can be further divided into three families – Ixodidae, Argasidae and Nuttalliellidae[3].

The smallest tick family, Nuttalliellidae, has only one known representative *Nuttalliella namaqua* living in the south of Africa. Nuttalliellidae represent the most basal tick lineage[4, 5].

Argasid ticks are also known as "soft ticks", because they lack a scutum. Thus far, around 185 soft tick species have been described[6]. Unlike hard ticks, the soft ticks feed repeatedly in nymphal and adult stage, because of limited amount of blood they can ingest. Accordingly, feeding on the host is much shorter, from a few minutes up to two hours. Nymphal stage usually involves 3-6 instars, based on blood meal size and other factors. Both adult males and females feed on blood and females can lay eggs after each blood meal[4]. Medically important soft ticks belong mainly to *Ornithidoros* and *Argas* genera.

Ixodidae, also known as "hard ticks" due to sclerotized dorsal shield (scutum) covering the entire back of unfed individuals, represent the most abundant tick family with more than 700 species[6]. Hard ticks remain attached to their host

for days or even weeks; however only once in each life stage (larva, nymph, adult)[4, 7]. Most important hard ticks belong to genera *Amblyomma*, *Dermacentor*, *Haemaphysalis*, *Hyalomma*, *Ixodes* and *Rhipicephalus*.

Our model organism, tick Ixodes ricinus belongs to Ixodidae family. I. ricinus is a European tick found also in the neighbouring parts of northern Africa and the Middle East[8]. I. ricinus undergoes a life cycle that involves 3 stages, each of which needs a specific host to feed on. Six-legged larvae hatch from eggs, feed mainly on small rodents and moult into nymphs. The eight-legged nymphs feed on mid-sized animals for 3-5 days and they moult into an adult after they drop off the host. Adult males do not feed on blood, but they can be found on hosts seeking females in order to reproduce. Adult females feed mainly on bigger mammals like deer, cattle, or dogs for 7-10 days. Their feeding course can be divided into two main phases. During the 6 days long slow feeding phase, ticks only imbibe a limited amount of blood while modulating the feeding pool and growing an excess of cuticle. Rapid engorgement phase starts 1-2 days before tick detachment from the host. In this phase, ticks ingest most of blood and drop off the host[9]. Tick females only finish feeding successfully, if they are mated and fertilized by a male. Afterwards they lay between 500 and 2000 eggs. New larvae hatch during late spring or fall and usually start feeding during the following season[4]. In nature, this whole generation cycle takes between 2 and 6 years, depending on meal availability and location.

Ticks serve as vectors for a variety of diseases. The tick-borne pathogens consist mainly of viruses and bacteria, but include also protozoa, fungi or helminths[10].

More than 160 viruses[11] have been associated with tick transmission, comprising at least 12 virus genera[12]. The tick *I. ricinus* is a major vector for the tick borne encephalitis virus (TBEV)[13]. Tick borne encephalitis is caused mainly by three subtypes of the virus, European, Siberian and Far-Eastern subtype. The subtypes differ in severity of symptoms that a patient develops and the disease can be prevented by vaccination[14].

Although ticks can transmit a broad range of bacteria, *Anaplasma*, *Rickettsia* and *Borrelia* genera have been studied most intensely due to their direct impact on human health[15, 16]. The most important bacterial disease, transmitted by *I. ricinus*, is Lyme disease. In Europe, the causative agent is *Borrelia burgdorferi sensu lato*[17], which comprises around 20 different

genospecies. Among these, *Borrelia afzelii* and *Borrelia garinii* infections cause the Lyme disease symptoms[18]. In North America, the same disease is caused mostly by a single strain *Borrelia burgdorferi sensu stricto*[18]. Lyme disease can cause dermatological, neurological, rheumatological, or cardiac problems and can be treated with antibiotics. At this moment, there is no effective vaccine against Lyme disease in the market, although promising results have recently been achieved with adjuvanted OspA-ferritin nanoparticles in a mouse model[19]. *Anaplasma phagocytophilum*, causing granulocytic anaplasmosis or *Rickettsia helvetica* and *Rickettsia monacenis*, agents of spotted fever, belong among other bacteria transmitted by *I. ricinus*[20].

Protozoans represent another group of tick-borne pathogens, mainly with a veterinary importance. *Theileria* genus infects cattle, as well as wild animals, is transmitted by *Rhipicephalus*, *Amblyomma*, *Haemaphysalis* or *Hyalomma* ticks[21] and causes agricultural losses. Similarly, *Babesia bovis* transmitted by *Rhipicephalus* ticks is considered to be one of the species with greatest economic impact in cattle industry[15]. *I. ricinus* is also the vector of three *Piroplasmida* pathogens that have been reported to infect humans – *Babesia microti*, *Babesia venatorum* and *Babesia divergens*[20].

1.2. The role of tick saliva in feeding and pathogen transmission

For successful and long feeding on their hosts, tick adapted to modulate host immune reaction and hemostasis by secreting saliva into their feeding cavity (Fig. 1). It is important for the tick to suppress blood clotting and immune reaction in the skin wound caused by hypostome insertion in order to avoid tick rejection by the host[22]. A complex cocktail of salivary components suppresses host responses at the feeding site that may disrupt blood flow, cause pain and itching or lead to edema formation[22]. The mechanical skin injury immediately triggers coagulation, vasoconstriction and platelet aggregation – mechanisms of hemostasis to prevent blood loss. The coagulation cascade results in the production of fibrin that supports platelets during the process of thrombus formation. Vasoconstriction leads to slower blood flow and decreased bleeding and therefore facilitates the formation of thrombus[23].



Figure 1: Schematic overview of saliva effects on populations of cells involved in anti-tick immunity. Figure shows the processes that are inhibited in respective cell populations. SGE: salivary gland extract, CTL: cytotoxic T lymphocyte. From: Kotál et al., 2015, J. Proteomics[22].

Blood coagulation is a proteolytic cascade driven by serine proteases that leads to thrombin activation and subsequent production of fibrin clot, where platelet aggregation and thrombus formation occur. Coagulation can be initiated via two pathways, the extrinsic and intrinsic, both of which result in the activation of thrombin, which then cleaves fibrinogen to fibrin, the primary component of the clot[24]. The extrinsic pathway starts with a blood vessel injury and the formation of complex between activated factor VII (fVIIa) and tissue factor (TF). TF/fVIIa complex then activates factor X (fX), either directly or via activation of factor IX (fIX), which in turn activates fX. The intrinsic pathway is triggered by the activation of factor XII (fXII) by a protease kallikrein. Activated fXII (fXIIa) activates factor XI (fXI), which next activates fIX and results in the activation of fX. Following that, a common pathway ends the coagulation process regardless of the initiation. Activated fX (fXa) forms a complex with factor V (fV) which then cleaves prothrombin to thrombin and converts fibrinogen to fibrin[24, 25].

Since blood coagulation would be harmful for a feeding tick, their saliva contains anti-coagulatory molecules. The largest group of tick anti-coagulatory molecules are serine protease inhibitors that target thrombin, fXa and other related proteases. The main two protease inhibitor families involved are serpins and Kunitz domain inhibitors, followed by trypsin inhibitor-like proteins and Kazal domain inhibitors [26]. The effect of tick salivary anticoagulants is summarized in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Summary of tick anti-hemostatic molecules and their molecular targets. Roman numerals in the coagulation cascade refer to coagulation enzymes and factors. TXA2: thromboxane A2; TF: tissue factor; AamS6: *Amblyomma maculatum* serine protease inhibitor 6; TSGP2, 3: Tick salivary gland protein 2, 3; IRS-2: *Ixodes ricinus* serpin 2; RMS-3, 15, 17: *Rhipicephalus microplus* serpin 3, 15, 17; AAS19: *Amblyomma americanum* serpin 19; BTSP: basic tail secretory protein; TAP: tick anticoagulant peptide; BSAP1, 2: BaSO₄-adsorbing protein 1, 2; BmAP: *R. microplus* anticoagulant protein; BmGTI: *R. microplus* gut thrombin inhibitor; HLS2: *Haemaphysalis longicornis* serpin-2; HSC70: heat shock protein 70; IRIS: *I. ricinus* immunosuppressor; IxscS-1E1: *Ixodes scapularis* serpin 1E1; NTI1, 2: nymphal thrombin inhibitor 1, 2; RHS-1, 2: *Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides* serpin 1, 2; BmTI-A: *R. microplus* trypsin inhibitor A; DvKPI: *Dermacentor variabilis* Kunitz-

type serine protease inhibitor; HA11: *Hyalomma asiaticum* 11kDa protein; Ir-CPI: *I. ricinus* contact phase inhibitor. Adapted from: Chmelař et al., 2012, J. Proteomics[23].

Similarly to blood coagulation, the complement cascade of immune system is also based on serine proteases. Complement represents fast and robust defense mechanism as a part of innate immunity. Its role is in opsonization of infectious agents and their lysis, while activating other immune mechanisms[27, 28]. Complement can be activated by three pathways – classical pathway is initiated by antigen-antibody complexes, alternative pathway is triggered when the C3b protein directly binds a microbe and a lectin pathway needs a binding of a lectin to specific carbohydrates on pathogen surface[28]. All three pathways result in cleavage of C3 by C3 convertases to C3a and C3b fragments. C3b can consequently either enter a positive feedback loop to amplify complement response, opsonize pathogen cells to label them for phagocytosis or bind other subunits to form a C5 convertase. C5 convertase cleaves C5 to C5a and C5b fragments. C3b and C5a subunits have a role in promoting inflammation[27].

Complement is inhibited by ticks mainly at the level of C3 convertase activity by *Ixodes* species[29, 30] or by blocking C5 from being accessed by C5 convertase in the case of *Ornithodoros moubata*[31].

Consequently, both cellular and humoral immune responses are triggered as a result of the intrusion of the tick mouthparts. Resident skin cells like Langerhans and dendritic cells, keratinocytes, mast cells or macrophages are immediately exposed to tick hypostome and saliva. Release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines like interleukin-8, tumor necrosis factor, and interleukin-1 β recruits other immune cells like basophils or neutrophils to the site of injury. Activation of basophils and mast cells leads to histamine release, itching and a possible removal of the tick by scratching off the host[22]. In case of repeated tick infestation, adaptive immunity also plays a role by activating B and T cells and producing specific antibodies. Antibodies can further sensitize histamine release cells or trigger the activation of complement through the classical pathway[32].

Tick saliva disrupts hemostatic processes at different levels. Serine protease inhibitors inactivate proteolytic cascade facilitated by serine proteases leading to thrombin generation and subsequent cleavage of fibrinogen to fibrin and blood clot formation. Platelet aggregation and vasodilatation are also affected, leading further to uninterrupted blood flow to tick's feeding cavity[23].

Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva affects many different cell populations involved in both innate and adaptive immunity. Macrophages exposed to tick saliva produce less nitric oxide, which is an important signaling and anti-parasitic molecule. Furthermore, macrophages have decreased ability of phagocytosis and cytokine production. A similar effect was described also for cytokine production, migration, proliferation, maturation and phagocytosis by dendritic cells. Granulocytes showed impaired recruitment and adhesion, phagocytosis, degranulation, histamine release and production of reactive oxygen species. Furthermore, tick saliva blocks lymphocytes proliferation, expression of their surface molecules and polarizes their cytokine production towards Th2[22].

A weak immune response at the feeding site caused by tick salivary molecules is not beneficial only for the tick, but facilitates host infection by tick-borne pathogens. An enhancing effect of tick saliva was observed for transmission of viruses[33], bacteria[34] or apicomplexans[35].

A more detailed description of host immunomodulation by tick saliva can be found in a review "**Manuscript 1**"[22] which is a part of this thesis.

1.3. Proteases and their inhibitors

Proteases (or peptidases) are a family of enzymes able to hydrolyze peptide bonds[36]. Similarly to nucleases, proteases can be divided into two subtypes based on their mode of action. Exopeptidases cleave one or few amino acids at the C- or N-terminus of a peptide chain. Carboxypeptidases cut at the Cterminus, while aminopeptidases at the N-terminus. Endopeptidases cleave an amino acid chain within the sequence and are usually very selective for a particular amino acid sequence. They can be further divided into cysteine-, serine-, aspartic-, threonine-, glutamic- and metallo-peptidases according to their catalytic mechanism[37]. Amino acids at the catalytic site facilitate the hydrolysis of the peptide bond. Cysteine, serine, threonine and glutamic acid at the active site or their corresponding proteases initiate the nucleophilic attack at the substrate molecule. Aspartic proteases and metalloproteases activate a molecule of water to initiate the attack[36, 38, 39].

Protease inhibitors block the activity of proteases. Their nature can vary from small molecules to peptides and proteins. Naturally occurring protease inhibitors are mostly of peptidic or protein origin, while inhibitors used for medical purposes are often small synthetic molecules [39]. Peptidic/protein inhibitors can be classified either by their mechanism of action or by type of protease they target. According to the MEROPS database, there are currently 106 families grouped according to similarities in their primary sequence and 40 class classified according to similarities in tertiary structures[37]. Protease inhibitors can also be divided into two groups according to reversibility of inhibition. Reversible inhibitors bind to target protease by non-covalent interactions and can be removed by dilution, changes in ionic strength or by a stronger ligand. We recognize three subtypes of reversible inhibitors, classified by their binding to the protease or protease/substrate complex competitive, uncompetitive and non-competitive inhibitors. On the contrary, irreversible inhibitors permanently inactivate the protease, often by formation of a covalent bond either within protease active site or the inhibitor covalently binds directly the protease[39].

Tick saliva is a rich source of various types of protease inhibitors. They can be divided according to specificity into cysteine and serine protease inhibitors and according to structure to most abundant Kunitz domain inhibitors, followed by cystatins, serpins and less abundant families[26, 40, 41]. While tick salivary cystatins are mostly connected with host immunomodulation and Kunitz domain inhibitors with the regulation of hemostasis, serpins possess both of these features[26]. The scope of this thesis are tick cystatins and serpins, which will be discussed further in more detail.

1.3.1. Cystatins – cysteine protease inhibitors

Cystatins form a family of reversible, competitive, tight binding inhibitors of legumain and papain-like cysteine proteases[42, 43]. According to MEROPS, cystatins (family I25) are represented by three subfamilies, namely type 1 stefins (I25A), type 2 and 3 kininogens (I25B) and type 4 fetuins (I25C)[37]. For illustration, structure of a selected member of each subfamily is shown in Figure 3. Stefins are usually localized intracellularly in the cytosol and the nucleus due to lack of signal peptide and they do not have disulfide bonds and

glycosylations. They are relatively small proteins - about 100 amino acids long with molecular weight ~11 kDa and one cystatin domain[43]. Similarly, type 2 cystatins also have a single cystatin domain with N-terminal glycine and OXVXG sequence in their loop 1. Compared to stefins, type 2 cystatins also possess a PW dipeptide motif in loop 2. Type 2 cystatins have a signal peptide, are exported out of the cell and are thus present in most biological fluids^{39,40}. They have two disulfide bridges near their C-terminal, ~11-14 kDa, and they are generally not glycosylated[44]. Kininogens are larger multi-domain molecules that possess three cystatin-like domains, disulfide bonds and glycosylations and are of multifunctional nature. Kininogens are involved in the regulation of coagulation, inflammation or inhibition of papain-like proteases[43]. The fourth subfamily, fetuins are secreted glycoproteins with two cystatin domains that lack the inhibitory activity towards cysteine proteases[45]. They can either serve as metalloprotease inhibitors or carrier plasma proteins[46, 47]. Cystatins in mammals inhibit usually cathepsins that are involved in protein degradation in lysosomes, antigen processing or apoptosis. Consequently, they regulate immune mechanisms such as cytokine production, antigen presentation, phagocytosis, and inflammasome formation[48-50].



Figure 3: Crystal structures of selected representatives of each cystatin subfamily. I25A: Human cystatin A[51], I25B: Human cystatin D[52], I25C: Mouse fetuin B[53]. Crystal structures were gained from Protein Data Bank (https://www.rcsb.org/).

1.3.1.1. Tick cystatins

To date, only type 1 and 2 cystatins have been characterized in ticks. Since type 1 cystatins are not secreted, they are mostly associated with regulation of intracellular blood digestion in tick midgut and in developmental processes. Secreted type 2 cystatins are present not only in tick midgut as digestion regulators, but also in salivary glands and subsequently tick saliva[26, 54]. Secreted cystatins represent a majority among characterized cystatin transcripts across tick species, implying their importance in immunomodulation[55].

Tick midgut cystatins are mostly associated with regulation of peptidases involved in blood digestion and heme detoxification[54]. Blood digestion occurs in digestive cells in tick midgut. Degradation of albumin and hemoglobin, the two most abundant blood proteins, is initiated by legumain and cathepsin D. Action of these two aspartic peptidases is further supported by cathepsin L. Degradation to single amino acids and dipeptides is facilitated by cathepsins B and C[9]. Tick cystatins are capable of inhibiting most of the involved proteases and maintain a balance between too rapid proteolysis and availability of nutrients for the tick. Example of type 1 midgut tick cystatin is Rmcystatin-1b from Rhipicephalus microplus which inhibits cathepsins B and L, papain and B. bovis cysteine peptidase[56]. Another example is Hlcyst-1 from Haemaphysalis longicornis, an inhibitor of cathepsin L, papain and the tick's own cathepsin L-like HICPL-A protease and consequently also hemoglobinolysis[57, 58]. Tick midgut type 2 cystatins can be represented by Om-cystatin 1 from a soft tick O. moubata[59], RHcyst-2 from Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides[60] or JpIocys2a from Ixodes ovatus[61]. They inhibit cathepsins B, C, L and other proteases and fulfil the same regulatory purpose as midgut type 1 cystatins[26].

Tick salivary cystatins are solely of the secreted type 2. Some of them like HISC-1 from *H. longicornis* are expressed predominantly in tick salivary glands[62], other cystatins like Om-cystatin 2 (OmC2) can also be found in other tick tissues[59]. Their importance lies in the suppression and regulation of host immune response mechanisms, namely antigen processing and presentation, inflammation, cell proliferation or cell signaling.

OmC2 possesses inhibitory activity against cathepsins B, C, and H and papain[59]. At the tick-host interface, OmC2 inhibited the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines by dendritic cells and reduced T cells proliferation.

Feeding of *O. moubata* nymphs on OmC2 immunized mice resulted in increased tick mortality[63].

Two salivary cystatins from Ixodes scapularis, Sialostatin L and L2, have been thoroughly characterized at biochemical, immunomodulatory and pathogen transmission level[64-67]. Sialostatin L is a potent inhibitor of cathepsin L with weaker affinity also to other cysteine cathepsins C, S, V, X and papain[66]. It suppressed the proliferation of T cells, migration of neutrophils to inflammation site and the production of cytokines by mast cells, dendritic cells and lymphocytes[68]. Its immunosuppressive potential was successfully tested in experimental models of asthma[69] and autoimmune encephalomyelitis[68]. Sialostatin L2 inhibited cathepsins L, C, S and V and the maturation of caspase-1[65, 70]. It further suppressed cytokine production by macrophages and dendritic cells. Feeding of ticks on rabbit immunized with sialostatin L2 led to higher tick mortality and prolonged feeding time[64]. Sialostatin L2 was also positively correlated with Borrelia establishment in host skin. Mice co-injected with Borrelia and sialostatin L showed significantly higher spirochetes load than control group with only Borrelia injection[71].

Characterization of an *I. ricinus* salivary cystatin named Iristatin is a part of this thesis as "**Manuscript 3**"[72]. Briefly, Iristatin is a type 2 cystatin upregulated in salivary glands of *I. ricinus* during the feeding. It suppressed mammalian cathepsin C with a similar affinity as sialostatins and weakly inhibited also cathepsin L. Iristatin inhibited antigen induced CD4+ T cells proliferation and leukocyte recruitment to inflammation site. Furthermore, it displayed a broad spectrum of effects on cytokines production by various immune cell types.

1.3.2. Serpins – serine protease inhibitors

Serpins form the largest family of protease inhibitors in nature and they are present in all organisms, from a viruses or prokaryotes to vertebrates or plants [73, 74]. Most serpins are serine protease inhibitors, but some serpins also possess other functions like cysteine protease inhibitors, blood pressure regulators, chaperons or hormone transporters[75, 76]. Inhibitory serpins are classified in the I4 family of MEROPS database[37]. Serpins are irreversible inhibitors with a unique and highly conserved tertiary structure, which is important for their so called suicide mechanism of inhibition [77, 78].

Similarly to other serine protease inhibitors, serpin structure contains a reactive center loop (RCL) to interact with the active site of target proteases. Most serine protease inhibitors have a short and rigid loop and act as tight binding reversible inhibitors. On contrary, serpin RCL is around 20-24 amino acids long, flexible and resembles a substrate loop. The rest of serpin structure consists of a C-terminal b-barrel domain and an N-terminal helical domain. The RCL is located near the C-terminus[73]. A serpin molecule can exist in different conformations. Their native fold (Fig. 4A), in which serpins have inhibitory activity, is not the most stable. Upon proteolytical cleavage within the RCL, the RCL moves to the opposite end of the protein and is incorporated into the serpin β -sheet A, forming an extra antiparallel β -strand (Fig. 4C). This can also happen spontaneously without RCL cleavage to form a latent conformation. With the RCL incorporated into the β -sheet A, the serpin molecule is in its hyperstable form and is not capable of further protease inhibition[79, 80]. The ability to rapidly and stably incorporate RCL distinguishes inhibitory serpins from the non-inhibitory ones. The mechanism of protease inhibition involves creating a covalent bond between serpin RCL and protease active site, incorporation of RCL into serpin β -sheet A and subsequent change of the relative position of protease with respect to the serpin molecule[81]. The RCL serves as a bait for the protease and its amino acid sequence determines serpin's inhibitory specificity[82]. After successful docking at protease active site, serpin RCL is cleaved and a covalent bond is formed between serpin RCL and serine from the protease catalytic triad. Normally, the acyl-enzyme intermediate would be dissociated by a water molecule, both cleaved parts of substrate would be released, and protease returned to active state. However, before the protease can be regenerated, the covalently bound serpin dramatically changes conformation and traps the protease in an inactive intermediate form of a serpin-protease complex[81]. Due to formation of the covalent bond, serpins work in a suicidal mechanism, in which a single serpin molecule permanently inactivates a single protease molecule and can only be used once. The serpin mechanism of protease inhibition is shown in Figure 4. Formation of the covalent bond can further create a disorder in protease structure resulting in loss of ability to bind ions or exosite ligands[83-85].



Figure 4: Schematic representation of serpin inhibitory mechanism. A: Alpha-1antitrypsin in native state. RCL is shown in blue, beta sheets are red. B: Michealis complex between alpha-1-antitrypsin and trypsin (in black). C: Covalent complex between serpin and inactivated protease with RCL incorporated among beta sheets. D: Proteolysis of serpin was completed by trypsin, resulting in serpin inactivation and RCL incorporation, where trypsin remains active. Adapted from Lucas et al., 2018, Methods Mol. Biol.[86].

1.3.2.1. Tick serpins

In humans, 36 serpins have been identified, and most of them regulate important processes such as blood coagulation, fibrinolysis, tumorigenesis or inflammation[73, 87]. Mice possess 60 functional serpin genes, many of them are orthologous to human serpins with a similar role and some of them expanded into paralogous multiple genes[87].

Arthropod serpins have mainly hemostatic and immunological roles. They regulate hemolymph coagulation and its toll pathway or activation of phenoloxidase system in insects. Serpins from blood feeding arthropods evolved another set of functions – modulation of host immunity and hemostasis[88]. Indeed, more than 20 serpins from tick salivary glands have been functionally characterized with effects on coagulation and immunity[26]. However, the total number of tick serpins is significantly higher as seen in numerous transcriptomic studies[26]. In *I. ricinus*, at least 36 serpins were found, out of which only three have been characterized at biochemical, immunomodulatory, anti-coagulatory or anti tick vaccine level[26].

Iris (*I. ricinus* immunosuppressor) is the first described, and until now, the best characterized serpin from *I. ricinus*[89]. Iris transcription is induced

during feeding in tick salivary glands. Recombinant Iris inhibited factor Xa and thrombin from coagulation cascade, fibrinolysis and further interferes with hemostasis by preventing platelet adhesion[90]. Iris displayed also interesting immunomodulatory features. Its secretion to host body inhibits leukocyte and pancreatic elastase, thus suppressing inflammation[90]. It further inhibited the proliferation of T cells and splenocytes and altered pro-inflammatory cytokine levels produced by peripheral blood mononuclear cells[89]. This anti-inflammatory activity can be partially explained by Iris binding to monocytes/macrophages and suppression of tumor necrosis factor secretion[91]. Notably, not all immunomodulatory activities are dependent on Iris anti-protease activity, some involve the exosites in helices D and E[91].

IRS-2 (*I. ricinus* serpin-2) showed specificity against mast cell chymase and cathepsin G, two proteases involved in inflammatory responses and weakly against coagulation protease thrombin. In contrast to Iris, anti-inflammatory properties of IRS-2 are dependent on its inhibitory properties [92]. Inhibition of cathepsin G and thrombin contributed to the blocking of platelet aggregation by IRS-2. It further inhibited neutrophil influx to inflamed tissue and edema formation in mouse paw edema assay[92]. IRS-2 also modulated Th17 T cells maturation and differentiation by inhibiting interleukin-6 production by stimulated dendritic cells[93].

Characterization of IRS-8, a novel salivary *I. ricinus* serpin is a part of this thesis as "**Manuscript 4**". Briefly, IRS-8 is a serpin detected in tick salivary glands by RT-PCR and in the saliva by Western blot. IRS-8 is an inhibitor of a broad range of serine proteases, mostly those involved in blood coagulation and indeed, it inhibited the intrinsic pathway of coagulation. Specificity to different proteases can be explained at the structural level, where IRS-8 has an unusually long RCL. RNA interference of IRS-8 in ticks resulted in prolonged feeding time.

A more detailed list and description of tick salivary protease inhibitors, their specificities and effects on host immunity and hemostasis can be found in a review "**Manuscript 2**"[26] as a part of this thesis.

1.4. Protease inhibitors in other blood feeding parasites

Studying protease inhibitors and other proteins involved in mechanisms of tick-host interactions can also be beneficial in the context of other blood feeding parasites. Salivary components of other blood feeding arthropods like

mosquitoes[94-97], tsetse[98-100] and sand flies[101, 102] or triatomines[103-105] have similar effect on host immune system, hemostasis and pathogen transmission as tick saliva. We can benefit from finding similarities between molecules form different genera of parasites, apply knowledge obtained on one species on another or seek for new mechanisms based on similarities of blood feeding life style.

A salivary serpin named alboserpin from two mosquito species Aedes aegypti[106, 107] and Aedes albopictus[108] has been characterized as an fXa inhibitor and as an anticoagulant. Unlike other serpins, the mode of action of alboserpin is reversible and working at a 1:1 stoichiometry with fXa. However, saliva of mosquitoes is in general poor on serpins and they rely mainly on other protease inhibitors classes to prevent blood coagulation, as proven by transcriptomic studies[53, 109, 110]. Rhodnius prolixus, a member of triatomine bugs, uses a Kazal type inhibitor rhodniin[111], which inhibits thrombin with high affinity. Another triatomine, Dipetalogaster maximus inhibits thrombin by dipetalogastin[112], a homologous protein to rhodniin. Thus, triatomines rely mainly on inhibitors with multiple Kazal domains[113]. The tsetse fly Glossina morsitans morsitans uses the tsetse thrombin inhibitor (TTI)[114, 115] to suppress blood coagulation and thrombin induced platelet aggregation. TTI represents a unique class of protease inhibitors. Sand flies use different strategies and employ different protein families to stop host blood coagulation. Ayadualin, an Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD) peptide from Lutzomvia avacuchensis inhibits the activation of coagulation factor XIIa and platelet aggregation[116]. Lundep (Lutzomyia NET destroying protein) from Lutzomyia longipalpis is an endonuclease involved mainly in destroying neutrophil extracellular traps, but also inhibiting the intrinsic coagulation pathway by blocking fXIIa activation[117]. Lufaxin from the same fly is a tight fXa inhibitor with antithrombotic and anti-inflammatory activities[118]. Anticoagulatory properties of blood feeding parasites were reported also in other phyla than arthropods. The leech Hirudo medicinalis secretes hirudin, the strongest known natural anticoagulant[119]. Even vampire bats have mechanisms against blood clotting as shown by desmolaris, an fXIa inhibitor from *Desmodus rotundus*[120].

Notably, the number of publications describing immunomodulatory effects of saliva from other blood feeding parasites than ticks, is rather low. This is probably not caused by lack of scientific interest, but mainly by the need of

the individual parasite. Ticks, which feed for days, need to overcome various host immune mechanisms. Other parasites feed on host blood for significantly shorter times so they focus mainly on ensuring continuous blood flow.

1.5. Vaccination potential of tick salivary and midgut molecules

Research of tick proteins has been pushed forward by two ultimate goals. The first one is the identification of a suitable antigen, or cocktail of antigens, that could be used for animal and human vaccination[16, 121]. The second goal is a description of tick immunomodulatory molecules and their use in human medicine[122, 123].

Vaccination is considered as a tick control strategy complementing the use of acaricides or biological methods like the use of entomopathogenic fungi[16]. Targeting tick antigens in a quest to find an "anti-tick" or pathogen transmission blocking vaccine is an alternative to targeting individual tick borne pathogens one by one[124]. The purpose of such vaccine is to elicit a strong immune response in a vaccinated individual and thus prevent or complicate tick feeding and ideally also pathogen transmission[16]. However, the development of such a vaccine has been problematic, because we still do not fully understand mechanisms of tick rejection. Moreover ticks employ wide range of pharmacoactive molecules that display high level of redundancy[125]. Therefore, when one protein is blocked by a vaccine, several others can substitute its role in evading host defense.

One strategy of anti-tick vaccine development is targeting antigens in tick midgut, where the vaccine would affect tick feeding and blood digestion. An example of such candidate is protein Bm86 from *R. microplus*, which is able to reduce local tick infestation by interfering with *R. microplus* life cycle[126] and is being used for cattle[127, 128]. However, vaccination with Bm86 homologues from *I. ricinus* did not bring any effect on tick fitness[129]. Another vaccine targeting tick midgut antigens is based on a protein named TROSPA (Tick receptor for outer surface protein A), which disrupts *B. burgdorferi* migration within the tick and therefore its capacity as a vector[130]. However, the applicability of TROSPA as a vaccine against all *Borrelia* species has not been evidenced to date. Big hope was raised by recently described vaccine based on OspA-ferritin nanoparticles blocks *Borrelia* colonization in host and is based on bacterial recombinant proteins[19].

In addition to gut antigens, targeting tick salivary proteins that play a crucial role in tick feeding has been proven to be an alternative vaccination approach. Many studies have shown that repeated exposure to ticks raises antibodies in the host and leads to various degrees of tick resistance and/or interruption of Borrelia transmission[131-133]. Expression of a salivary protein from I. scapularis, Salp 15, is induced in the tick when infected by *B. burgdorferi*. Salp 15 binds to Borrelia surface and protects the spirochetes from host immune system[134]. Apart from direct interaction with *Borrelia*, Salp 15 is also a potent immunosuppressor[135]. The importance of Salp15 was evidenced by RNA interference in ticks as well as by vaccination of mice[136]. The vaccination efficiency was further enhanced by combining Salp15 and B. burgdorferi outer surface proteins OspA/OspC, thus offering a vaccine based on recombinant proteins from both the vector and pathogen[136]. Another vaccine candidate, TLSPI (Tick mannose-binding lectin inhibitor) is a complement inhibitor and RNA interference of TLSPI or its use as a vaccine led to lower Borrelia loads in the skin. TLSPI was found in I. scapularis and I. ricinus and was upregulated in I. scapularis by B. burgdorferi colonization^{100,101}.

Although many research teams have been focusing on identifying target molecules to develop anti-tick or pathogen transmission vaccines, primary goal has still not been reached. Focusing on biological processes involved in tick-host, tick-pathogen and host-pathogen interactions with the help of various omics studies should shed light on these complex interactions and result in our better understanding and tick control mechanisms[124].

1.6. Medical potential of tick salivary molecules

Studying tick molecules for their potential use in medicine is a progressive approach and brings another perspective to the field. Ticks and their hosts have been co-evolving for 120 million years[137]. During this period ticks specialized in manipulation of host defense mechanisms in highly efficient and specific ways. Studying tick salivary (and not only) molecules therefore allows us to benefit from results of a long, nature driven experiment.

The "Drugs from bugs" pipeline is an alternative to more traditional drug discovery approaches such as high-throughput screening of compound libraries[138] or target-oriented molecular design[139, 140]. This approach is becoming more attractive with the development of mass spectrometry

technology and a possibility of identifying individual compounds within active fractions of organism extract[141]. Another approach combines omics studies, reverse genetics and testing the activity of recombinant proteins[142]. Parasitic proteins have evolved to specifically target host defense mechanisms and therefore represent a collection of potential new potential drugs, which is only superficially understood. One of the best examples of a drug isolated from a parasite is hirudin from the leech, *Hirudo medicinalis*, which is the strongest known natural anticoagulant[143].

Having that in mind, tick saliva represents a unique source of novel drugs, among which only very small portion has been identified up to date[122].

Coversin (also named OmCI or EV576) is an O. moubata salivary lipocalin, structurally related to histamine binding proteins and is one of the most successful tick salivary molecules in the field of applied pharmacology. Coversin is a complement inhibitor that possesses a unique specificity for C5 component of complement cascade, while leaving C3 intact[31, 144, 145]. While processes connected to C5 activation are blocked, the opsonization effect of C3b component remains intact and immune reaction is not compromised [146]. Coversin's specificity towards C5 has been employed in a model of the peripheral nervous system autoimmune disease - the Guillain-Barré syndrome. Mice treated with Coversin showed deposition of only C3c, but not a membrane attack complex formation, synaptic and neuromuscular damage or high level of asynchronous acetylcholine release[147]. Because of its lipocalin nature, Coversin also binds pro-inflammatory leukotriene B4, which activates leukocyte adhesion and can be used as leukotriene/hydroxyeicosanoid binding molecule[148]. The therapeutical effect of Coversin has been tested in an experimental model of myasthenia gravis, in which neurotransmission is impaired by postsynaptic membrane lysis by terminal products of complement cascade[149]. Mice treated with Coversin showed lower complement activity in serum, lower serum cytotoxicity and reduced deposition of C9 complement unit at the neuromuscular junction[150]. A possible use of Coversin as a treatment has been patented for serious viral diseases including Zika, influenza A, avian influenza H5N1, swine flu H1N1 or SARS coronavirus (patent number WO 2011/083317). The use of Coversin has also been suggested against other diseases like myasthenia gravis[149], heart infarction[151], paroxysmal hemoglobinuria[152], thrombotic microangiopathy[153], nocturnal

sepsis[154] and others. Coversin is currently under phase II / phase III of clinical trials by Akari Therapeutics company.

Ixodes ricinus contact phase inhibitor (Ir-CPI) is a representative of an anticoagulatory tick molecule. IrCPI is a Kunitz type inhibitor that is able to reduce thrombus formation and prolong activated partial thromboplastin time via the inhibition of fXIa, fXIIa and kallikrein. In experiments, it further reduced the risk of thromboembolism, while keeping blood coagulation unaffected[155]. Recently, Ir-CPI was described to prevent clotting in catheter and arteriovenous shunt animal models with the same effectivity as heparin, but without promotion of bleeding[156]. The beneficial effect of Ir-CPI is attributed to its relatively strict specificity to fXIa and fXIIa. These findings can lead to an effective prevention of medical device-associated clotting in humans like cardiopulmonary bypass or mechanical heart valves[157]. Due to its effectivity, Ir-CPI is now in phase I of clinical trials by Bioxodes company. Evasins are chemokine binding immunomodulatory molecules present in saliva of *Rhipicephalus sanguineus*. Chemokines play a role in cell infiltration to an inflammation site[158]. Evasin-1 and Evasin-4 bind members of CC chemokines, while Evasin-3 is specific for CXC chemokines[159, 160]. Evasin-1 binds specifically CCL3, CCL4 and CCL19. It is able to inhibit neutrophils, T cells and macrophages migration and production of inflammatory cytokines which can be used in treatment of pulmonary fibrosis[161] or graft versus host disease[162]. Evasin-4 is able to interact with at least 18 chemokines, showing broader variety in CCL interaction[163]. Moreover, it inhibits eosinophil recruitment[164] and post-infarction myocardial injury and remodeling[165]. Similarly to Evasin-1, Evasin-3 is also an inhibitor of myocardial reperfusion [166] and neutrophil recruitment [159], which was associated with reduced atherosclerotic vulnerability for ischemic stroke [167] or neutrophil-mediated inflammation in mouse acute pancreatitis [168]. However, in contrast to Coversin or Ir-CPI, clinical trials with evasins have never been initiated.

While most of the medicinally useful molecules come from tick saliva, an *I. scapularis* antifreeze glycoprotein (IAFGP) plays a role in tick survival in a cold environment[169]. Its medicinal potential lies in the alteration of bacterial biofilm formation and the reduction of biofilm development on implanted catheters[170]. IAFGP combined with antibiotics increased their

effectivity even against resistant bacteria like methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*[171].

The reason, why the ratio of tick molecules at clinical trials to tick molecules with published pharmacological activity is relatively low, is not very clear. One explanation can be the pharmaceutical need of designing highly specific drugs with minimum side effects. Ticks have, however, different needs. The role of their salivary components is to suppress blood coagulation or inflammation as a whole process[22]. Therefore many tick salivary proteins show pluripotency, the ability to affect several mechanisms[125]. Following this hypothesis, the success of a complement inhibitor Coversin can be linked to its specificity to C5 inhibition, leaving other members of the complement cascade unaffected[31]. Similarly Ir-CPI only inhibits fXIa and fXIIa from blood coagulation cascade[155], while most other tick salivary proteins target among others thrombin[23]. On the other hand, broad spectrum immunomodulators seem to be more interesting as vaccine candidates than novel drug design. As an example, two immunosuppressive cystatins Sialostatins L1 and L2 can be mentioned, which were patented (patent number WO 2009/017689) for detection and prevention of tick infestation and pathogen transmission, and not for use as drugs.

Protein engineering provides an opportunity to enhance protein-based drug activity, increase specificity or reduce side effects. This approach has been used to modify leech hirudin to increase its potency and ensure high specificity, resulting in bivalirudin[172], commercially presented as Hirulog[173]. Likewise, tick proteins have been subjected to bioengineering. The half-life of Coversin in plasma has been extended more than 50 times by its conjugation to a 600 amino acids long polypeptide consisting of Pro, Ala and Ser, resulting in PASylated Coversin[152]. This modification led also to reduced background hemolysis of erythrocytes in a paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria model. Another approach was used for Evasin-4, a tick salivary lipocalin. The authors attempted to increase its plasma half-life by fusing Evasin-4 to Fc fragments of human antibodies[174]. However, in this case the modification did not have the expected enhancing effect.

Apart from modifying proteins by adding antibody fragments, PAS, polyethylene glycol (PEG) or knowledge-based mutagenesis, "humanization" of tick molecules is an alternative possibility aiming to reduce protein

immunogenicity and extend molecule's half-life. Tick proteins, similarly to any molecules of foreign origin, are recognized by the host immune system and antibody response is elicited. Grafting the active site of a tick molecule on a similar molecule originating from its host could reduce the immune response. Although protein humanization has been performed in other organisms, it has not been successfully reported for tick proteins yet[122].

2. Aims and objectives

This thesis aims to:

- I. Review current literature about the role of tick saliva and salivary protease inhibitors on host defense mechanisms.
- II. Experimentally characterize chosen candidates form cystatin and serpin family present in tick saliva and investigate their role in tick-host-pathogen interaction.

3. Manuscripts

The following section provides full text of Manuscripts 1-4; each with a short introduction.

3.1. Manuscript 1:

Kotál, J., Langhansová, H., Lieskovská, J., Andersen, J. F., Francischetti, I. M., Chavakis, T., Kopecký, J., Pedra, J. H., Kotsyfakis, M., and Chmelař, J. (2015) Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva. Journal of proteomics 128, 58-68

A review Manuscript 1 summarizes the modulatory effects of tick saliva on host immune system. As an adaptation to blood feeding, ticks secrete a complex mixture of salivary components to minimize their host's response. Although nowadays the research trend is shifted more towards characterization of single saliva components, studying the complex effects of tick saliva can help us to design experiments, or discuss our results achieved with single molecules in a bigger context. The publication provides an introduction about the importance of studying ticks and advances in understanding tick saliva composition aided by transcriptomic and proteomic studies.

The main focus of the publication is how tick saliva affects various immune cells populations. We summarized the effect of saliva or salivary gland extract on antigen presenting cells, granulocytes, mast cells and natural killer cells, all representing the innate immune system. A section of the publication also describes the saliva effect on cell of adaptive immunity - B and T lymphocytes.

Jan Kotál is the first author, searched the literature, wrote the manuscript, prepared tables and figures.

Journal of Proteomics 128 (2015) 58-68



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Proteomics

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jprot

PROTEOMICS -

Review Article

Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva

CrossMark

Jan Kotál ^{a.b}, Helena Langhansová ^a, Jaroslava Lieskovská ^a, John F. Andersen ^c, Ivo M.B. Francischetti ^c, Triantafyllos Chavakis ^d, Jan Kopecký ^a, Joao H.F. Pedra ^e, Michail Kotsyfakis ^{b,*,1}, Jindřich Chmelař ^{a.d.1}

^a Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, Budweis, Czech Republic
^b Laboratory of Genomics and Proteomics of Disease Vectors, Institute of Parasitology, Biology Centre, Czech Academy of Sciences, Budweis, Czech Republic
^c Section of Vector Biology, Laboratory of Malaria and Vector Research, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA

^d Department of Clinical Pathobiochemistry, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany

^e Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 29 May 2015 Received in revised form 30 June 2015 Accepted 12 July 2015 Available online 17 July 2015

Keywords: Adaptive immunity Innate immunity Saliva Salivary glands Tick

ABSTRACT

Next generation sequencing and proteomics have helped to comprehensively characterize gene expression in tick salivary glands at both the transcriptome and the proteome level. Functional data are, however, lacking. Given that tick salivary secretions are critical to the success of the tick transmission lifecycle and, as a consequence, for host colonization by the pathogens they spread, we thoroughly review here the literature on the known interactions between tick saliva (or tick salivary gland extracts) and the innate and adaptive vertebrate immune system. The information is intended to serve as a reference for functional characterization of the numerous genes and proteins expressed in tick salivary glands with an ultimate goal to develop novel vector and pathogen control strategies.

Significance: We overview all the known interactions of tick saliva with the vertebrate immune system. The provided information is important, given the recent developments in high-throughput transcriptomic and proteomic analysis of gene expression in tick salivary glands, since it may serve as a guideline for the functional characterization of the numerous newly-discovered genes expressed in tick salivary glands.

© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction
2.	The role of tick saliva in modulating host hemostasis and complement
3.	Innate immunity and tick saliva
4.	Interaction of macrophages and monocytes with tick saliva
5.	Dendritic cells and tick saliva
6.	Mast cells and tick saliva
7.	Granulocytes and tick saliva
8.	Basophils and tick saliva
9.	Eosinophils and tick saliva
10.	Neutrophils and tick saliva
11.	T and B lymphocytes and tick saliva

E-mail address: mich_kotsyfakis@yahoo.com (M. Kotsyfakis).

¹ Both authors contributed equally to this wor

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/i.jprot.2015.07.005 1874-3919/© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

List of abbreviations: Akt, protein kinase B; BMDMs, bone marrow-derived macrophages; BSA, bovine serum albumin; cAMP, cyclic adenosine monophosphate; CCL, chemokine (C-C motif) ligand; CCR, C-C motif receptor; CD, cluster of differentiation; ConA, concanavalin A; CTL, cytotoxic T lymphocytes; CXCL, chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand; DC, dendritic cell; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; IDO, indoleamine 2.3 deoxygenase; IFN, interferon; Ig, immunoglobulin; IL, interleukin; IRAK, interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase; LC, Langerhans cell; LFA-1, leukocyte function-associated antigen-1; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; MC, mast cell; MCP, monocyte chemotactic protein; MIP, macrophage inflammatory protein; NET, neutrophil extracellular trap; NF-kB, nuclear factor kappa light chain-enhancer of activated B cells; NK, natural killer; NO, nitric oxide; PBL, peripheral blood leukocytes; PGE₂, pros-taglandin E₂; PI3k, phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase; PMNs, polymorphonuclear lymphocytes; RANTES, regulated upon activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SGE, salivary gland extract; STAT, signal transducer and activator of transcription; sTNFRI, soluble TNF receptor I; TGF, transforming growth factor; Th, helper T cell; TLR, toll-like receptor; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; VLA-4, very late activation-4.

Corresponding author at: Biology Center, Czech Academy of Sciences, Institute of Parasitology, Laboratory of Genomics and Proteomics of Disease Vectors, Branisovska 31, CZ 37005, Budweis, Czech Republic.

12.	Natural killer cells and tick saliva	65
13.	Conclusions	65
Ackno	owledgments	65
Refer	ences	66

1. Introduction

Ticks are obligatory blood-feeding arthropods that belong to the subclass *Acari*, order Ixodida, and three families: *Ixodidae* (hard ticks), *Argasidae* (soft ticks), and Nuttallielidae. Soft ticks feed repeatedly for minutes to hours, while hard ticks usually stay attached to their hosts and feed for several days or even weeks, but only once in each life stage [1,2]. The amount of blood ingested is species and life-stage specific, with females of some tick species increasing their volume up to 200 times by the end of blood feeding [3].

Ticks are important vectors that transmit a wide range of pathogens. The most common tick-borne pathogens are viruses and bacteria, but fungi, protozoa, and helminths can also be transmitted [4]. Clinically and epidemiologically, the most important tick-borne diseases are: tick-borne encephalitis (TBE), caused by the TBE virus; Lyme disease, caused by spirochetes belonging to the Borrelia burgdorferi sensu lato complex in Europe and B. burgdorferi sensu stricto in the USA; tickborne spotted fever, caused by Rickettsia spp.; anaplasmosis, caused by Anaplasma spp.; and babesiosis, caused by Babesia spp. protozoa [5,6]. Pathogens have different life cycles, but the transmission usually begins with a tick biting an infected vertebrate host and pathogen uptake by the tick in the blood meal. Pathogens, e.g. Borrelia spp. spirochetes then stay in the midgut and wait until next feeding, which triggers their proliferation and migration through the midgut wall to hemocoel and, ultimately, to the salivary glands. Moreover, spirochetes interact with some midgut and salivary components that induce Borrelia proliferation or increase their infectious potential [7]. When the tick bites its next vertebrate host, pathogens are transmitted via tick saliva. In some tick species the pathogens are transmitted transovarially from the female to laid eggs, thus keeping the level of prevalence in the tick population [8]. Tick saliva has been shown to facilitate pathogen transfer to the vertebrate host by virtue of its pharmacological properties, including modulation of the vertebrate immune system [9–11]. Moreover, tick saliva contains toxins belonging to families also found in venomous animals, such as spiders or snakes, and that can induce paralysis and other toxicoses [12].

To secure uninterrupted blood uptake, ticks suppress and evade the complex physiological host immune and homeostatic responses that are raised against them. Hemostasis, which includes coagulation, vasoconstriction, and platelet aggregation, is the first innate host defense mechanism against the mechanical injury caused by intrusion of tick mouthparts into the host skin. This early vertebrate host response further includes complement activation and inflammation, with the host inflammatory response including, among other factors, rapid leukocyte infiltration after skin injury [13]. Keratinocytes, endothelial cells, and resident leukocytes such as mast cells, dendritic cells, and macrophages make immediate contact with tick saliva or the tick hypostome and are activated. Pro-inflammatory chemokines and cytokines including interleukin-8 (IL-8), tumor necrosis factor (TNF), and IL-1 β are released to recruit neutrophils and other inflammatory cells to the area of tick infestation [14]. Following tick feeding, there is activation of both the cellular and humoral branches of vertebrate adaptive immunity [15]. Activated memory T and B cells (in the case of secondary infestation) amplify the host inflammatory response to ticks by releasing specific cytokines and producing antibodies that target tick salivary or mouthpart-derived antigens to activate complement or sensitize mast cells and basophils [9,14,15]. The strength and specificity of the host immune response and its effect on tick physiology depend on the host and tick species, the host's health, and its genotype [16]. The same is true for

tick defense mechanisms, since both tick salivary components and host immune mechanisms have been co-evolving. As a result, the tick-host interaction can be considered an "arms race" between the new defense mechanisms developed by the host and the evasion strategies developed by ticks [17]. As an adaptation to blood feeding, ticks secrete a complex mixture of immunomodulatory substances in their saliva that suppress both innate and adaptive host immune responses that can cause pain, itch, blood flow disruption in the tick feeding cavity, or even direct damage to the tick, thereby subverting tick rejection and death [18–20]. Despite the specificity of tick salivary component targets, there is also redundancy at the molecular, cellular, and functional level [9, 13]. The richness and diversity of tick salivary compounds have been established in several transcriptomic studies over the last 15 years and, more recently, by next generation sequencing (NGS) studies.

59

The rapid developments in NGS and proteomics are reflected in the recent progress made in tick research, in which several transcriptomic and proteomic studies have been published over the last few years. These studies represent a rich data source that provides the basis for functional studies and investigation of gene expression dynamics during tick feeding and different physiological states. For instance, significant differences in the salivary proteome of partially and fully engorged female Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus ticks have been described [21]. More recently, a transcriptomic study described over 800 immuno-proteins in Amblyomma americanum saliva during 24-48 h of feeding [22]. A transcriptomic analysis of Dermacentor andersoni salivary glands resulted in over 500 singletons and 200 clusters in which a number of sequences with similarity to mammalian genes associated with immune response regulation, tumor suppression, and wound healing were identified [23]. By combining transcriptomic and proteomic approaches, nearly 700 proteins were identified in D. andersoni saliva after 2 and 5 days of feeding, from which 157 were postulated to be involved in immunomodulation and blood feeding [24]. Schwarz and colleagues performed a comprehensive study of Ixodes ricinus salivary and midgut transcriptomes and proteomes and found that the transcriptomic and proteomic dynamics did not 100% overlap in different tick tissues [25]. A recent study by Kotsyfakis and colleagues characterized transcriptional dynamics in the I. ricinus female and nymph salivary glands and midguts at various feeding time points [26], and established that some gene families show stage- and time-specific expression, possibly via epigenetic control. In addition, the genes encoding secreted proteins exhibited a high mutation rate, possibly representing a mechanism of antigenic variation, and analysis of the midgut transcriptome revealed several novel enzymes, transporters, and antimicrobial peptides [26]. A transcriptomic analysis of Amblyomma maculatum salivary glands revealed almost 3500 contigs with a secretory function [27]. Another sialome (salivary gland transcriptome) of Amblyomma ticks was published by Garcia and colleagues [28]: the authors analyzed samples from Amblyomma triste nymphs and females, Amblyomma cajennese females, and Amblyomma parvum females and focused on putative transcripts encoding anticoagulants, immunosuppressants, and antiinflammatory molecules. A further study characterized A. americanum nymph and adult proteomes and compared the data with other Amblyomma species [29]. A Rhipicephalus pulchellus tick sialome study revealed differences between males and females [30], with the sequences identified used for a preliminary proteomic study to identify 460 male and over 2000 female proteins. A sialomic study was also performed in Haemaphysalis flava that revealed tens of thousands of genes, some of which were putative secreted salivary proteins thought to be involved with blood feeding and ingestion [31].

A *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* salivary proteome showed recycling of host proteins and their secretion back into the host [32]. Lewis and colleagues used a transcriptomic approach to characterize immunogenic *lxodes* scapularis salivary proteins present after 24 h of feeding [33]; these appeared to be involved in tick feeding even before the majority of pathogens could be transmitted.

In addition to the analysis of secreted tick salivary proteins, tickfeeding lesions on the host have been analyzed by high-throughput and histological methods. Recently, the feeding lesion of D. andersoni was described in detail together with microarray analysis of host gene expression dynamics, thereby characterizing the inflammatory infiltrate at the feeding site and the changes occurring in the epidermal and dermal compartments near the tick [34,35]. The skin lesions examined from rats infested by Ornithodoros brasiliensis showed edema, muscle degeneration, and hemorrhage [36], with the rats themselves presenting with a bleeding tendency and signs of toxicosis. O. brasiliensis salivary gland homogenates delayed wound healing and had antiproliferative or even cytotoxic activity on cultured epithelial cells [37]. An analysis of skin-draining lymph nodes in goats repeatedly infested with A. cajennese nymphs revealed an increased number of antigen presenting cells (APCs) such as B lymphocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells [38]. A skin lesion from a human infested with female Amblyomma testudinarium was characterized by an inflammatory infiltrate and an eosinophilic cement in the center of the lesion [39]. Feeding lesions from rabbits injected with salivary gland extract (SGE) collected from R. sanguineus ticks after 2, 4, and 6 days of feeding showed signs of inflammation, especially at day four [40], suggesting that molecules present in R. sanguineus SGE have high immunogenicity and that immune reaction raised against SGE is stronger than the immunomodulatory action of R. sanguineus salivary effectors.

Such high-throughput studies in both ticks and hosts and complemented with histological information and detailed characterization of salivary components have made a valuable contribution to our knowledge of the dynamic processes occurring at the tick-host interface. However, experiments with saliva or SGE highlight the complexity of host modulation by the tick in vivo. Characterizing individual salivary components can help link specific pathophysiological events to particular molecules to provide a complete picture of tick-host interactions. In this review, we focus on the immunomodulatory actions of whole tick saliva or salivary gland extracts (SGE) rather than the effects of the individual salivary components, since these are reviewed elsewhere [13,41,42].

2. The role of tick saliva in modulating host hemostasis and complement

Ticks have developed various mechanisms to counteract the hemostatic responses of the host so that they can successfully feed on blood for many days [13,19]. Serine proteases are key players in host hemostasis and, therefore, are specifically targeted by the wide range of serine protease inhibitors present in tick saliva. The net result is that the physiological balance between host proteases and endogenous anti-proteases is impaired. Tick salivary secretions also contain vasodilators, platelet activation inhibitors, and coagulation modulators, as reviewed elsewhere [14,43,44].

Complement is a cascade of proteolytically-activated components that eventually leads to the creation of pores in the walls of microbes, leading to their destruction. There are three main complement activation pathways: classical, alternative, and lectin; the central reaction in all pathways is the conversion of complement component C3 to C3a and C3b [45,46]. The inhibition of the host alternative complement pathway is crucial for tick feeding and, indeed, the saliva of several *lxodes* species inhibits this pathway [47,48]. In an in vitro study, the ability of tick saliva to counteract complement activity varied according to the animal species source of serum, with specificity shown towards the most common hosts for each *lxodes* species [49]. Several anti-complement molecules have been identified to date; however, a detailed description is beyond the scope of this review. Further information about the role of complement in tick-host interactions can be found in the reviews by Schroeder and colleagues [50] or Wikel [14].

3. Innate immunity and tick saliva

Innate immune responses against tick feeding involve the activation of resident immune cells that initiate and promote the local inflammatory response as a reaction to skin damage. The resident leukocytes are macrophages, Langerhans cells (LCs), mast cells, or innate lymphoid cells, and pro-inflammatory mediators are also released by endothelial cells and keratinocytes [51]. These mediators and complement components are chemotactic for circulating inflammatory cells including neutrophils and monocytes.

4. Interaction of macrophages and monocytes with tick saliva

Macrophages are APCs as well as cytokine and chemokine producers [52]. They can be further divided into two different subpopulations: (i) bone marrow-derived hematopoietic macrophages, which circulate as monocytes and, after extravasation at the site of inflammation, differentiate into pro-inflammatory [53] or alternatively-activated macrophages [54] and (ii) tissue-resident macrophages of yolk sac origin that are found in many organs including the skin; the latter tend to be more immune-modulatory [55]. These macrophage subpopulations differ with respect to cytokine production, receptor expression, and their overall effect on any subsequent immune response [54,56,57].

Numerous interactions have been identified between macrophages, tick saliva or SGE, and pathogens, suggesting that they play a major role in host defenses against ticks and tick-borne infectious agents. The effects of saliva or SGE on macrophages are summarized in Fig. 1.

L ricinus SGE inhibited superoxide and nitric oxide (NO) production by Borrelia afzelii-activated macrophages, which led to the inhibition of Borrelia killing in a murine host [58]. L ricinus SGE also reduced phagocytosis of B. afzelii spirochetes by murine macrophages and inhibited IFN- γ - and B. afzelii-stimulated TNF production by macrophages [59]. It was recently shown that L ricinus saliva could induce the production of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) and macrophage inflammatory protein 2 (MIP-2) in splenocytes [60]. MCP-1 attracts



Fig. 1. The effects of saliva and SGE on macrophages. Red lines represent inhibition, green lines enhancement. Tick saliva inhibits production of IL-1c, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8, TNF, IRN-γ, NO, superoxide, and CLI5, as well as expression of STNFRI and phagocytosis. Tick saliva increases production of IL-4, IL-10, and PGE₂ and macrophage migration. Tick SGE inhibits production of IL-12p40, TNF, IRN-γ, and NO, expression of CD40, CD69, CD80, and CD86, and phagocytosis. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

monocytes, and MIP-2 is a chemokine secreted by monocytes and macrophages that is chemotactic for neutrophils.

Similarly, *I. scapularis* saliva inhibited TNF, IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-12p40 production by murine bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) after stimulation with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or *Anaplasma phagocytophilum*. It was further reported to inhibit IL-8 secretion by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) after TNF stimulation [61] and NO synthesis upon LPS stimulation [62].

Incubation with SGE isolated from R. microplus, a tick of veterinary importance, resulted in diminished expression of the co-stimulatory molecules CD80, CD86, CD40, and CD69 on the surface of bovine macrophages after 24 h of LPS stimulation, which was accompanied by a decrease in TNF, IFN-y, and IL-12 production [63]. Conversely, CD86 expression was increased in the murine macrophage cell line RAW 264.7 in response to R. microplus SGE and LPS but not SGE alone. Furthermore, SGE had no effect on CD40 and CD80 expression [64]. However, both bovine primary macrophages and murine macrophage cell line displayed an increase of CD86 expression after 6 h incubation with LPS and SGE. [64]. These partially contradictory observations may be attributed to the host specific response. The difference may also originate from altered signaling in immortalized cell line as CD86 upregulation was shown to be at least partially dependent on the ERK1/2 pathway and may, therefore, promote polarization of the immune response towards a less pro-inflammatory Th2 profile (see below) [64]. In another study, R. sanguineus saliva diminished NO production by IFN- γ activated macrophages and thus impaired Trypanosoma cruzi killing. The authors suggested that decreased NO production was due to a saliva-induced cytokine imbalance, leading to decreased NO synthase activity [65]. Similar to the results with primary macrophages, SGE from Rhipicephalus appendiculatus affected cytokine production by the murine macrophage cell line IA-4. SGE from *R. appendiculatus* inhibited the transcription of IL-1 α , IL-10, and TNF after macrophage stimulation with LPS. NO production was also lower, in accordance with the similar effect observed with I. ricinus saliva [58,66].

Dermatocentor variabilis (Table 1) saliva has been shown to impair phagocytosis and alter gene expression in the murine macrophage cell line IC-21, as well as increase basal and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-stimulated macrophage migration and the expression of the Th2-specific cytokines IL-4 and IL-10 [67].

The tick salivary component prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) subverted macrophage secretion of pro-inflammatory mediators and was able to recruit fibroblasts to heal tick-bite wound [68]. In addition to PGE₂ from tick saliva, the saliva of *D. variabilis* upregulated PGE₂ secretion in IC-21 murine peritoneal macrophages and reduced secretion of the pro-inflammatory mediators CCL5, TNF, and soluble TNF receptor I (sTNFRI) via a PGE₂-dependent mechanism mediated by CAMP [68].

In summary, the tick saliva of various tick species inhibits the proinflammatory activities of macrophages, supporting a major role for macrophages in anti-tick defenses.

5. Dendritic cells and tick saliva

Dendritic cells (DCs) are APCs and are part of the innate immune system. After immature (unstimulated) DCs recognize and phagocytose pathogens, they mature and migrate to draining lymph nodes where they present antigens derived from the processed pathogen to CD4 + T cells, which subsequently launch an adaptive immune response. Thus, DCs initiate host adaptive immunity via presentation of pathogenic antigens. Two DC states exist: an immature form present in skin or mucosae and a mature form in lymphoid tissues. Langerhans cells (LCs) are a specialized resident cell type found in the vertebrate skin. Similar to macrophages, LCs have two origins and share many properties with macrophages [69]; therefore, they are sometimes considered to be a subtype of tissue macrophage [57]. Immature DCs primarily have an antigen uptake and presenting function, while mature DCs effectively stimulate T cells but have limited phagocytic activity. Several studies suggest that there are interactions between tick saliva and DCs [70–72]. For a review of the interactions between DCs, tick saliva, and *Borrelia*, see [73].

Oliveira and colleagues studied the effect of R. saguineus saliva on DC migration and function, and found that tick saliva reduced immature DC migration towards macrophage inflammatory proteins MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β but not MIP-3 β [74]. Tick saliva also inhibited the chemokine RANTES by reducing expression of its surface receptor CCR5 [74]. DC maturation was impaired via toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling [75]. However, the inhibition of migration was limited to immature DCs. DC maturation and differentiation was inhibited in the presence of A. cajennese saliva [76]; in this study, the DCs showed reduced expression of CCR5 and CCR7 and, therefore, diminished migration towards the corresponding chemokines. Furthermore, tick saliva polarized cytokine production towards a Th2 phenotype. The authors suggested that most of the observed effects were due to the presence of PGE₂ in tick saliva [76]. I. scapularis saliva has displayed various effects on bone marrow-derived DCs: it inhibited TNF and IL-12 production upon stimulation of different TLRs, in particular TLR-2, TLR-4, or TLR-9 [77], and the DC's ability to stimulate antigen-specific CD4 + proliferation and IL-2 production was also suppressed [77]. LC-deficient mice induced Th1 responses after I. scapularis infestation, demonstrating the requirement for LCs in attenuating tick-mediated Th1 responses in regional lymph nodes [78].

CD40 or TLR3, 7, and 9 ligation impaired DC maturation, and I. ricinus saliva inhibited DC migration in vivo and antigen presentation [79]. I. ricinus saliva has also been shown to impair Th1 and Th17 polarization in DCs [79] and activation of specific CD4 + T lymphocyte subsets by Borrelia-exposed DCs [80]. In the latter study, I. ricinus saliva decreased DC phagocytosis of B. afzelii. Interestingly, I. ricinus saliva inhibited DC production of both Th1 cytokines (TNF and IL-6) and the Th2 cytokine IL-10 after 48 h (but not 24 h) of incubation with B. afzelii [80]. I. ricinus saliva also impaired DC maturation and production of TNF and IL-6 in response to infection with TBE virus [81]. Lieskovská and Kopecky studied the signaling pathways activated in DCs via TLR-2 ligand and B. afzelii in the presence of tick saliva [82]; upon both types of activation, the NF-KB and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt pathways were inhibited by I. ricinus saliya. When activated by Borrelia spirochetes, TNF levels decreased in DCs due to selective suppression of ERK1/2, Akt, and NF-KB as a result of tick saliva mimicking the native inhibitors. Tick saliva also attenuated IFN-B production, and IFN-B triggered signal transducer and activator of transcription-1 (STAT-1) activation [83]. A summary of the known interactions between DCs and tick saliva is shown in Fig. 2.

6. Mast cells and tick saliva

Mast cells serve as sentinel cells and reside in many tissues. They are divided into two main types based on the presence of mast cell-specific proteases: connective tissue mast cells, which produce both tryptase and chymase (MC_{TC}), and mucosal mast cells, which produce only tryptase (MC_{T}) [84]; skin mast cells are of the first type. Upon exposure to pathogens or other stimuli, activated mast cells degranulate and release a variety of pre-stored mediators including vasoactive compounds, serine proteases, histamine, and cytokines. Activated mast cells also secrete newly synthesized mediators to recruit more inflammatory cells [85].

The immunological importance of mast cells in tick-host interactions remains unclear. Mast cell numbers increase after secondary or subsequent tick infestations, but remain unchanged during primary tick infestations [86–88]. The number of degranulated mast cells is also significantly higher after repeated tick infestations. Mast cell-deficient mice have been shown to develop some resistance to *D. variabilis* after repeated exposure, similar to wild type mice [89]. On the other hand, mast cell-deficient mice were not resistant to *Haemaphysalis longicornis*, with tick resistance re-established after mast cell injection [90,91]. Such

J. Kotál et al. / Journal of Proteomics 128 (2015) 58–68

62

Table 1 The effects of tick saliva, SGE, or feeding on immune cell population					
Tick	Saliva/SGE/Feeding Effect				

Tick	Saliva/SGE/Feeding	Effect	Reference
Macrophagas			
Nucrophages	6 F		1071
Dermalocentor variabilis	SdIIVd	impaired phagocytosis and altered gene expression, sumulation of migration	[67]
		Stimulation of PGE ₂ production, inhibition of cytokine production	[68]
Ixodes ricinus	SGE	Inhibition of superoxide and NO production	[58]
		Inhibition of phagocytosis and TNF production	[59]
Ixodes scapularis	Saliva	Inhibition of cytokine production	[61]
		Inhibition of NO production	[62]
Rhipicephalus	SGE	Inhibition of cytokine and NO production	[66]
appendiculatus			1
Rhinicenhalus micronlus	SGE	Altered surface molecule expression inhibition of cytokine production	[63 64]
Rhinicenhalus sanauineus	Saliva	Inhibition of NO production	[65]
inipicepitulus sunguineus	Junva	minibilition of No production	[05]
Dondritic colle			
Ambhanna minnean	Colline	The billing of an experimentary and difference in the second and an impair of the second and the second and the	[70]
Ampiyomma cajennese	Saliva	inhibited maturation and differentiation; reduced migration due to decreased expression of receptors;	[/6]
		polarization towards Th2 cytokines	
I. ricinus	Saliva	Inhibited maturation, migration and antigen presentation; blocked Th1 and Th17 polarization	[79]
		Inhibited proliferation, phagocytosis and cytokine production	[80]
		Impaired maturation and cytokine production	[81]
		Inhibition of signaling pathways	[82,83]
I. scapularis	Saliva	Inhibition of proliferation and cytokine production	[77]
R. sanguineus	Saliva	Reduced migration, maturation and cytokine production	[74,75]
			()
Recombile			
Ambluomma saionnonso	Fooding	Increased amount of bacophils in feeding caulty	[101]
Ambiyomma cajennense	reeding	increased amount of basepinis in reeding cavity	[121]
Ambiyomma dubitatu	Feeding	increased amount of basophils in feeding cavity	[121]
Eosinophils			
Soft and hard ticks	Feeding	Increased amount of eosinophils in feeding cavity	[36,88,120-122]
Hard ticks	SGE	Inhibition of attraction to the feeding site	[123,124]
I. ricinus	Saliva	Basophil activation via MCP-1 released from splenocytes	[60]
Neutrophils			
Soft and hard ticks	SCE	Anti II. 9 activity	[122 120]
Amphuomma amoricanum	SCE	Altered duranies of champling activity	[125,150]
Anibiyonina americanam	SGE	Altered dynamics of chemokine activity	[123]
I. ricinus	Saliva	Decrease in ROS production	[132]
l. scapularis	Saliva	Inhibition of granule release, inhitration, phagocytosis	[133]
		Reduced adhesion of polymorphonuclear leukocytes	[134]
R. appendiculatus	SGE	Altered cytokines mRNA production by peripheral blood leukocytes	[170]
R. microplus	SGE	Inhibition of phagocytosis	[135]
Lymphocytes			
Soft and hard ticks	Saliva SCF	Polarization of the immune response towards Th2 via cytokines	[66 71 139 159 161
Solt and hard ticks	Juliva, JOL	rolarization of the miniate response towards miz via cytokines	162 171 172]
A	CCE		[142]
Ambiyomma variegatum	SGE	initiation of tymphocyte profileration	[142]
Dermacentor anaersoni	SGE	Reduced I cells proliferation	[149,150]
		Reduced Th1 cytokine production	[173,174]
	Saliva, SGE, feeding	Inhibition of integrin expression	[163]
	SGE, feeding	Increased IL-4 and IL-10 levels	[164]
Haemaphysalis bispinosa	Feeding	Reduction in T lymphocyte count and proliferation, increased $CD4 + /CD8 + ratio$	[153]
Hvalomma anatolicum	Feeding	Reduction in T lymphocyte count and proliferation, increased CD4 +/CD8 + ratio, increase in circulating	11531
anatolicum		B lymphocyte count	1.1.1
I ricinus	SGF	Inhibition of lymphocyte proliferation	[142]
	555	Suppression of P cell proliferation inhibition of II 10 production reduction of markers on the surface of T.	[1/2]
		suppression of b cen promeration, minibition of it- to production, reduction of markers on the surface of 1	[tao]
	6 I'	and Dicens	(a. a.)
	Saliva	Inhibition of T cell proliferation	[144]
		induction of $1n2$ differentiation of CD4 + T cells via dendritic cells	[/1]
	Feeding	Increased CD4+/CD8+ ratio	[147]
		Inhibited proliferation and responsiveness	[145]
		Reduced amount of specific Ig against antigen, no change in total Ig amount	[148,157]
I. scapularis	Saliva	Inhibition of IL-2 production by T cells, inhibition of splenic T cell proliferation	[62,140,141]
	Feeding	Inhibition of Th17 immunity, priming of a mixed Th1/Th2 response during secondary infestation	[35]
	SCF feeding	Increased II _4 levels	[165]
R annendiculatus	SGE, ICCUILING	Inhibition of lymphocyte proliferation	[142]
R. uppenuicululus	Fooding	Decreased T and P lumphocyte protectation	[174]
к. нисторииз	Calling	Decreased 1 and 6 tymphocyte percentage among PBLs	[101]
	Saliva	Decreased PBL responsiveness to pnytonemaggiutinin	[10]
		Inhibition of the blastogenic response of mononuclear cells	[175]
R. sanguineus	Feeding	Suppressed response to mitogens	[152]
	Saliva	Suppressed response to mitogens	[152]
	SGE	Suppressed Ig production by PBL	[156]
NK cells			
A variegatum	SCF	Decreased NK cell activity	[168]
Dormatocontor roticul-t	SCE	Decreased NK cell activity	[167]
Ugamanhugalis inarrei-	SGE	Decreased NK cell activity	[107]
ruemapnysälls inermis	JUE	Decreased for cell activity	[108]
1. ricinus	SGE	Suppression of NK cell cytotoxicity	[169]



Fig. 2. The effects of saliva on dendritic cells. Red lines represent inhibition, green lines enhancement. Tick saliva inhibits production of IL-6, IL-12, TNF, IFN-16, and RANTES cytokines. It also inhibits expression of CCR5 and CCR7, DC migration, proliferation, maturation, and phagocytosis, and STAT-1, PI3K/Akt, ErK1/2, and NF-κB signaling pathways. The saliva induces Th2 polarization while suppressing Th1 and Th17 differentiation. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

differences might be due to species-specific host responses or other unknown factors. Highly tick-resistant zebuine cattle breeds have more dermal mast cells than taurine breeds [92]. F2 crossbreeds of these two cattle were resistant to *R. microplus* infestation, and infestation with *R. micropplus* larvae induced significant increases in dermal mast cell numbers. Mast cells are major producers of the inflammatory mediator histamine, and ticks can affect histamine actions by either binding histamine via histamine-binding lipocalins [93,94] or by promoting its secretion via histamine release factor [95], further evidence of the ambiguous role for mast cells in tick feeding responses. One explanation for histamine binding followed by its release can be explained by the need to suppress inflammatory responses at the early stage of feeding, followed by an increased need for vascular permeability during the rapid engorgement phase of tick feeding.

7. Granulocytes and tick saliva

Granulocytes are bone marrow-derived myeloid leukocytes that contain granules in their cytoplasm. The granulocyte group consists of three major cell types: basophils, eosinophils, and neutrophils [96].

8. Basophils and tick saliva

Basophils are IgE-activated granulocytes that, unlike tissue-resident mast cells, circulate in the blood. They play a critical role in the IgE-



Fig. 3. The effects of saliva and SGE on neutrophils. Red lines represent inhibition, green lines enhancement. Tick saliva inhibits neutrophil recruitment, phagocytosis, adhesion, granule release, and production of ROS. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)



Fig. 4. The effects of saliva and SGE on B and T lymphocytes. Red lines represent inhibition, green lines enhancement. Tick saliva inhibits T cell proliferation, CD69 expression, and production of IL-2, IL-12, TNF, and IFN-y by lymphocytes. In contrast, it increases production of IL-4, IL-6, and IL-10. Tick SGE has the same effects as tick saliva and, furthermore, suppresses IFA-1 and VLA-4 expression, proliferation of B cells, and total Ig and IgA production. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

mediated development of chronic allergic reactions and inflammation [97,98], and they can also promote polarization towards Th2 responses by IgE-independent antigen presentation in mice [99,100], Basophils are recruited to a tick-feeding site and accumulate in the host skin during second and consequent (but not primary) tick infestation, where they act as important tick rejection factors [101,102]. After migration to the site of injury, basophils degranulate and release mediators such as histamine to reject ticks in a host reaction known as cutaneous basophil hypersensitivity [103]. Similar to mast cells, histamine release from basophils can be mediated by tick histamine release factor binding [95]. Several studies have confirmed the role of basophils in acquired immunity against ticks in mice [102,104,105]. Basophils expressing the immunoglobulin Fc receptor were found to be responsible for antibodymediated acquisition of H. longicornis resistance [102], with selective basophil ablation by diphtheria toxin leading to loss of resistance to H. longicornis feeding in subsequent tick infestations [102]. Basophils appear to play a non-redundant role in antibody-mediated acquired immunity against ticks [102].

As noted above, *I. ricinus* saliva increased MCP-1 production by stimulated splenocytes [60]. MCP-1 is a potent basophil activator that triggers their degranulation and histamine release [106].

Basophils can cause cutaneous basophilia, a mechanism of tick resistance [104,105]. The susceptibility or resistance of cattle to ticks (*R. microplus*) was associated with the number of basophils at the feeding site, with skin biopsies from tick-resistant breeds contain significantly more basophils than biopsies from susceptible breeds [107–109].

9. Eosinophils and tick saliva

Eosinophils are mainly present in mucosal areas in contact with the external environment such as the gut or lung mucosae. Their circulating levels are relatively low in healthy organisms, but increase during allergic reactions or parasitic infections [46]. Eosinophils produce cytokines, chemokines, and other mediators, some of which (e.g., indoleamine 2,3 deoxygenase; IDO) induce apoptosis and inhibit T cell proliferation [110,111]. Eosinophils are also rich in granules that contain cytotoxic effectors such as eosinophil peroxidase, eosinophil cationic protein, which can cause mast cell (and probably also basophil) degranulation [112]. Finally, eosinophils are an important source of inflammatory and tissue repairrelated molecules such as the transforming growth factors TGF- α and TGF- β 1 and the extracellular matrix glycoprotein tenascin [113,114].

Repeated exposure to both soft and hard tick species raised eosinophil levels at the feeding site in many host species including cattle [115,116], dogs [117], guinea pigs [118,119], rabbits [86], mice [88], woolless lambs [120], rats [36], capybaras [121], and even anteaters and armadillos [122]. The relationship between eosinophil number and tick resistance is not clear. Similar to mast cells, the susceptibility or resistance to ticks in cattle was associated with the number of eosinophils (and basophils) at the feeding site. Cattle breeds with more eosinophils (*Bos taurus indicus*, Nelores breed) appeared to be more resistant to *R. microplus* feeding than the *B. taurus taurus* Holstein breed with fewer eosinophils [107]. In contrast, the tick count on Nguni and Bonsmara cattle was positively correlated with the eosinophil count in skin biopsies from tick feeding sites, while the correlation was negative in the case of mast cells and basophils [109].

Ticks inhibit the chemokine-mediated attraction of eosinophils to tick feeding sites. SGE from many tick species blocked CCL3, CCL5, or CCL11 (eotaxin) eosinophil chemoattractant activity [123–126].

10. Neutrophils and tick saliva

Neutrophils are granulocytes with both phagocytosis and degranulation roles. They are highly motile cells and they have a relatively short lifespan. Neutrophils play an important role in the early stages of vertebrate immune homeostasis, such as during acute inflammation, but they also play a role in some chronic inflammatory diseases. Neutrophils are generally activated by pathogens and secrete effectors and mediators that promote inflammation by recruiting other leukocytes, and they also directly kill pathogens by releasing their granules [46,127]. They can also phagocytose and kill pathogens intracellularly [127].

Tick saliva modulates a local cutaneous immune response at the tick feeding site almost immediately after tick attachment, as shown by gene expression analysis of skin biopsies taken at several time points after the initiation of *I. scapularis* nymph feeding [128]. The expression of neutrophil-specific chemokines (CXCL1 and 5) was induced as early as 12 h after tick attachment to the host [128]. Neutrophil abundance in the skin was high during the first tick infestation compared to other cell types but decreased during subsequent tick infestations of the same host [120,129]. It is unknown whether the absence of neutrophils affects resistance of the host to ticks.

Saliva or SGE from soft and hard ticks have been shown to attenuate neutrophil functions such as recruitment by interfering with the neutrophil chemoattractants CXCL8 (IL-8) or CCL3 [123,124,126,130,131]. In one study, I. ricinus saliva significantly decreased neutrophil reactive oxygen species (ROS) production [132]. In contrast, the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), which are formed by extrusion of neutrophil DNA and can retain and kill bacteria, was not affected by saliva [132]. I. scapularis (published as Ixodes dammini) saliva inhibited granule release and neutrophil infiltration and had an inhibitory effect on neutrophil phagocytosis of B. burgdorferi [133]. I. scapularis saliva also reduced polymorphonuclear leukocyte (PMN) adhesion by downregulating \beta2-integrin expression and signaling, which decreased proinflammatory functions of PMNs [134]. Finally, SGE from R. microplus inhibited neutrophil phagocytic activity in cattle [135]. These data show that tick saliva inhibits several pro-inflammatory neutrophil properties that are deleterious to tick feeding but does not affect antibacterial NET formation, suggesting that tick salivary activity is specific. The effects of tick saliva and SGE on neutrophils are illustrated in Fig. 3.

11. T and B lymphocytes and tick saliva

Adaptive immunity relies on a wide range of antigen receptors (with varying antigen recognition specificities), which are clonally distributed in two types of lymphocytes: T cells and B cells. The induction of a specific immune response is only possible when a foreign antigen is recognized by the corresponding receptor. This first recognition signal is consolidated by the interaction of co-stimulatory molecules on T or B cells with those on APCs — such as dendritic cells or macrophages — that belong to the innate immune system. In this way, links are made

between the cell populations that play dominant roles in the two branches of vertebrate immunity [136].

T cells are produced in the bone marrow from lymphoid progenitors and differentiate in the thymus. Mature T cells then migrate to the peripheral lymphoid tissues; they also circulate throughout the body [46]. Two major T cell subpopulations are recognized based on the coreceptor molecule expressed at the cell surface: CD4 + (T helper cells) and CD8 + T cells (which develop into cytotoxic T lymphocytes, CTLs). According to the secreted cytokine profile, CD4 + T helper cells can be further divided into several subpopulations that have different roles in immune responses [137], with Th1 and Th2 populations the most thoroughly studied in tick-host interactions thus far. Th1 populations are associated with host cellular and inflammatory responses, and Th2 populations with host humoral responses against ticks [138,139], Fig. 4 illustrates how tick saliva and SCE influence T and B cell functions.

In 1985, *I. scapularis* (dammini) tick saliva was shown to inhibit II-2 production by T lymphocytes, with PGE₂ proposed to be responsible for this effect [140]. Urioste and colleagues confirmed diminished IL-2 levels in the presence of *I. scapularis* saliva, and showed profoundly inhibited splenic T cell proliferation in response to stimulation with concanavalin A (ConA) or phytohemagglutinin in the presence of saliva [62]; however, they disproved the PGE₂ hypothesis, providing evidence that IL-2 is in fact inhibited by a proteinaceous salivary component. Later, in 2001, an unknown salivary component from *I. scapularis* was reported to bind IL-2 and inhibit T lymphocyte proliferation [141].

The inhibition of lymphocyte proliferation by SGE has also been reported in other tick species such as *L* ricinus. Amblyomma variegatum. and R. appendiculatus, with species- and sex-specific differences shown for the effects of tick salivary gland antigens on human lymphocyte proliferation [142]. I. ricinus SGE suppressed isolated B cell proliferation and IL-10 production in response to LPS. CD69 activation marker expression on both activated T and B cells was also reduced [143]. L ricinus saliva inhibited splenic T cell proliferation in response to ConA, and both SGE and saliva reduced the responsiveness of T cells draining to lymph nodes and sensitized splenic T cells [144]. The same observation was made with naïve splenic T cells [145]. T lymphocytes from mice infested 9 days previously with I. ricinus nymphs displayed suppressed responses to ConA stimulation compared to cells from naïve mice [145]. In contrast, the lymph node cell response to LPS was increased in infested mice compared to naïve mice [145]. The authors attributed the observed effect to increased B lymphocyte numbers or activity [145]. On the other hand, soluble salivary gland antigens derived from female I. ricinus ticks stimulated lymph node T cells from mice infested with I. ricinus larvae or nymphs, but not those infested with Amblyomma hebraeum nymphs [146]. A 65 kDa protein fraction (IrSG65) isolated from the salivary glands of partially fed I. ricinus females induced specific T cell proliferation in lymph node cells obtained from mice infested with I. ricinus nymphs [146]. Feeding of I. ricinus nymphs on BALB/c mice revealed that CD4 + T cells were more abundant than CD8 + cells [147], which changed from 2:1 upon primary tick infestation to 7:1 in tertiary tick infestation. The ratio of CD3 + and CD4 + T lymphocytes was identical in I. ricinus infested and control mice [148].

D. andersoni SGE reduced ConA-induced proliferation of T cells [149, 150]. R. microplus feeding on cattle decreased the T lymphocyte percentage in peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBLs) [151], with the B lymphocyte percentage only lowering after repeated heavy infestations [151]. R. microplus saliva also suppressed PBL responsiveness to phytohemagglutinin [151]. R. sanguineus feeding on dogs suppressed ConA, phytohemagglutinin, and pokeweed mitogen-induced lymphocyte responses [152]. In the same study, SGE also suppressed all mitogen-stimulated blastogenic responses of lymphocytes from healthy dogs in vitro. Feeding of the Haemaphysalis bispinosa and Hyalomma anatolicum anatolicum ticks on sheep resulted in reduced circulating T lymphocyte counts as tick feeding progressed [153]. The authors showed that depletion of CD8 + populations and increased CD4 + T cell levels accounted for the observed effects [153]. Feeding of these two ticks also suppressed in vitro.
proliferation of T cells isolated from the tick-infested animals [153]. The CD4 +/CD8 + and B/T lymphocyte ratios were increased in all sheep during infestation with either *H. bispinosa* and *H. anatolicum anatolicum* [153]. Interestingly, reduced CD4/CD8 T cell ratios were observed in skin biopsies taken at primary and secondary infestation with *H. anatolicum anatolicum* ticks on sheep compared to healthy skin biopsies [154].

B cells also originate from lymphoid progenitors in the bone marrow [46]. Their further differentiation involves migration from the bloodstream to the spleen, where they develop into mature B cells. Mature B cells circulate between the spleen and lymph nodes. The role of B cells lies in the surface expression and secretion of immunoglobulins upon activation [155]. In immunity against ticks, B cells produce specific antibodies against tick salivary and gut antigens.

Both primary and secondary infestations of sheep with H. anatolicum anatolicum ticks caused a significant increase in circulating B lymphocytes over several days [153]. In dogs, R. sanguineus SGE was shown to suppress total immunoglobulin and IgA (but not IgM) production by PBLs in vitro upon activation with LPS or pokeweed mitogen [156]. It has also been observed that anti-BSA IgG and IgM levels decreased in mice immunized with BSA during I. ricinus feeding [148]. However, anti-BSA IgG and IgM production was not decreased when BSA was injected prior to tick infestation. Interestingly, this study did not demonstrate a shift towards the Th2-type immune response when anti-BSA IgG1 and IgG2a antibody levels were compared between mice groups [148]. It was later shown that total IgG and IgM antibody levels were not reduced in animal sera by tick infestation, anti-BSA antibody production was not delayed, and memory cell formation did not appear to be inhibited by tick saliva [157]. Tick saliva did not affect memory B cell production of either anti-BSA IgG or IgM [157].

Experiments with tick saliva or SGE have shown polarization of the immune response from Th1 to Th2 branches by suppression of Th1 and upregulation of Th2 cytokines in both mice and humans. This polarization leads to an attenuated inflammatory response, which is beneficial for tick survival and feeding [15,158]. Briefly, saliva or SGE inhibited secretion of IL-2, IL-12, TNF, and IFN-y. In contrast, IL-4, IL-6, and II-10 secretion was stimulated [66 139 159] II-10-specific neutralizing antibodies abrogated the suppressive effect of I. ricinus SGE on IFN- γ production [160]. IL-1 α secretion was inhibited in JA-4 macrophage cells exposed to R. appendiculatus SGE [66]. In contrast, and in spite of their pro-inflammatory properties, IL-1 α and IL-1 β production was increased by Th1 lymphocytes and splenocytes after treatment with I. ricinus SGE [161,162]. This can be explained by the fact that IL-1 can also act as a co-stimulator for Th2 lymphocyte proliferation. One of the mechanisms described for the action of I. ricinus saliva involves a negative effect on DCs, which then prime naive CD4 + T cells to induce Th2 cell differentiation in vitro and in vivo [71].

Feeding of *D. andersoni* decreased expression of two integrins, leukocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1) and very late activation-4 (VLA-4), by lymphocytes [163]. The same effect was achieved by exposing tick-naïve mouse lymphocytes to both *D. andersoni* saliva and SCE [163]. Infestation with *D. andersoni* nymphs or intradermal administration of female or male tick SGE increased IL-4 and IL-10 transcript levels in the draining lymph nodes and skin of the host [164]. Intracellular IL-4 levels were significantly increased in CD4 + T cells [164], and increased IL-4 levels were also observed during *I. scapularis* infestation on mice was characterized by late induction of an innate immune response and by inhibition of pro-inflammatory Th17 immunity. During secondary tick infestation, a mixed Th1/Th2 response was elicited [35].

Ticks have evolved in various ways to circumvent adaptive immunity. Their saliva inhibits lymphocyte proliferation to reduce immune responses. Furthermore, ticks actively direct the immune response towards the Th2 arm that favors their feeding. The immunosuppressive properties of tick saliva also include inhibition of antibody production by B cells that could damage tick mouthparts and activate other cells or complement. The effects of tick saliva and SGE on lymphocytes are illustrated in Fig. 4.

12. Natural killer cells and tick saliva

Despite their lymphoid origin, natural killer (NK) cells are part of the innate immune system [46]. Their main function is microbial or tumor cell killing and the regulation of endothelial cell, dendritic cell, and macrophage interactions with T lymphocytes [166]. SGE from female *Dermatocentor reticulatus* ticks that fed for 3–6 days on mice decreased human NK cell activity, while SGE from unfed or 1 day-fed ticks had no effect. Weaker activity was reported for SGE from *A. variegatum* and *Haemaphysalis inermis* ticks [167,168], and NK cell cytotoxicity was suppressed after treatment with *I. ricinus* SGE [169].

13. Conclusions

Tick saliva clearly contains numerous different pharmacologicallyactive molecules that affect various immune cell populations and facilitate tick feeding. In this "systems biology" era, the effects of tick saliva described in this review can help in the design of experiments to discover specific salivary molecules that account for those effects. Although molecular biology and biochemical methods such as transcriptome and proteome analyses have provided excellent information about the genes expressed in the salivary glands of different tick species, the number of identified and functionally characterized salivary molecules remains limited. Ultimately, the goal is to fully uncover the complexity of how ticks modulate the host immune system so that this information can be used to pioneer the development of novel control strategies for ticks and tick-borne diseases and aid drug discovery.

Acknowledgments

We thank Nextgenediting (www.nextgenediting.com) for providing editorial assistance and the anonymous reviewers for their constructive comments. This work was supported by the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (GACR grant P502/12/2409 to MK), the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic (grant no. RVO60077344 to the Biology Center-Institute of Parasitology), and the 7th Framework Program of the European Union (EU FP7; Marie Curie Reintegration grant PIRG07-GA-2010-268177 to MK). This publication reflects only the authors' views and the European Union is not liable for any use that may be made of the information contained herein. MK and IHFP were supported by the National Institutes of Health (R01 AI093653) and JHFP was supported by start-up funds provided by the University of Maryland, Baltimore School of Medicine. JFA and IMBF were supported by the Intramural Research Program of the Division of Intramural Research, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), National Institutes of Health (NIH; USA). MK received support from the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic (Jan Evangelista Purkyne Fellowship)

Because JFA and IMBF are government employees and this is a government work, the work is in the public domain in the United States. Notwithstanding any other agreements, the NIH reserves the right to provide the work to PubMedCentral for display and be use by the public, and PubMedCentral may tag or modify the work consistent with its customary practices. Rights can be established outside of the United States subject to a government use license.

The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Conflicts of interest

The authors declare that no conflicts of interest exist.

References

- [1] R.C. Brusca, G.J. Brusca, Invertebrates, 2nd ed. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, Mass, 2003
- [2] D.E. Sonenshine, R.M. Roe, Biology of Ticks, 2nd ed. Oxford University Press, New York. 2013
- J.L. Capinera, Encyclopedia of Entomology, 2nd ed. Springer, New York, 2008.
 H. Mehlhorn, Encyclopedia of Parasitology, 3rd. ed. Springer, New York, 2008.
 D.E. Sonenshine, R.M. Roe, Biology of Ticks, 2nd ed. Oxford University Press, New York. 2014
- P. Parola, D. Raoult, Ticks and tickborne bacterial diseases in humans: an emerging [6] [7] K. Tilly, P.A. Rosa, P.E. Stewart, Biology of infection with Borrelia burgdorferi, Infect.
- K. Hilly, F.A. KOSA, F.E. SCEWARL, DURING YOF INCLUME WARD SOFTEND SUBJECT, INCLUME TO THE DURING SUBJECT, INCLUMENT AND ADDRESS AND ADDR (Boophilus) microplus during acute infection, J. Clin. Microbiol. 45 (2007) 426–431. A.S. Bowman, P.A. Nuttall, Ticks: Biology, Disease and Control. Cambridge, UK,
- [9] Cambridge University Press, New York, 2008. N. Ramamoorthi, S. Narasimhan, U. Pal, F. Bao, X.F. Yang, D. Fish, et al., The Lyme
- [10] disease agent exploits a tick protein to infect the mammalian host, Nature 436 (2005) 573-577.
- [11] X.Y. Liu, S.I. Bonnet, Hard tick factors implicated in pathogen transmission, PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 8 (2014) e2566. A. Cabezas-Cruz, J.J. Valdes, Are ticks venomous animals? Front, Zool. 11 (2014) 47.
- [12] [13] I.M. Francischetti, A. Sa-Nunes, B.J. Mans, I.M. Santos, J.M. Ribeiro, The role of saliva in tick feeding, Front. Biosci. (Landmark Ed) 14 (2009) 2051–2088.
- S. Wikel, Ticks and tick-borne pathogens at the cutaneous interface: host defenses, tick countermeasures, and a suitable environment for pathogen establishment, [14] Front Microbiol 4 (2013) 337
- [15] M. Brossard, S.K. Wikel, Tick immunobiology, Parasitology 129 (Suppl.) (2004) S161-S176.
- B.R. Ferreira, M.J. Szabo, K.A. Cavassani, G.H. Bechara, J.S. Silva, Antigens from Rhipicephalus sanguineus ticks elicit potent cell-mediated immune responses in re-sistant but not in susceptible animals, Vet. Parasitol, 115 (2003) 35–48.
 B.B. Andrade, C.R. Teixeira, A. Barral, M. Barral-Netto, Haematophagous arthropod
- saliva and host defense system: a tale of tear and blood, An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 77 (2005) 665-693.
- J.W. Hovius, Spitting image: tick saliva assists the causative agent of Lyme disease in evading host skin's innate immune response, J. Invest. Dermatol. 129 (2009) 2339
- [19] J.M. Ribeiro, I.M. Francischetti, Role of arthropod saliva in blood feeding: sialome and post-sialome perspectives, Annu. Rev. Entomol. 48 (2003) 73-88.
- [20] J. Chmelar, C.J. Oliveira, P. Rezacova, I.M. Francischetti, Z. Kovarova, G. Peiler, et al. A tick salivary protein targets cathepsin G and chymase and inhibits host inflam-mation and platelet aggregation, Blood 117 (2011) 736–744.
- [21] L. Tirloni, J. Reck, RM. Terra, J.R. Martins, A. Mulenga, N.E. Sherman, et al., Proteo-mic analysis of cattle tick Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus saliva: a comparison between partially and fully engorged females, PLoS One 9 (2014) e94831. [22] Z.M. Radulovic, T.K. Kim, L.M. Porter, S.H. Sze, L. Lewis, A. Mulenga, A 24–48 h fed
- Amblyomma americanum tick saliya immuno-proteome, BMC Genomics 15 (2014) 518
- F.J. Alarcon-Chaidez, J. Sun, S.K. Wikel, Transcriptome analysis of the salivary [23] glands of Dermacentor, j. San ersoni Stiles (Acari: Ixodidae), Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 37 (2007) 48-71.
- [24] L. Mudenda, S.A. Pierle, J.E. Turse, G.A. Scoles, S.O. Purvine, C.D. Nicora, et al., Prote-omics informed by transcriptomics identifies novel secreted proteins in *Dermacentor andersons* isaliva, Int. J. Parasitol. 44 (2014) 1029–1037.
- A. Schwarz, S. Tenzer, M. Hackenberg, J. Erhart, A. Gerhold-Ay, J. Mazur, et al., A systems level analysis reveals transcriptomic and proteomic complexity in *Ixodes* [25] ricinus midgut and salivary glands during early attachment and feeding, Mol. Cell. Proteomics MCP 13 (2014) 2725–2735.
- [26] M. Kotsyfakis, A. Schwarz, J. Erhart, J.M. Ribeiro, Tissue- and time-dependent tran-scription in *Ixodes ricinus* salivary glands and midguts when blood feeding on the
- Scripton in Joades relations sarving galaxies and infigures when blood recting on the vertebrate host, Sci. Rep. 5 (2015) 9103.
 S. Karim, P. Singh, J.M. Ribeiro, A deep insight into the sialotranscriptome of the gulf coast tick, *Amblyomma maculatum*, PLoS One 6 (2011) e28525.
- [28] G.R. Garcia, L.G. Gardinassi, J.M. Ribeiro, E. Anatriello, B.R. Ferreira, H.N. Moreira, et al., The sialotranscriptome of Amblyomma triste, Amblyomma parvum and Amblyomma cajennense ticks, uncovered by 454-based RNA-seq, Parasit. Vectors. (2014) 430.
- [29] M. Villar, M. Popara, A.I. Mangold, J. de la Fuente, Comparative proteomics for the characterization of the most relevant *Amblyomma* tick species as vectors of zoonot-ic pathogens worldwide, J. Proteomics 105 (2014) 204–216.
- [30] A.W. Tan, I.M. Francischetti, M. Slovak, R.M. Kini, I.M. Ribeiro. Sexual differences in the sialomes of the zebra tick, Rhipicephalus pulchellus, J. Proteomics 117 (2015) 120-144
- [31] X.L. Xu, T.Y. Cheng, H. Yang, F. Yan, Y. Yang, De novo sequencing, assembly and analysis of salivary gland transcriptome of *Haemaphysalis flava* and identification of sialoprotein genes, Infect. Genet. Evol. 32 (2015) 135–142.
 CJ. Oliveira, E. Anatriello, I.K. de Miranda-Santos, I.M. Francischetti, A. Sa-Nunes, B.R.
- Ferreira, et al., Proteome of *Rhipicephalus samuu*, and a samuu and a
- [33] L.A. Lewis, Z.M. Radulovic, T.K. Kim, L.M. Porter, A. Mulenga, Identification of 24 h Ixodes scapularis immunogenic tick saliva proteins, Ticks Tick Borne Dis. 6 (3) (Apr 2015) 424-434, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ttbdis.2015.03.012 (Epub 2015 Mar 29).

- [34] D.M. Heinze, J.R. Carmical, J.F. Aronson, F. Alarcon-Chaidez, S. Wikel, S. Thangamani, Murine cutaneous responses to the rocky mountain spotted fever Vector Dermacentor andersoni, feeding, Front. Microbiol. 5 (2014) 198.
 [35] D.M. Heinze, S.K. Wikel, S. Thangamani, F.J. Alarcon-Chaidez, Transcriptional profil-
- ing of the murine cutaneous response during initial and subsequent infestations with *Ixodes scapularis* nymphs, Parasit. Vectors. 5 (2012) 26.
- [36] J. Reck, P. Bandarra, S. Pavarin, C. Termignoni, D. Drimeier, J.R. Martins, et al., Experimentally induced tick toxicosis in rats bitten by *Ornithodoros brasiliensis* (Chelicerata: Argasidae): a clinico-pathological characterization. Toxicon 88 (2014) 99–106.
 [37] J. Reck, F.S. Marks, C. Termignoni, J.A. Guimaraes, J.R. Martins, Ornithodoros
- naciliensis (mouro tick) salivary gland homogenates inhibit in vivo wound healing and in vitro endothelial cell proliferation, Parasitol. Res. 112 (2013) 1749–1753.
- [38] G.E. Monterio, G.H. Bechara, A.M. Franzin, I.K. de Miranda Santos, Antigen-presenting cells in draining lymph nodes of goals repeatedly infested by the Cayenne tick *Amblyomma cajemense* nymphs, Exp. Appl. Acarol. 53 (2011) 63–69.
- [39] J. Kim, H.A. Kang, S.S. Kim, H.S. Joo, W.S. Chong, Perianal tick-bite lesion caused by a fully engorged female Amblyomma testudingrium, Korean I, Parasitol, 52 (2014) 685-690
- [40] L.M. Hebling, K.C. Furquim, G.H. Bechara, M.I. Camargo-Mathias, Inoculation of salivary gland extracts obtained from female of Rhipicephalus sanguineus (Latreille, 1806) (Acari, Ixodidae) with 2, 4, and 6 days of feeding in rabbit: 1–histopathology
- (viai), a solution of the feeding lesion, Parasitol. Res. 112 (2013) 577–584.
 [41] M. Kazimirova, I. Stibraniova, Tick salivary compounds: their role in modulation of host defences and pathogen transmission, Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 3 (2013) 43.
- [42] I. Stibraniova, M. Lahova, P. Bartikova, Immunomodulators in tick saliva and their benefits, Acta Virol. 57 (2013) 200–216.
- [43] I.M. Francischetti, Platelet aggregation inhibitors from hematophagous animals, Toxicon 56 (2010) 1130–1144. [44] J. Chmelar, F. Calvo, I.H. Pedra, I.M. Francischetti, M. Kotsyfakis, Tick salivary secre-
- [44] J. Chinelai, L. Caivo, J.L. Fedra, I.W. Indickrietti, W. Rotsynaks, Inc. Sanvay sector tion as a source of antihemostatics, J. Proteomics 75 (2012) 3842–3854.
 [45] K. Rother, G.O. Till, G.M. Hansch, The Complement System, 2nd rev. ed. Springer,
- K. Murphy, C.A. Janeway, A. Mowat, Janeway's Immunobiology, 8th ed. Garland [46]
- Science, New York, 2012, [47] J.M. Ribeiro, Role of saliva in blood-feeding by arthropods, Annu. Rev. Entomol. 32
- (1987) 463-478
- [48] C.H. Lawrie, R.B. Sim, P.A. Nuttall, Investigation of the mechanisms of anti-complement activity in *Ixodes ricinus* ticks, Mol. Immunol. 42 (2005) 31–38.
- [49] C.H. Lawrie, S.E. Randolph, P.A. Nuttall, *Ixodes* ticks: serum species sensitivity of anticomplement activity, Exp. Parasitol. 93 (1999) 207–214.
- H. Schroeder, P.J. Skelly, P.F. Zipfel, B. Losson, A. Vanderplasschen, Subversion of complement by hematophagous parasites, Dev. Comp. Immunol. 33 (2009) 5–13.
 W.R. Heath, F.R. Carbone, The skin-resident and migratory immune system in
- steady state and memory: innate lymphocytes, dendritic cells and T cells, Nat. Immunol. 14 (2013) 978–985. [52] A. Mantovani, A. Sica, S. Sozzani, P. Allavena, A. Vecchi, M. Locati, The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization, Trends
- Immunol 25 (2004) 677-686 [53] A. Dey, J. Allen, P.A. Hankey-Giblin, Ontogeny and polarization of macrophages in
- inflam ation: blood monocytes versus tissue macrophages, Front. Immunol. 5 (2014) 683 [54] U.M. Gundra, N.M. Girgis, D. Ruckerl, S. Jenkins, L.N. Ward, Z.D. Kurtz, et al., Alter-
- are phenotypically and functionally distinct, Blood 123 (2014) e110–e122.
- [55] E. Gomez Perdiguero, K. Klapproth, C. Schulz, K. Busch, E. Azzoni, L. Crozet, et al., Tissue-resident macrophages originate from yolk-sac-derived erythro-myeloid progenitors, Nature 518 (2015) 547–551.
- [56] P.R. Taylor, L. Martinez-Pomares, M. Stacey, H.H. Lin, G.D. Brown, S. Gordon, Macrophage receptors and immune recognition, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 23 (2005) 901-944
- L.C. Davies, S.J. Jenkins, J.E. Allen, P.R. Taylor, Tissue-resident macrophages, Nat Immunol. 14 (2013) 986–995. [58] M. Kuthejlova, J. Kopecky, G. Stepanova, A. Macela, Tick salivary gland extract in-
- hibits killing of Borrelia afzelii spirochetes by mouse macrophages, Infect. Immun. 69 (2001) 575-578
- K. Kyckova, J. Kopecky, Effect of tick saliva on mechanisms of innate immune re-[59] sponse against Borelia dizelli, J. Med. Entomol. 43 (2006) 1208–1214.
 [60] H. Langhansova, T. Bopp, E. Schmitt, J. Kopecky, Tick saliva increases production of
- three chemokines including monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, a histamine-releasing cytokine, Parasite Immunol. 37 (2015) 92-96.
- G. Chen, M.S. Severo, M. Sohail, O.S. Sakhon, S.K. Wikel, M. Kotsyfakis, et al., *Ixodes scapularis* saliva mitigates inflammatory cytokine secretion during *Anaplasma phagocytophilum* stimulation of immune cells, Parasit. Vectors. 5 [61] (2012) 229
- [62] S. Urioste, L.R. Hall, S.R. Telford 3rd, R.G. Titus, Saliva of the Lyme disease vector Ixodes dammini, blocks cell activation by a nonprostaglandin E2-dependent mech-anism, J. Exp. Med. 180 (1994) 1077-1085.
- [63] D.K. Brake, A.A. Perez de Leon, Immunoregulation of bovine macrophages by factors in the salivary glands of *Rhipicephalus microplus*, Parasit. Vectors 5 (2012) 38 [64] D.K. Brake, S.K. Wikel, J.P. Tidwell, A.A. Perez de Leon, *Rhipicephalus microplus* sal-
- ivary gland molecules induce differential CD86 expression in murine macrophages,
- [65] B.R. Ferreira, J.S. Silva, Salva of *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* tick impairs T cell prolifer-ation and IFN-gamma-induced macrophage microbicidal activity, Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol, 64 (1998) 279-293

- [66] P. Gwakisa, K. Yoshihara, T. Long To, H. Gotoh, F. Amano, E. Momotani, Salivary gland extract of *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus* ticks inhibits in vitro transcription and secretion of cytokines and production of nitric oxide by LPS-stimulated JA-4 cells, Vet, Parasitol, 99 (2001) 53-61.
- [67] C.D. Kramer, N.M. Poole, L.B. Coons, J.A. Cole, Tick saliva regulates migration phagocytosis, and gene expression in the macrophage-like cell line, IC-21, Exp. Parasitol, 127 (2011) 665-671.
- [68] N.M. Poole, G. Mamidanna, R.A. Smith, L.B. Coons, J.A. Cole, Prostaglandin E(2) in tick saliva regulates macrophage cell migration and cytokine profile. Parasit, Vecors. 6 (2013) 261.
- G. Hoeffel, Y. Wang, M. Greter, P. See, P. Teo, B. Malleret, et al., Adult Langerhans [69] cells derive predominantly from embryonic fetal liver monocytes with a minor contribution of yolk sac-derived macrophages, J. Exp. Med. 209 (2012) 1167–1181
- [70] K.A. Cavassani, J.C. Aliberti, A.R. Dias, J.S. Silva, B.R. Ferreira, Tick saliva inhibits dif-ferentiation, maturation and function of murine bone-marrow-derived dendritic cells, Immunology 114 (2005) 235-245.
- cells, Immunology 114 (2005) 235–245.
 [71] N. Mejri, M. Brossard, Splenic dendritic cells pulsed with *Ixodes ricinus* tick saliva prime naive CD4 + T to induce Th2 cell differentiation in vitro and in vivo, Int. Immunol. 19 (2007) 535–543.
 [72] S. Nithiuthai, J.R. Allen, Langerhans cells present tick antigens to lymph node cells
- from tick-sensitized guinea-pigs, Immunology 55 (1985) 157–163. [73] L.M. Mason, C.C. Veerman, T.B. Geijtenbeek, J.W. Hovius, Menage a trois: *Borrelia*,
- dendritic cells, and tick saliva interactions. Trends Parasitol. 30 (2014) 95–103.
 [74] CJ. Oliveira, KA. Cavassani, D.D. More, G.P. Garlet, J.C. Aliberti, J.S. Silva, et al., Tick saliva inhibits the chemotactic function of MIP-1alpha and selectively impairs chemotaxis of immature dendritic cells by down-regulating cell-surface CCR5, Int. J Parasitol. 38 (2008) 705–716.
- [75] C.J. Oliveira, W.A. Carvalho, G.R. Garcia, F.R. Gutierrez, I.K. de Miranda Santos. I.S. [75] C.J. UIVERA, W.A. CATVAINO, G.K. GATCIA, F.K. GUIDETTEZ, I.K. GE MITANGA SANDS, J.S. SIIVA, et al., Tick saliva induces regulatory dendritic cells: MAP-kinases and Toll-like receptor-2 expression as potential targets, Vet. Parasitol. 167 (2010) 288–297.
 [76] T. Carvalho-Costa, M. Mendes, M. da Silva, T. da Costa, M. Tiburcio, A. Anhe, et al., Immunosuppressive effects of Amblyomma cajennense tick saliva on murine bone
- marrow-derived dendritic cells, Parasit. Vectors. 8 (2015) 22. A. Sa-Nunes, A. Bafica, D.A. Lucas, T.P. Conrads, T.D. Veenstra, J.F. Andersen, et al.
- Prostaglandin E2 is a major inhibitor of dendritic cell maturation and function in kodes scapularis saliva, J. Immunol. 179 (2007) 1497–1505.
- [78] D.I. Veselv, D. Fish, M.I. Shlomchik, D.H. Kaplan, L.K. Bockenstedt, Langerhans cell deficiency impairs Ixodes scapularis suppression of Th1 responses in mice, Infect. Immun. 77 (2009) 1881–1887.
- [79] A. Skallova, G. lezzi, F. Ampenberger, M. Kopf, J. Kopecky, Tick saliva inhibits den-dritic cell migration, maturation, and function while promoting development of
- Th2 responses, J. Immunol. 180 (2008) 6186–6192. [80] M. Slamova, A. Skallova, J. Palenikova, J. Kopecky, Effect of tick saliva on immune interactions between Borrelia afzelii and murine dendritic cells. Parasite Immunol [81] A. Fialova, Z. Cimburek, G. lezzi, J. Kopecky, Ixodes ricinus tick saliva modulates tick-
- borne encephaltis virus infection of dendritic cells, Microbes Infect. 12 (2010) 580–585.
- [82] J. Lieskovska, J. Kopecky, Effect of tick saliva on signalling pathways activated by TLR-2 ligand and Borrelia afzelii in dendritic cells, Parasite Immunol. 34 (2012) 121_420
- [83] J. Lieskovska, J. Kopecky, Tick saliva suppresses IFN signalling in dendritic cells upon Borrelia afzelii infection, Parasite Immunol, 34 (2012) 32-39.
- [84] G. Pejler, E. Ronnberg, I. Waern, S. Wernersson, Mast cell proteases: regulators of inflammatory disease, Blood 115 (2010) 4981–4990.
- [85] D.D. Metcalfe, D. Baram, Y.A. Mekori, Mast cells, Physiol. Rev. 77 (1997) 1033–1079.
 [86] M. Brossard, V. Fivaz, *Ixodes ricinus* L.: mast cells, basophils and eosinophils in the sequence of cellular events in the skin of infested or re-infested rabbits. Parasitology
- 85 (Pt 3) (1982) 583-592. [87] H.S. Gill, Kinetics of mast cell, basophil and eosinophil populations at Hyalomma anatolicum anatolicum feeding sites on cattle and the acquisition of resistance, Par-asitology 93 (Pt 2) (1986) 305-315.
- [88] H. Ushio, N. Watanabe, Y. Kiso, S. Higuchi, H. Matsuda, Protective immunity and mast cell and eosinophil responses in mice infested with larval Haemaphysalis longicornis ticks, Parasite Immunol, 15 (1993) 209-214.
- [89] E.B. Steeves, J.R. Allen, Tick resistance in mast cell-deficient mice: histological stud-ies, Int. J. Parasitol. 21 (1991) 265–268.
- [90] H. Matsuda, K. Fukui, Y. Kiso, Y. Kitamura, Inability of genetically mast cell-deficient W/Wv mice to acquire resistance against larval *Haemaphysalis longicornis* ticks, J. Parasitol. 71 (1985) 443–448.
 [91] H. Matsuda, T. Nakano, Y. Kiso, Y. Kitamura, Normalization of anti-tick response of
- mast cell-deficient W/Wv mice by intracutaneous injection of cultured mast cells, J Parasitol. 73 (1987) 155–160.
 [92] J.R. Engracia Filho, G.H. Bechara, R.L. Teodoro, Dermal mast cell counts in F2 Hol-
- Stein × Gir crossbred cattle artificially infested with the tick Boophilus microplus (Acari: Ixodidae), Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1081 (2006) 476–478.
- [93] G.C. Paesen, P.L. Adams, P.A. Nuttall, D.L. Stuart, Tick histamine-binding proteins alins with a second binding cavity, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1482 (2000) lipo 92-101.
- [94] G.C. Paesen, P.L. Adams, K. Harlos, P.A. Nuttall, D.I. Stuart, Tick histamine-binding pro-teins: isolation, cloning, and three-dimensional structure, Mol. Cell 3 (1999) 661–671.
- [95] J. Dai, S. Narasimhan, L. Zhang, L. Liu, P. Wang, E. Fikrig, Tick histamine release fac-tor is critical for *lxodes scapularis* engorgement and transmission of the Lyme disease agent, PLoS Pathog, 6 (2010) e1001205.
- [96] P.J. Delves, I.M. Roitt, Encyclopedia of Immunology, 2nd ed. Academic Press, San Diego, 1998.

- [97] K. Mukai, K. Matsuoka, C. Taya, H. Suzuki, H. Yokozeki, K. Nishioka, et al., Basophils play a critical role in the development of IgE-mediated chronic allergic inflammaindicate the second se second sec
- phils are essential initiators of a novel type of chronic allergic inflammation, Blood 110 (2007) 913–920.
- CL. Sokol, N.Q. Chu, S. Yu, S.A. Nish, T.M. Laufer, R. Medzhitov, Basophils function as antigen-presenting cells for an allergen-induced T helper type 2 response, Nat. [99] Immunol. 10 (2009) 713-720.
- T. Yoshimoto, K. Yasuda, H. Tanaka, M. Nakahira, Y. Imai, Y. Fujimori, et al., Basophils contribute to T(H)2-JgE responses in vivo via IL-4 production and presentation of
- peptide-MHC class II complexes to CD4 + T cells, Nat. Immunol. 10 (2009) 706–712.
 B.M. Oltean, M. Ernst, S. Renneker, M.A. Bakheit, U. Seitzer, J. Ahmed, Whole antigenic lysates of *lxodes ricius*, but not Der-p2 allergen-like protein, are potent in-ducers of basophil activation in previously tick-exposed human hosts, Transbound. Emerg. Dis. 60 (Suppl. 2) (2013) 162–171.
- [102] T. Wada, K. Ishiwata, H. Koseki, T. Ishikura, T. Ugajin, N. Ohnuma, et al., Selective ablation of basophils in mice reveals their nonredundant role in acquired immunity against ticks, J. Clin. Invest. 120 (2010) 2867–2875. [103] S.J. Brown, P.W. Askenase, Rejection of ticks from guinea pigs by anti-hapten-
- antibody-mediated degranulation of basophils at cutaned us hasonhil hyn sites: role of mediators other than histamine, J. Immunol. 134 sensitivity (1985) 1160-1165.
- [104] G.E. Monteiro, G.H. Bechara, Cutaneous basophilia in the resistance of goats to Amblyomma cajennense nymphs after repeated infestations, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1149 (2008) 221-225.
- [105] F.S. Otavio, G.H. Bechara, Guinea pigs develop cutaneous basophilia after repeated infestations by nymphs of the tick Amblyomma triste, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1149 (2008) 226-229
- S.C. Bischoff, M. Krieger, T. Brunner, C.A. Dahinden, Monocyte chemotactic protein 1 is a potent activator of human basophils, J. Exp. Med. 175 (1992) 1271–1275.
 W.A. Carvalho, A.M. Franzin, A.R. Abatepaulo, C.J. de Oliveira, D.D. More, J.S. da
- Silva, et al., Modulation of cutaneous inflammation induced by ticks in contrasting phenotypes of infestation in bovines, Vet. Parasitol. 167 (2010) 260–273.
- [108] W.A. Carvalho, S.R. Maruyama, A.M. Franzin, A.R. Abatepaulo, J.M. Anderson, B.R. Ferreira, et al., Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus: clotting time in tick-infested skin varies according to local inflammation and gene expression patterns in tick salivary glands, Exp. Parasitol. 124 (2010) 428–435. M.C. Marufu, K. Dzama, M. Chimonyo, Cellular responses to *Rhipicephalus microplus*
- [109] infestations in pre-sensitised cattle with differing phenotypes of infestation, Exp. Appl. Acarol. 62 (2014) 241–252.
- S.O. Odemuyiwa, A. Chahary, Y. Li, L. Puttagunta, J.E. Lee, S. Musat-Marcu, et al., Cutting edge: human eosinophils regulate T cell subset selection through indoleamine 2.3-dioxygenase, J. Immunol. 173 (2004) 5909–5913.
 P. Temes, T.M. Bauer, L. Rose, C. Duffer, A. Watzlik, H. Simon, et al., Inhibition of allogeneic T cell proliferation by indoleamine 2.3-dioxygenase-expressing dendrit-tion of the second se
- ic cells: mediation of suppression by tryptophan metabolites, J. Exp. Med. 196 (2002) 447-457
- [112] M.E. Rothenberg, S.P. Hogan, The eosinophil, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 24 (2006) 147-174
- [113] A.E. Elovic, H. Ohyama, A. Sauty, J. McBride, T. Tsuji, M. Nagai, et al., IL-4-dependent regulation of TGF-alpha and TGF-beta1 expression in human eosinophils, J. Immunol. 160 (1998) 6121–6127.
- [114] S. Phipps, P. Flood-Page, A. Menzies-Gow, Y.E. Ong, A.B. Kay, Intravenous anti-IL-5 monoclonal antibody reduces eosinophils and tenascin deposition in allergen-
- challenged human atopic skin, J. Invest. Dermatol. 122 (2004) 1406–1412.
 [115] J.R. Allen, B.M. Doube, D.H. Kemp, Histology of bovine skin reactions to *lxodes holocyclus* Neumann, Can. J. Comp. Med. 41 (1977) 26–35.
- [116] A.V. Schleger, D.T. Lincoln, R.V. McKenna, D.H. Kemp, J.A. Roberts, Boophilus microplus; cellular responses to larval attachment and their relationship to host resistance, Aust. J. Biol. Sci. 29 (1976) 499–512. M.P. Szabo, G.H. Bechara, Sequential histopathology at the *Rhipicephalus*
- sanguineus tick feeding site on dogs and guinea pigs, Exp. Appl. Acarol. 23 (1999) 915-928.
- [118] S.J. Brown, P.W. Askenase, Blood eosinophil and basophil responses in guinea pigs parasitized by Amblyomma americanum ticks, Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 31 (1982) . 593-598
- [119] S.J. Brown, M.J. Worms, P.W. Askenase, Rhipicephalus appendiculatus: larval feeding sites in guinea pigs actively sensitized and receiving immune serum, Exp. Parasitol. 55 (1983) 111-120
- C.C. Prosdocimi, G.H. Bechara, D.J. Luduverio, F.M. Otavio, R.E. Del Vecchio, Innate immunity in wooless lamb to larvae of Amblyomma cajennense tick (Fabricius, TR87) (Acari: Ixodidae), Transbound. Emerg. Dis. 57 (2010) 75–76.
 K.M. van der Heijden, M.P. Szabo, M.I. Egami, M.C. Pereira, E.R. Matushima, Histo-
- [121] pathology of tick-bite lesions in naturally infested capybaras (Hydrochoerus hydrochaeris) in Brazil, Exp. Appl. Acarol. 37 (2005) 245-255.
- [122] M.F. Lima e Silva, M.P. Szabo, G.H. Bechara, Microscopic features of tick-bite lesions in anteaters and armadillos: Emas National Park and the Pantanal region of Brazil, Ann, N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1026 (2004) 235-241.
- [123] V. Hajnicka, I. Vancova, P. Kocakova, M. Slovak, J. Gasperik, M. Slavikova, et al., Manipulation of host cytokine network by ticks: a potential gateway for pathogen transmission, Parasitology 130 (2005) 333–342.
 I. Vancova, V. Hajnicka, M. Slovak, P. Kocakova, G.C. Paesen, P.A. Nuttall,
- Evasin-3-like anti-chemokine activity in salivary gland extracts of ixodid ticks during blood-feeding: a new target for tick control, Parasite Immunol. 32 (2010) 460-463

- [125] I. Vancova, M. Slovak, V. Hajnicka, M. Labuda, L. Simo, K. Peterkova, et al., Differential anti-chemokine activity of Amblyomma variegatum adult ticks during blood-feeding, Parasite Immunol. 29 (2007) 169–177.
- [126] M. Deruaz, A. Frauenschuh, A.L. Alessandri, J.M. Dias, F.M. Coelho, R.C. Russo, et al., Ticks produce highly selective chemokine binding proteins with antiinflammatory activity, J. Exp. Med. 205 (2008) 2019–2031.
- [127] P. Scapini, J.A. Lapinet-Vera, S. Gasperini, F. Calzetti, F. Bazzoni, M.A. Cassatella, The neutrophil as a cellular source of chemokines, Immunol. Rev. 177 (2000) 195-203.
- [128] D.M. Heinze, J.R. Carmical, J.F. Aronson, S. Thangaman at the tick-host interface, PLoS One 7 (2012) e47301. nani. Early immunologic events
- [129] H.S. Gill, A.R. Walker, Differential cellular responses at Hyalomma anatolicum anatolicum feeding sites on susceptible and tick-resistant rabbits. Parasitology 91 (Pt 3) (1985) 591-607.
- V. Hajnicka, P. Kocakova, M. Slavikova, M. Slovak, J. Gasperik, N. Fuchsberger, et a [130] Anti-interleukin-8 activity of tick salivary gland extracts, Parasite Immunol. 23 (2001) 483-489.
- [131] K. Peterkova, I. Vancova, V. Hainicka, M. Slovak, L. Simo, P.A. Nuttall, Immunomodulatory arsenal of nymphal ticks, Med. Vet. Entomol. 22 (2008) 167–171. [132] C. Menten-Dedoyart, C. Faccinetto, M. Golovchenko, I. Dupiereux, P.B. Van
- Lerberghe, S. Dubois, et al., Neutrophil extracellular traps entrap and kill Borrelia burgdorferi sensu stricto spirochetes and are not affected by Ixodes ricinus tick sa-I. Immunol. 189 (2012) 5393-5401.
- [133] J.M. Ribeiro, J.J. Weis, S.R. Telford 3rd., Saliva of the tick *Ixodes dammini* inhibits neutrophil function, Exp. Parasitol. 70 (1990) 382–388.
- [134] R.R. Montgomery, D. Lusitani, Chevance A. De Boisfleury, S.E. Malawista, Tick saliva reduces adherence and area of human neutrophils, Infect. Immun. 72 (2004) 2989-2994 [135]
- C. Turni, R.P. Lee, L.A. Jackson, Effect of salivary gland extracts from the tick, Boophilus microplus, on leucocytes from Brahman and Hereford cattle, Parasite munol. 24 (2002) 355-361
- [136] R. Medzhitov, C.A. Janeway Ir., Innate immunity: the virtues of a nonclonal system 6 recognition, Cell 91 (1997) 295–298. E.E. Kara, I. Comerford, K.A. Fenix, C.R. Bastow, C.E. Gregor, D.R. McKenzie, et al.,
- Tailored immune responses: novel effector helper T cell subsets in protective im-munity, PLoS Pathog, 10 (2014) e1003905.
- M.M. Davis, M. Krogsgaard, M. Huse, J. Huppa, B.F. Lillemeier, Q.J. Li, T cells as a self-referential, sensory organ, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 25 (2007) 681–695.
 B.R. Ferreira, J.S. Silva, Successive tick infestations selectively promote a T-helper 2
- cytokine profile in mice, Immunology 96 (1999) 434–439. [140] J.M. Ribeiro, G.T. Makoul, J. Levine, D.R. Robinson, A. Spielman, Antihemostatic,
- antiinflammatory, and immunosuppressive properties of the saliva of a tick, *txodes dammini*, J. Exp. Med. 161 (1985) 332–344.
 [141] R.D. Gillespie, M.C. Dolan, J. Piesman, R.G. Titus, Identification of an IL-2 binding
- protein in the saliva of the Lyme disease vector tick, *Ixodes scapularis*, J. Immunol 166 (2001) 4319–4326.
- [142] T. Rolnikova, M. Kazimirova, M. Buc, Modulation of human lymphocyte prolifera-tion by salivary gland extracts of ixodid ticks (*Acari: Ixodidae*): effect of feeding stage and sex, Folia Parasitol. (Praha) 50 (2003) 305–312.
- [143] S. Hannier, J. Liversidge, J.M. Sternberg, A.S. Bowman, Ixodes ricinus tick salivary gland extract inhibits II-10 secretion and CD69 expression by mitogen yand contact minimum procession and cost contract of the procession by minocities stimulated murine splenocytes and induces hyporesponsiveness in B lymphocytes, Parasite Immunol, 25 (2003) 27–37.
- [144] N. Mejri, B. Rutti, M. Brossard, Immunosuppressive effects of *Ixodes ricinus* tick saliva or salivary gland extracts on innate and acquired immune response of BALB/c mice, Parasitol. Res. 88 (2002) 192–197. F. Ganapamo, B. Rutti, M. Brossard, Immunosuppression and cytokine production
- [145] in mice infested with Ixodes ricinus ticks; a possible role of laminin and interleukin-10 on the in vitro responsiveness of lymphocytes to mitogens, Immu nology 87 (1996) 259-263.
- [146] F. Ganapamo, B. Rutti, M. Brossard, Identification of an Ixodes ricinus salivary gland fraction through its ability to stimulate CD4 T cells present in BALB/c mice lymph
- nackow invogence usawy to annumence come i cons present in machine i inneg. nodes draining the tick fixation site, Parasitology 15 (Pt 1) (1997) 91–96.
 [147] M.L. Mbow, B. Rutti, M. Brossard, Infiltration of CD4 + CD8 + T cells, and expres-sion of ICAM-1, Ia antigens, IL-1 alpha and TNF-alpha in the site i lesion of BALB/C nology 82 (1994) 596–602.
- [148] C. Menten-Dedoyart, B. Couvreur, O. Thellin, P.V. Drion, M. Herry, O. Jolois, et al., Influence of the *lxodes ricinus* tick blood-feeding on the antigen-specific antibody response in vivo, Vaccine 26 (2008) 6956–6964. R.N. Ramachandra, S.K. Wikel, Modulation of host-immune responses by ticks
- (Acari: kodidae): effect of salivary gland extracts on host macrophages and lym-phocyte cytokine production, J. Med. Entomol. 29 (1992) 818–826.
 [150] S.K. Wikel, Influence of Dermacentor andersoni infestation on lymphocyte respon-
- siveness to mitogens, Ann. Trop. Med. Parasitol. 76 (1982) 627-632.

- [151] H. Inokuma, R.L. Kerlin, D.H. Kemp, P. Willadsen, Effects of cattle tick (Boophilus microplus) infestation on the bovine immune system, Vet. Parasitol. 47 (1993) 107 - 118
- [152] H. Inokuma, T. Aita, K. Ohno, T. Onishi, Effects of infestation by Rhipicephalus Manufacture and the second sec
- [153] D.K. Boppana, G. Dhinakar Raj, L. John, S.K. Wikel, B.R. Latha, S. Gomathinayagam, In vivo immunomodulatory effects of ixodid ticks on ovine circulating T- and B-Jymphocytes, Parasite immunol. 26 (2004) 83–93.
- [154] D.K. Boppana, S.K. Wikel, D.G. Raj, M.B. Manohar, J. Lalitha, Cellular infiltration at skin lesions and draining lymph nodes of sheep infested with adult Hyalomma anatolicum anatolicum ticks, Parasitology 131 (2005) 657–667. [155] R. Carsetti, M.M. Rosado, H. Wardmann, Peripheral development of B cells in
- mouse and man, Immunol. Rev. 197 (2004) 179–191.
 [156] K. Matsumoto, H. Inokuma, M. Okuda, T. Onishi, Effects of salivary gland extract
- from Rhinicenhalus sanguineus on JgG subclass production and cytokine mRNA expressio mononuclear cells of canine peripheral blood, J. Vet. Med. Sci. 65 (2003) 137-140.
- [157] C. Menten-Dedoyart, B. Couvreur, O. Jolois, P.B. Van Lerberghe, L. Duwez, P. Drion, et al., Kinetic study of the antibody response during the blood meal of *Ixodes* ricinus: implication on plasma cell maturation in vivo and for anti-Ixodes vaccina-tion, Vaccine 29 (2011) 2044-2050.
- 1581 S.K. Wikel, Tick modulation of host cytokines, Exp. Parasitol, 84 (1996) 304–309.
- N. Mejri, N. Franscini, B. Rutti, M. Brossard, Th2 polarization of the immune re-sponse of BALB/c mice to *Ixodes ricinus* instars, importance of several antigens in 159 activation of specific Th2 subpopulations, Parasite Immunol. 23 (2001) 61–69. [160] J. Kopecky, M. Kuthejlova, J. Pechova, Salivary gland extract from *lxodes ricinus* ticks
- inhibits production of interferon-gamma by the upregulation of interleukin-10, Parasite Immunol. 21 (1999) 351–356.
- [161] L. Kovar, J. Kopecky, B. Rihova, Salivary gland extract from *bxodes ricinus* tick polar-izes the cytokine profile toward Th2 and suppresses proliferation of Tlymphocytes in human PBMC culture, J. Parasitol. 87 (2001) 1342–1348.
- [162] L. Kovar, J. Kopecky, B. Rihova, Salivary gland extract from *Ixodes ricinus* tick mod-ulates the host immune response towards the Th2 cytokine profile, Parasitol. Res. 88 (2002) 1066-1072
- [163] K.R. Macaluso, S.K. Wikel, Dermacentor andersoni: effects of repeated infestations on lymphocyte proliferation, cytokine production, and adhesion-molecule expres-sion by BALB/c mice, Ann. Trop. Med. Parasitol. 95 (2001) 413–427. V.D. Boppana, S. Thangamani, F.J. Alarcon-Chaidez, A.J. Adler, S.K. Wikel, Blood
- [164] feeding by the Rocky Mountain spotted fever vector, Dermacentor andersoni, in-duces interleukin-4 expression by cognate antigen responding CD4 + T cells, Parasit, Vectors, 2 (2009) 47.
- [165] U.U. Muller-Doblies, S.S. Maxwell, V.D. Boppana, M.A. Mihalyo, S.J. McSorley, A.T. Vella, et al., Feeding by the tick, *Ixodes scapularis*, causes CD4(+) T cells responding to cognate antigen to develop the capacity to express IL-4, Parasite Immunol. 29 (2007) 485–499.
- [166] E. Vivier, E. Tomasello, M. Baratin, T. Walzer, S. Ugolini, Functions of natural killer cells, Nat. Immunol. 9 (2008) 503–510.
- [167] M. Kubes, N. Fuchsberger, M. Labuda, E. Zuffova, P.A. Nuttall, Salivary gland extracts of partially fed *Dermacentor reticulatus* ticks decrease natural killer cell activity itro. Immunology 82 (1994) 113-116.
- [168] M. Kubes, P. Kocskova, M. Slovak, M. Slavikova, N. Fuchsberger, P.A. Nuttall, Heterogeneity in the effect of different ixodid tick species on human natural killer cell activity, Parasite Immunol. 24 (2002) 23–28.
 [169] J. Kopecky, M. Kuthejlova, Suppressive effect of *Ixodes ricinus* salivary gland extract
- on mechanisms of natural immunity in vitro, Parasite Immunol. 20 (1998)
- [170] N. Fuchsberger, M. Kita, V. Hainicka, J. Imanishi, M. Labuda, P.A. Nuttall, Ixodid tick [170] N. FUCHSDETGET, M. KIA, Y. FAJIRICKA, J. IMAINSII, M. LADUGI, F.A. KULAII, IXOUD UCK salivary gland extracts inhibit production of lipopolysaccharide-induced mRNA of several different human cytokines, Exp. Appl. Acarol. 19 (1995) 671–676.
 [171] F. Ganapamo, B. Rutti, M. Brossard, In vitro production of interleukin-4 and interferon-gamma by lymph node cells from BALB/c mice infested with nymphal
- Ixodes ricinus ticks, Immunology 85 (1995) 120–124. [172] J. Wu, Y. Wang, H. Liu, H. Yang, D. Ma, J. Li, et al., Two immu
- oregulatory pept with antioxidant activity from tick salivary glands, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 16606-16613
- [173] D.K. Bergman, R.N. Ramachandra, S.K. Wikel, Dermacentor andersoni: salivary gland Proteins suppressing T-lymphocyte responses to concanavalin A in vitro, Exp. Parasitol. 81 (1995) 262–271.
- [174] D.K. Bergman, R.N. Ramachandra, S.K. Wikel, Characterization of an immunosur pressant protein from Dermacentor andersoni (Acari: Ixodidae) salivary glands, I. Med. Entomol. 35 (1998) 505-509.
- [175] H. Inokuma, D.H. Kemp, P. Willadsen, Prostaglandin E2 production by the cattle tick (Boophilus microplus) into feeding sites and its effect on the response of bovine onuclear cells to mitogen, Vet. Parasitol. 53 (1994) 293-299.

3.2. Manuscript 2:

Chmelař, J., **Kotál, J.**, Langhansová, H., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2017) Protease Inhibitors in Tick Saliva: The Role of Serpins and Cystatins in Tick-host-Pathogen Interaction. Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology 7, 216

A review Manuscript 2 summarizes the effects of tick salivary protease inhibitors form cystatin and serpin families on host immune system and blood coagulation. Protease inhibitors represent important constituents of tick saliva and fulfill various purposes in host body against defense mechanisms. We review the role of tick salivary cystatins (cysteine protease inhibitors) as regulators of host immunity, and serpins (serine protease inhibitors) as immunosuppressors and anticoagulants. Both these protein families are vital for tick feeding which has been proven experimentally by RNA interference. Next, we discuss a potential use of tick salivary protease inhibitors as new drugs; mostly for treatment of autoimmune or immunity related disorders.

Jan Kotál is the shared first-second author, searched the literature, wrote the manuscript and prepared tables.



Protease Inhibitors in Tick Saliva: The Role of Serpins and Cystatins in Tick-host-Pathogen Interaction

Jindřich Chmelař^{1*†}, Jan Kotál^{1,2†}, Helena Langhansová^{1,2} and Michail Kotsyfakis^{2*}

¹ Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, České Budějovice, Czechia, ² Institute of Parasitology, Biology Center, Czech Academy of Sciences, České Budějovice, Czechia

The publication of the first tick sialome (salivary gland transcriptome) heralded a new era of research of tick protease inhibitors, which represent important constituents of the proteins secreted via tick saliva into the host. Three major groups of protease inhibitors are secreted into saliva: Kunitz inhibitors, serpins, and cystatins. Kunitz inhibitors are anti-hemostatic agents and tens of proteins with one or more Kunitz domains are known to block host coagulation and/or platelet aggregation. Serpins and cystatins are also anti-hemostatic effectors, but intriguingly, from the translational perspective, also act as pluripotent modulators of the host immune system. Here we focus especially on this latter aspect of protease inhibition by ticks and describe the current knowledge and data on secreted salivary serpins and cystatins and their role in tick-host-pathogen interaction triad. We also discuss the potential therapeutic use of tick protease inhibitors.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Ard Menzo Nijhof, Freie Universität Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Ben J. Mans, Agricultural Research Council of South Africa (ARC-SA), South Africa Jianfeng Dai, Soochow University, China Shahid Karim, University of Southern Mississippi, University of Southern Mississippi,

*Correspondence:

Jindřich Chmelař chmelar@jcu.cz Michail Kotsyfakis mich_kotsyfakis@yahoo.com [†]These authors have contributed

equally to this work.

Received: 25 February 2017 Accepted: 11 May 2017 Published: 29 May 2017

Citation:

Chmelař J, Kotál J, Langhansová H and Kotsyfakis M (2017) Protease Inhibitors in Tick Saliva: The Role of Serpins and Cystatins in Tick-host-Pathogen Interaction. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 7:216. doi: 10.389/(cimb.2017.00216 Keywords: tick-host interaction, immunomodulation, protease inhibitors, serpins, cystatins

SERPINS AND CYSTATINS AS HOMEOSTATIC REGULATORS

Proteases (also proteinases or peptidases) are ubiquitous enzymes that cleave proteins to smaller peptides and amino acids. Proteases participate in a range of physiological processes including extracellular digestion, protein degradation, and tissue development (Rawlings and Salvesen, 2013). Relevant to this review, however, is the fact that many proteases, in particular highly substrate-specific endopeptidases, mediate defense and homeostatic processes in both vertebrates and invertebrates. Proteolytic pathways rely on the precise and tightly regulated activation and inhibition of these endopeptidases. As a result of this evolutionary need, many crucial pathophysiological processes are regulated via proteolytic cascades, with notable examples being coagulation of plasma (or haemolymph in arthropods), bacterial wall perforation with complement, or melanization in arthropods (Amara et al., 2008; Tang, 2009; Gulley et al., 2013). Each step involves proteolytic activation of another downstream protease, and all proteases in such cascades usually have their own endogenous inhibitors that balance the system. The role of arthropod protease inhibitors in the defense is supported by the fact that the expression of serpins and cystatins in Ixodes scapularis nymphs was attenuated upon infection with Anaplasma phagocytophilum, as seen in the transcriptomic data (Ayllon et al., 2015). On the other hand, the expression of protease inhibitors in salivary glands and midguts of adult females differed among individual inhibitors, i.e., some cystatins and serpins were upregulated upon the infection and vice versa (Ayllon et al., 2015). Similar data were collected from Ixodes ricinus infected with Bartonella henselae (Liu et al., 2014). Therefore, precise involvement of every individual inhibitor in tick infection would have to be evaluated experimentally.

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

May 2017 | Volume 7 | Article 216

Other intracellular and extracellular processes, such as cytokine activation, phagocytosis, intracellular signaling, and antigen processing, are also dependent on proteolysis (Muller et al., 2012). Serpins and cystatins are the two main superfamilies of endogenous serine and cysteine protease inhibitors involved in the regulation of these processes. It is therefore unsurprising that both groups of inhibitors are well represented in parasites and are important in their interactions with hosts (Schwarz et al., 2012; Meekins et al., 2017). In order to obtain a blood meal, ticks secrete hundreds of different pharmacoactive molecules into the host via their saliva. These molecules have anti-hemostatic, anti-inflammatory, anti-complement and immunomodulatory properties and their function is to overcome or evade host defense mechanisms including immune response (Brossard and Wikel, 2004; Chmelar et al., 2012). Moreover, tick saliva and also several salivary compounds were found to facilitate and enhance the establishment of tick-borne pathogens in the host (Anguita et al., 2002; Pal et al., 2004; Kazimirova and Stibraniova, 2013; Wikel, 2013). Inhibitors of proteases represent the most prominent protein families in tick salivary secretion that are responsible for alteration of many different host defense pathways.

SERINE PROTEASE INHIBITORS IN TICKS

Four groups of serine protease inhibitors have been described in ticks: Kunitz domain inhibitors, Kazal domain inhibitors, trypsin inhibitor-like cysteine rich domain (TIL) inhibitors, and serpins. Inhibitors with 1-7 Kunitz domains mostly act as anti-hemostatic proteins and form a large multigenic family of secreted salivary proteins in ticks that have probably played a crucial role in the development of tick hematophagy (Corral-Rodriguez et al., 2009; Dai et al., 2012; Schwarz et al., 2014). Moreover, single Kunitzdomain inhibitors in other organisms are involved in ion channel blockade and may play a similar role in ticks (Frazao et al., 2012; Valdes and Moal, 2014). Kazal domain inhibitors are described in hematophagous insects such as mosquitoes and triatomine bugs (Rimphanitchayakit and Tassanakajon, 2010), but they are only rarely reported in ticks, in which their function is still unknown (Zhou et al., 2006a; Mulenga et al., 2007a, 2008). TIL-domain inhibitors represent an interesting group of small inhibitors with a conserved 5-disulphide bridge structure that were first reported in Apis melifera (Bania et al., 1999) and have also been detected in ticks (Fogaca et al., 2006; Sasaki et al., 2008). The sequences of over 80 TIL-domain inhibitors have been found in arthropod genomes (Zeng et al., 2014), and the unique features of TILdomain proteins make them an excellent model for designing novel serine protease inhibitors and antimicrobial peptides (Li et al., 2007).

Serpins

Serpins form the largest superfamily of protease inhibitors, and they are ubiquitously distributed in nature including viruses and prokaryotes. With over 1,500 members, serpins are the most studied protease inhibitors (Law et al., 2006), also helped by their unique and highly intriguing mechanism of inhibition (Whisstock et al., 2010) and the evolutionary changes that turned inhibitory serpins into non-inhibitory proteins with completely different functions (Law et al., 2006; Silverman et al., 2010). For example, there are 29 inhibitory and seven non-inhibitory serpins in humans and 60 functional serpin genes in mice (Heit et al., 2013). Angiotensinogen is a non-inhibitory serpin that is proteolytically activated by renin into several oligopeptides (angiotensins) that regulate vasoconstriction and blood pressure (Lu et al., 2016). Cortisol and thyroxine-binding proteins (human SERPINA6 and SERPINA7) are also notable serpins that act as major transport proteins for glucocorticoids and progesterone (Carrell and Read, 2016). Inhibitory serpins have very diverse functions depending on their specificity, but their importance is highlighted by the serpinopathies-diseases caused by serpin dysfunction or deficiency (Belorgey et al., 2007). Emphysema, cirrhosis, angioedema, hypertension, and even familial dementia are caused at least in part by serpin dysfunction (Kim et al., 1995; Davis et al., 1999; Ekeowa et al., 2009; Huntington and Li, 2009; Lomas et al., 2016).

Arthropod serpins have mostly immunological and hemostatic functions. Serpins have been shown to regulate haemolymph coagulation, are involved in phenoloxidase system activation in insects, and regulate an immune toll pathway in haemolymph (Kanost, 1999; Gulley et al., 2013; Meekins et al., 2017). Furthermore, in bloodfeeding arthropods, serpins can act as modulators of host hemostasis and/or immune responses. Indeed, several insect serpins act as anti-coagulants, anti-complement proteins and immunosuppressors (Stark and James, 1995, 1998; Colinet et al., 2009; Calvo et al., 2011; Ooi et al., 2015). Serpins are abundant in ticks, and one of their functions is to modulate host immune system. Recent advances in this area have been facilitated by the publication of I. scapularis genome (Gulia-Nuss et al., 2016) and several next-generation sequencing transcriptome studies that added tens of unique sequences from different tick species to already existing and long list of tick serpins. In 2009, Mulenga and colleagues found 45 serpins in the genome of I. scapularis (Mulenga et al., 2009). Two years earlier, the same group described 17 serpins (Lospins) in Amblyomma americanum (Mulenga et al., 2007b). This number was, however, substantially broadened by the combination of several approaches up to approximately 120 serpins (Karim and Ribeiro, 2015; Porter et al., 2015, 2017). In the work of Porter and colleagues (Porter et al., 2015), the authors compare homologous serpins across tick species, showing both conserved and species-specific inhibitors. The conservation seems to be higher in serpins with basic or polar uncharged amino acid residues at P1 site (Porter et al., 2015). Other 32 serpin transcripts from the Amblyomma genus were found in Amblyomma maculatum (Karim et al., 2011) and 50 in Amblyomma sculptum (Moreira et al., 2017). Two groups described 18 and 22 serpins in R. microplus, respectively (Tirloni et al., 2014b; Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2015) and at least 36 serpins were found in several published trancriptomes from I. ricinus (our own unpublished data based on the analysis of transcriptomes) (Schwarz et al., 2013; Kotsyfakis et al., 2015a,b; Perner et al., 2016). Another recent publication described 10 different serpin transcripts in the sialotranscriptome of the tick Hyalomma excavatum (Ribeiro et al., 2017). Despite

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

May 2017 | Volume 7 | Article 216

high number of identified transcripts, only small portion was characterized functionally.

Tick Serpins with Known Function

To date, almost 20 tick serpins from different tick species have been functionally validated by *in vitro* assays, *in vivo* experimental models, vaccination and by RNA interference (RNAi) experiments (**Table 1**). These are detailed below.

AamS6 (A. americanum)

Only two serpins (AamS6 and AAS19) have been characterized thus far in *A. americanum*, despite the overall high number of serpins identified in this tick (Porter et al., 2015). *A. americanum* serpin 6 (AamS6) is urgeulated during first 3 days of feeding and is likely to be injected into the host during feeding; however, RNAi did not affect tick feeding ability (Chalaire et al., 2011). Recombinant AamS6 inhibited the serine proteases trypsin, chymotrypsin, elastase, and chymase and the cysteine protease papain in a dose-dependent manner (Chalaire et al., 2011). AamS6 also reduced platelet aggregation and delayed plasma clotting time, suggesting that this serpin facilitates blood feeding by ticks (Mulenga et al., 2013). The complement activation pathway, however, was not affected (Mulenga et al., 2013).

AAS19 (A. americanum)

AAS19 is an anti-coagulant that was shown to inhibit five of the eight serine protease blood clotting factors. AAS19 inhibited thrombin—but not ADP—and cathepsin G-activated platelet aggregation and delayed clotting in re-calcification and thrombin time assays (Kim et al., 2015). AAS19 RNAi halved the blood intake and resulted in morphological deformation of ticks (Kim et al., 2016). In rabbits, immunized with AAS19, tick feeding was faster, but smaller blood volumes were ingested, and tick ability to lay eggs was impaired (Kim et al., 2016).

HLS-1 and 2 (Haemaphysalis longicornis)

Sugino and colleagues isolated a serpin from *H. longicornis* in 2003 (HLS1) (Sugino et al., 2003). Recombinant HLS1 displayed anticoagulant activity, and nymph and adult tick feeding on immunized rabbits resulted in 43.9 and 11.2% tick mortality, respectively. Antibodies raised against tick saliva did not react with recombinant HSL1, suggesting that the serpin was not secreted (Sugino et al., 2003). Moreover, HLS1 expression was detected in the midgut rather than the salivary glands, and HLS1 was therefore considered a concealed antigen, similar to the first commercially used anti-tick vaccine based on the Bm86 tick protein (Willadsen et al., 1995). HLS1 does not contain a signal peptide. Therefore, it is likely that HLS1 is not a secreted protein playing an immunomodulatory or anti-hemostatic role in the host during tick feeding.

A second serpin from *H. longicornis* (HLS2) possesses a signal sequence and seems to be secreted by hemocytes into the haemolymph but not by the salivary glands or midgut (Imamura et al., 2005). HLS2 prolonged the coagulation time in a dose-dependent manner (Imamura et al., 2005), and rabbit vaccination with HLS2 resulted in greater immunization than with HLS1 and almost 50% mortality of feeding nymphs and adults (Imamura et al., 2005). This might be explained by better accessibility

and inactivation of extracellular HLS2 in the haemolymph by antibodies from the ingested blood of immunized animals.

Ipis-1 (Ixodes persulcatus)

To date, Ipis-1 is the only characterized salivary serpin from tick *I. persulcatus* (Toyomane et al., 2016). Ipis-1 transcripts were detected only in salivary glands of ticks at same level throughout all phases of feeding. It significantly reduced IFN- γ production and the proliferation of bovine PBMC cells after ConA stimulation. Authors suggest that Ipis-1 could inhibit T cells function by direct interaction with this cell population (Toyomane et al., 2016).

Iris (I. ricinus)

The first tick serpin to be described that had an effect on host defense mechanisms was named Iris (Ixodes ricinus immunosuppressor) (Leboulle et al., 2002a,b). Iris displayed several notable and important features. First, Iris was noted to inhibit T cell and splenocyte proliferation and altered peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC)-derived cytokine levels (Leboulle et al., 2002a). Second, Iris showed antihemostatic properties including suppression of coagulation and fibrinolysis (Prevot et al., 2006). Finally, Iris was shown to bind to monocytes/macrophages and suppress the secretion of TNF (Prevot et al., 2009). Interestingly, these activities were independent on the protease inhibitory function of Iris. Of note, Iris, together with HLS1 and several other proteins, belongs to a group of serpins in Ixodes spp. that have methionine and cysteine in their reactive center loop (RCL) and lack a signaling peptide, suggesting intracellular rather than extracellular function. However, Iris has been detected in tick saliva using a polyclonal serum raised against recombinant protein (Leboulle et al., 2002a; Prevot et al., 2007), and vaccination of rabbits with recombinant Iris increased the mortality of feeding ticks and lowered weight after engorgement (Prevot et al., 2007). This contradictory observation might be explained by cross-reactivity with another secreted serpin or by the action of another, non-classical secretory mechanism (Nickel, 2003). Nevertheless, Iris represents a pleiotropic protein that affects multiple processes simultaneously via independent mechanisms.

IRS-2 (I. ricinus)

IRS-2 (*Ixodes ricinus* serpin-2) was the second serpin to be characterized in *I. ricinus*. IRS-2 has tryptophan in its P1 site, confirmed by its resolved crystal structure (Kovarova et al., 2010; Chmelar et al., 2011). IRS-2 displayed inhibitory specificity against mast cell chymase and cathepsin G, two proteases involved in inflammatory function evidenced by *in vivo* paw edema experiments, in which IRS-2 significantly decreased paw swelling and neutrophil recruitment in treated animals (Chmelar et al., 2011). Moreover, IRS-2 inhibited the production of proinflammatory cytokine IL-6 in dendritic cells (DC) and impaired IL-6-dependent JAK/STAT3 signaling in T-helper (Th) cells, inhibiting the maturation of proinflammatory Th17 lymphocytes (Palenikova et al., 2015). IRS-2 also inhibited

Protease Inh	hibitors in	Tick-Host-Pathoger	Interaction
--------------	-------------	--------------------	-------------

erpin	Tick species	Secreted	Effect (where known)	Tissue/stage	Target enzyme	References
amS6	A. americanum	Yes	Reduced platelet aggregation and delayed plasma clotting time	SG, MG, OVA, CA	Plasmin, papain, elastase, chymase	Chalaire et al., 2011; Mulenga et al., 2013
VAS19	A. americanum	Yes	Anti-coegulant protein, delayed clotting in recalcification and thrombin time assays		Trypsin, plasmin, flXa, fXa, fXla, fXlla, thrombin, tryptase, chymotrypsin	Kim et al., 2015; Porter et al., 2015
			RNM led to smaller blood meals and deformed ticks	SG, MG, OVA, SYN, CA, MT		Kim et al., 2016
			Feeding on immunized rabbits led to smaller blood meals and disrupted egg laving			
1LS1	H. longicomis	No	Feeding on immunized animals increased tick mortality rate	MG		Sugino et al., 2003
ILS2	H. longicornis	No	Prolonged coagulation, Immunization of rabbits increased tick mortality	Lر الر		Imamura et al., 2005
ois-1	I. persulcatus	Yes	Inhibited proliferation and IFN-y production of bovine PBMOs	SG		Toyomane et al., 2016
is	l. ricinus	Yes	Disrupted blood coagulation and fibrinolysis	SG, saliva	Elastase, thrombin, t-PA, fXa, trypsin	Prevot et al., 2006
			Suppressed T cell and splenocyte proliferation			Leboulle et al., 2002a
			Attered cytokine secretion by PBMC			Prevot et al., 2009
			Bound monocytes/macrophages and inhibited TNF secretion			Prevot et al., 2007
			Vaccination resulted in higher mortality and lower engorgement			
RS-2	I. ricinus	Yes	Inflammation inhibitor, bound mast cell protease-4, blocked induced platelet aggregation	SG, OVA, MG	Cathepsin G, chymase, thrombin, trypsin, a-chymotrypsin	Chmelar et al., 2011
			Inhibited Th17 differentiation by reduced production of IL-6 in DC			Palenikova et al., 2015
(scS-1E1	l. scapularis	Yes	Inhibited platelet aggregation and plasma clotting	SG, MG	Thrombin, trypsin, cathepsin G, fXa	Mulenga et al., 2009; lb et al., 2014
RAS-1, 2	R. appendiculatus	No	Feeding on immunized animals increased tick mortality rate			Imamura et al., 2006
RAS-3, 4	R. appendiculatus	Yes	Feeding on immunized animals increased tick mortality rate and delayed Theleria infection			Imamura et al., 2008
HS-1	R. haemaphysaloides	Yes	Anticoagulation activity, RNAi disrupted tick feeding	SG	Chymotrypsin, thrombin, fXa	Yu et al., 2013
RHS-2	R. haemaphysaloides	No	RNAi disrupted tick feeding	MG	Chymotrypsin, thrombin, fXa	Yu et al., 2013
tmS-3	R. microplus	Yes	Reduced platelet aggregation Feeding of ticks with RMS-3 antibodies impaired reproduction	SG, MG, CA	Chymotrypsin, cathepsin G, elastase, chymase	Tirloni et al., 2014b, 20 Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2012, 2015
lmS-6	R. microplus	Yes		SG, MG, OVA, CA	Trypsin, plasmin, fXa, fXla, chymotrypsin	Tirloni et al., 2014b, 20
RmS-15	R. microplus	Yes	Delayed plasma clotting	SG, OVA, CA	Thrombin	Tirloni et al., 2014b; Xu et al., 2016
RmS-17	R. microplus	Yes	Delayed plasma clotting, reduced platelet aggregation	SG, MG, OVA, CA	Trypsin, plasmin, cythepsin G, chymotrypsin, fXla	Tirloni et al., 2014b, 201
Serpin	R. microplus	Yes	Feeding on immunized animals increased feeding time and tick mortality and reduced tick engorgement and egg mass	SG		Kaewhom et al., 2007; Jittapalapong et al., 201

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

May 2017 | Volume 7 | Article 216

platelet aggregation induced by cathepsin G but not other inducers such as collagen or arachidonic acid derivatives (Chmelar et al., 2011).

IxscS-1E1 (I. scapularis)

A blood meal-induced salivary serpin IxscS-1E1 from *I. scapularis* has been shown to trap thrombin and trypsin in SDS- and heat-stable complexes, reduce their activity and inhibit the activities of cathepsin G and factor Xa, although protease/inhibitor complexes were not detected (Ibelli et al., 2014). Furthermore, IxscS-1E1 inhibited adenosine diphosphateand thrombin-activated platelet aggregation and delayed plasma clotting time, suggesting an anti-hemostatic role (Ibelli et al., 2014). IxscS-1E1 had no effect on the classical complement activation pathway (Ibelli et al., 2014).

RAS-1, 2, 3, 4 (Rhipicephalus appendiculatus)

Four serpin cDNAs, two putatively secreted (RAS-3 and RAS-4) and two putatively intracellular (RAS-1 and RAS-2), were identified in and isolated from the salivary glands of R. appendiculatus (Mulenga et al., 2003). Although RAS-1 and RAS-2 are expressed in the salivary glands, antibodies against them were not found at the bite site as determined by the reactivity of anti-tick saliva sera to recombinant RAS-1 and RAS-2 (Imamura et al., 2006). This finding is, however, consistent with their predicted intracellular location (Imamura et al., 2006). Vaccination of cattle with a RAS-1/RAS-2 cocktail resulted in a 61.4% reduction in nymph engorgement rate and a 28 and 43% increase in mortality rate in female and male adult ticks, respectively (Imamura et al., 2006). Similar results were obtained when cattle were vaccinated with a mixture of two secreted serpins RAS-3 and RAS-4 and a 36-kDa immunodominant cement protein RIM36 (Imamura et al., 2008): immunization resulted in 40% mortality rate for R. appendiculatus ticks and almost 50% for Theileria parva-infected female ticks (Imamura et al., 2008). However, no significant protective effect against infection with T. parva was observed in spite of a 1-2 day delay in the detection of pathogens in the host peripheral blood after immunization (Imamura et al., 2008).

RHS-1 and 2 (Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides)

Two serpins (RHS-1 and RHS-2) have been identified and characterized from *R. haemaphysaloides* (Yu et al., 2013), both of which were expressed in the salivary glands and midguts of ticks fed for 4 days. Both inhibited chymotrypsin, and RHS-1 also inhibited thrombin (Yu et al., 2013). Consistent with their inhibitory activity, only RHS-1 exhibited anticoagulation activity based on the activated partial thrombin time assay (Yu et al., 2013). Only RHS-1 seems to be secreted into the saliva and the host, as only RHS-1 was detected by serum from rabbits that were exposed to ticks and only RHS-1 possesses a signal petide sequence (Yu et al., 2013). Nevertheless, RNAi of both serpins negatively affected the attachment rate after 24 h and decreased the engorgement rate (Yu et al., 2013).

RmS-3, 6, 15, 17 (R. microplus)

Serpin RmS-3 from *R. microplus* displayed anti-elastase and anti-chymotrypsin inhibitory activities (Rodriguez-Valle et al.,

2015). Tirloni and colleagues subsequently confirmed this specificity (albeit with much lower inhibitory activity), tested more proteases, and found the highest inhibitory activity against chymase and cathepsin G (Tirloni et al., 2016). RmS-3 is likely to be secreted into the saliva and the host as evidenced by differential antibody responses of tick-resistant and tick-susceptible cattle (Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2012). RmS-3 is expressed in nymphs and in the salivary glands of adult ticks, data on RmS-3 transcription in ovaries differ between the two studies (Tirloni et al., 2014b; Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2015). Capillary feeding of ticks with a RmS-3 antibody reduced tick reproductive capacity (Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2012), 2015).

In addition to RmS-3, three other recombinant R. microplus serpins were produced for enzymatic and functional characterization (Tirloni et al., 2014a,b; Xu et al., 2016). RmS-6 inhibited factor Xa, factor XIa and plasmin, suggesting an anticoagulant function, while RmS-17 showed weaker inhibitory activity against chymotrypsin, cathepsin G, trypsin, and plasmin (Tirloni et al., 2016). Both RmS-3 and RmS-17 inhibited cathepsin G-induced platelet aggregation. Interestingly, RmS-3, -6, and -17 from R. microplus were recognized by antibodies raised by the saliva of A. americanum, I. scapularis, and Rhipicephalus sanguineus, suggesting a potential use for these proteins as an universal tick vaccine (Tirloni et al., 2016) but also highlighting the pitfall of false-positive detection of serpins in tick saliva. RmS-15 was identified as a thrombin inhibitor and, together with RmS-17, delayed plasma clotting in a re-calcification time assay (Tirloni et al., 2016; Xu et al., 2016). Moreover, RmS-15 is an immunogen, as the infestation of cattle with R. microplus resulted in increased anti-RmS-15 IgG titers (Xu et al., 2016).

rSerpin (R. microplus)

Rabbits immunized with putatively secreted serpin (rSerpin) from *R. microplus* (Kaewhom et al., 2007) led to extended feeding time, an 83% reduction in adult engorgement, 67% mortality of engorged females and a 34% reduction in egg mass weight (Jittapalapong et al., 2010).

Cystatins

Cystatins form a superfamily of tight-binding reversible inhibitors of papain-like cysteine proteases and legumains and, similar to serpins, they are present in all organisms including prokaryotes (Kordis and Turk, 2009). Cystatins regulate many physiological processes including immunity-related mechanisms such as antigen presentation, phagocytosis, and cytokine expression (Zavasnik-Bergant, 2008). There are four cystatin subgroups: type 1 (stefins), type 2, type 3 (kininogens), and type 4 cystatins (fetuins) (Rawlings and Barrett, 1990). Cystatins' target proteases are usually lysosomal cathepsins involved in protein degradation, but they also target those involved in degradation of antigens presented via MHCII to lymphocytes or in the activation of caspase 1 and thus inflammasome regulation (Jin and Flavell, 2010; Turk et al., 2012).

Cystatins with Known Function

Similarly to serpins, there are around 20 tick cystatins described in the literature and only type 1 and type 2 cystatins have thus far been reported in ticks. While stefins lack a secretory signal and are most likely involved in the intracellular digestion of hemoglobin or in developmental processes, type 2 cystatins are secreted and expressed in both the midgut and salivary glands (Schwarz et al., 2012). Tick cystatins either regulate hemoglobin digestion, which is driven by cathepsins (Horn et al., 2009), or they can be secreted as immunomodulators into the host with saliva. The majority (84%) of tick cystatin transcripts that are conserved across tick species, belong to the extracellular group, suggesting predominantly immunomodulatory role (Ibelli et al., 2013) Tick cystatins with experimentally validated functions are listed in **Table 2** and detailed below.

Bmcystatin (R. microplus)

Bmcystatin from *R. microplus* is specifically expressed in the salivary glands, ovaries, and fat bodies. Bmcystatin did not inhibit papain but inhibited human cathepsin L and tick vitellindegrading cysteine endopeptidase (VDTCE), suggesting a role in regulating tick embryogenesis (Lima et al., 2006).

BrBmcys2a, b, c, d, e, (R. microplus)

In addition to Bmcystatin, another five cystatins (BrBmcys2a, b, c, d, e) were identified in the cattle tick R. microplus. Their expression differs among various developmental stages and tissues, but since their presence has only been assessed by immunodetection methods, cross reactivity between antibodies is possible and has indeed been reported (Imamura et al., 2013). This study also examined the inhibitory specificity of two cystatins: while BrBmcys2b targeted cathepsins B, C, and L, BrBmcys2c only inhibited cathepsins C and L (Parizi et al., 2015). Antibodies raised against recombinant proteins detected BrBmcys2b in all tick tissues, while anti-BrBmcys2c serum only recognized the protein in the gut from partially engorged females and in the ovaries, salivary glands, and fat bodies from fully engorged females (Parizi et al., 2015). The expression patterns suggest rather homeostatic function of these cystatins in ticks than immunomodulatory activity in the host (Imamura et al., 2013).

Cystatin (A. americanum)

One cystatin was detected in the salivary glands and midguts of unfed and partially fed *A. americanum* ticks (Karim et al., 2005). RNAi of this cystatin led to a 90 and 50% reduction in transcript abundance in the early and late phases of feeding, respectively. RNAi knockdown decreased tick body weight, killed ticks during feeding, and disrupted feeding to full engorgement. Rabbits preexposed to dsRNA-injected ticks were re-exposed to naïve ticks, which led to detachment of 34% ticks after 1 day and over 50% mortality of attached ticks (Karim et al., 2005). No such effect was observed in the control group, in which rabbits were pre-exposed to normal ticks. Such a strong immune response indicates an important immunomodulatory function for silenced cystatin that impairs responses to salivary antigens and leads to an overall less intense immune reaction (Karim et al., 2005).

HISC-1 (H. longicornis)

HISC-1 is a type 2 cystatin detected in *H. longicornis* (Yamaji et al., 2009b). It is found mainly in the acinar cells of the tick

salivary glands and is therefore likely to be secreted into the host. The number of transcripts was found to be approximately 5-fold higher in the salivary glands than in the midgut, with strong upregulation in early phase of blood feeding and with a pattern suggestive of importance in the feeding process. HISC-1 inhibited cathepsins L and papain but not cathepsin B (Yamaji et al., 2009b).

Hlcyst-1, 2 and 3 (H. longicornis)

While Hlcyst-1 is a type 1 intracellular cystatin with specificity against papain and cathepsin L (Zhou et al., 2009), Hlcyst-2 and Hlcyst-3 are secreted type 2 cystatins (Zhou et al., 2006b, 2010). Hlcyst-2 has been shown to inhibit cathepsin L and cathepsin B, with transcripts found mainly in the midgut and hemocytes of all tick developmental stages. Expression increased with tick development and was induced by blood feeding (Zhou et al., 2006b). Moreover, Hlcyst-2 expression was induced by injecting ticks with LPS or Babesia gibsoni, suggesting a role in tick immunity. In vitro cultivation of B. gibsoni in the presence of Hlcyst-2 significantly inhibited pathogen growth (Zhou et al., 2006b). Hlcyst-1 and Hlcyst-2 also inhibited cysteine protease HlCPL-A with hemoglobinase activity, isolated from H. longicornis, which can act as natural target of these cystatins, suggesting an involvement of both the protease and its inhibitors in blood digestion (Yamaji et al., 2009a). Hlcyst-3 inhibited papain and cathepsin L, and its expression was detected preferentially in the midgut (Zhou et al., 2010).

JpIocys2 (Ixodes ovatum)

plocys2 was isolated from *I. ovatum* and was shown to modulate the enzymatic activity of cathepsins B, C, and L with cathepsin L as the preferred target (Parizi et al., 2015). Similar to BrBmcys2b and BrBmcys2c, Jplocys2 is considered to be involved in tick homeostasis and egg development.

JpIpcys2a, b, c (I. persulcatus)

Three novel cystatins from *I. persulcatus*, JpIpcys2a, b, and c, have recently been described in terms of sequence and structural analysis and expression profile (Rangel et al., 2017). All three possess a signal peptide and two disulfide bridges in their mature form. Although varying in their tertiary structure, all three *I. persulcatus* cystatins should bind human cathepsin L and papain, based on *in silico* analyses. Transcripts of all three cystatins were detected in almost all tissues (salivary glands, midgut, carcass) and stages (larvae, nymphs, adults) of tick development. The only exception was absence of JpIpcys2c transcripts in unfed larvae. Furthermore, vaccination of hamsters with a structurally similar BrBmcys2c cystatin from *R. microplus* did not show any cross-reactivity and did not lead to impaired *I. persulcatus* feeding or reproduction (Rangel et al., 2017).

Om-cystatin 1 and 2 (Ornithodoros moubata)

Om-cystatin 1 and 2 were described in a soft tick O. moubata (Grunclova et al., 2006). While Om-cystatin 1 transcripts were found only in the midguts of unfed ticks, Om-cystatin 2 mRNA was present in all tissues. Transcript levels were rapidly suppressed after tick feeding. Both possessed inhibitory activity against cathepsins B, C, and H and papain (Grunclova et al.,

Protoaco	Inhibitore	in	Tick-Host-Pathogon Interaction	n
FIOLEASE	II II IIDILOIS		I HUK-HUSI-FAILIUUEITIIIILEIAUIUI	а.

Cystatin	Tick species	Secreted	Effect (where known)	Tissue/stage	Target enzyme	References
Bmcystatin	R. microplus	N		SG, OVA, FB	Cathepsin L, VDTCE	Lima et al., 2006
3rBmcys2a	R. microplus	Yes		MG, OVA, FB		Imamura et al., 2013
3rBmcys2b	R. microplus	Yes		MG	Cathepsin B, C, L	Imamura et al., 2013; Pariz et al., 2015
3rBmcys2c	R. microplus	Yes		MG	Cathepsin C, L	Imamura et al., 2013; Pariz et al., 2015
3rBmcys2d, e	R. microplus	Yes		larvae		Imamura et al., 2013
Oystatin	A. americanum	Yes	RNAi caused decreased tick body weight, dying of ticks during feeding or disrupted feeding to the fully engorged state	MG, SG		Karim et al., 2005
HISC-1	H. Iongicomis	Yes		SG	Cathepsin L, papain	Yamaji et al., 2009b
Hcyst-1	H. longicomis	N	Regulated hemoglobin degradation	MG	Cathepsin B, H, L, papain, HICPL-A	Zhou et al., 2006b, 2009; Yamaji et al., 2009a, 2010
Hcyst-2	H. longicomis	Yes	Regulated hemoglobin degradation, inhibited Babesia growth in vitro	MG, SG, OVA, HE, FB	Cathepsin L, papain, HICPL-A	Zhou et al., 2006b; Yamaji et al., 2009a, 2010
Hcyst-3	H. longicomis	Yes		MG, SG, OVA, HE, FB	Cathepsin L, papain	Zhou et al., 2006b, 2010
Iplocys2	I. ovatum	Yes		Assumed MG	Cathepsin B, C, L	Parizi et al., 2015
Jplpcys2a, b, c	I. persulcatus	Yes		SG, MG / larvae, nymphs, adult	Cathapsin L, papain	Rangel et al., 2017
Om cystatin 1	O. moubata	Yes		MG	Cathepsin B, C, H	Grunclova et al., 2006
Dm cystatin 2	O. moubata	Yes	Inhibited TNF- α and IL-12 production by DC and proliferation of CD4+ T cells, immunization decreased tick feeding success	SG, OVA, MAL, MG	Cathepsin B, C, H, L, S, papain	Grunclova et al., 2006; Kotsyfakis et al., 2010
RHcyst-1	R. haemaphysaloides	N	Inhibitors, RNAi of RHcyst-1 impaired tick attachment rate and decreased hatching rate	Egg, larvae	Cathepsin B, C, H, L, S, papain	Wang et al., 2015b
RHcyst-2	R. haemaphysaloides	Yes		Egg, adult MG, SG, OVA, FB	Cathepsin B, C, H, L, S, papain	Wang et al., 2015a
Rmcystatin3	R. microplus	Yes		FB, HE	Cathepsin B, L, BmCl1	Lu et al., 2014
sialostatin L	I. scapularis	Yes	Inhibited CTL profileration, anti-inflammatory effects Impaired DC maturation and differentiation and T cells profileration Prevented experimential sattma, inhibited IL-9 production by Th9 cells and more only by invention IE-4	SG	Cathepsin C, L, V, X, papain Binds cathepsin S	Valenzuela et al., 2002 Kotsyfakis et al., 2006 Sa-Nunes et al., 2009
			Decreased IFN-B production in DC and DC maturation			Horka et al., 2012; Klein et al., 2015
			Attenuated IFN-p-triggered JAK/STAT signaling pathway in dendritic cells			Lieskovska et al., 2015a
Saloctatin 9	l scanilaris	Vac	RNAi caused tick mortality reduced weight and lass erge	SM PS	Cathenein C. L. S. V	Lleskovska et al., 20130 Kotevfakie et al. 2007
			Immunization caused decreased feeding ability of nymphs			Kotsyfakis et al., 2008
			Enhanced establishment of Borrelia infection			Kotsyfakis et al., 2010
			Inhibited caspase-1 maturation and diminished IL-18 secretion by macrophages during <i>AnaDasma phagocytophilum</i> infection			Chen et al., 2014
			Attenuated IFN-B-triggered JAK/STAT signaling in DC and promotes TBEV			Lieskovska et al., 2015a,b

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

May 2017 | Volume 7 | Article 216

2006). Om-cystatin 2 was further functionally and structurally characterized under the name OmC2 (Salát et al., 2010). OmC2 inhibited the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF and IL-12 by DC after LPS stimulation and reduced antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cell proliferation induced by DC (Salát et al., 2010). Exposing OmC2 immunized mice to *O. moubata* nymphs reduced feeding ability and increased mortality during nymphal development to the next stage. Interestingly, nymphs mortality was positively correlated with higher titers of anti-OmC2 antibodies in the serum (Salát et al., 2010).

RHcyst-1 and RHcyst-2 (R. haemaphysaloides)

Two cystatins have been described in *R. haemaphysaloides*, RHcyst-1 and RHcyst-2. RHcyst-1 is an intracellular type 1 cystatin that inhibited cathepsins L, B, C, H, and S and papain, with strongest affinity to cathepsin S (Wang et al., 2015b). RHcyst-1 was expressed at all developmental stages but was most abundant in tick eggs, and its expression decreased throughout the development. RNAi of RHcyst-1 reduced the attachment rate of adult ticks and decreased hatching rate (Wang et al., 2015b). RHcyst-2 is a secreted type 2 cystatin that inhibited the same cathepsins as RHcyst-1 (Wang et al., 2015a) and was again present at all developmental stages with highest expression in eggs. However, RHcyst-2 expression increased during blood feeding, and RHcyst-2 was secreted to the host during tick feeding according to immunodetection methods (Wang et al., 2015a).

Rmcystatin3 (R. microplus)

Rmcystatin3 inhibited cathepsins L and B and <u>B</u>oophilus <u>microplus cathepsin L-1</u> (BmCl1) (Lu et al., 2014). Bmcystatin3 transcripts were found in tick hemocytes, fat bodies, and salivary glands, but protein was only detected in hemocytes and the fat bodies by western blotting. Infection of ticks with *E. coli* significantly downregulated Bmcystatin3 expression (Lu et al., 2014) but increased efficacy of pathogen clearance, suggesting that Rmcystatin3 may be a negative regulator of tick immune responses, probably by regulating cysteine proteases responsible for the production of antimicrobial effectors in hemocytes (Lu et al., 2014).

Sialostatin L (I. scapularis)

One of the best studied tick cystatins is sialostatin L, a type 2 cystatin detected in *I. scapularis.* Sialostatin L has preferential specificity for cathepsin L; however, cathepsins V, C, X, S, and papain were also inhibited in enzymatic assays (Kotsyfakis et al., 2006). In the same study, sialostatin L inhibited the proliferation of the cytotoxic T lymphocyte cell line CTLL-2, suggesting its effect on adaptive immunity. Moreover, the anti-inflammatory activity of sialostatin L was confirmed in a mouse model of carrageenan-induced paw edema, in which sialostatin L reduced edema and neutrophil myeloperoxidase activity (Kotsyfakis et al., 2006).

Sialostatin L has been shown to inhibit IL-2 and IL-9 production by Th9 lymphocytes (Horka et al., 2012). IL-9 production by Th cells is IL-2 dependent (Schmitt et al., 1994), but the addition of exogenous IL-2 did not rescue IL-9 synthesis, suggesting that mechanisms other than IL-2 reduction may be

involved in IL-9 inhibition (Horka et al., 2012). Nevertheless, the impairment of Th9 cells by sialostatin L abrogated the eosinophilia and airway hyperresponsiveness of mice challenged with OVA antigen (Horka et al., 2012). The inhibition of IL-9 production together with reduced expression of IL-1 β and IRF4 (interferon regulating factor 4) was also observed in mast cells, with IL-9 production rescued by the application of exogenous IL-1ß (Klein et al., 2015). The inhibition of IL-9 was IRF4 or IL-1β dependent, as proven by the fact that IRF4deficient or IL-1 receptor-deficient mast cells failed to produce IL-9. The transcription factor IRF4 binds to IL-1β and IL-9 promoters, implying that sialostatin L inhibits IL-9 production via its effect on IRF4 (Klein et al., 2015). Furthermore, mice with IRF4 knockdown in mast cells or mice administered with sialostatin L showed a strong reduction in eosinophilia and airway hyperresponsiveness, important symptoms of asthma. Conversely, sialostatin L did not affect mast cell degranulation or IL-6 expression (Klein et al., 2015).

Sialostatin L inhibits cathepsin S, resulting in reduced antigenspecific CD4⁺ T cell proliferation *in vitro* and *in vivo*; sialostatin L treatment during OVA immunization impaired early T cell expansion of splenocytes in OT-II mice and late recall immune responses by impairing the proliferation of lymph node cells (Sa-Nunes et al., 2009). Sialostatin L also potently prevented symptoms of experimental autoimmune encephalomyclitis in mice accompanied by impaired IFN- γ and IL-17 production and specific T cell proliferation (Sa-Nunes et al., 2009).

In addition to modulating T cells, sialostatin L inhibited DC maturation and reduced the production of IL-12 and TNF by DC (Sa-Nunes et al., 2009). These effects on DC can also be attributed to anti-cathepsin S activity, as cathepsin S plays a role in an invariant chain processing (Pierre and Mellman, 1998) and its inhibition thus leads to poor antigen presentation by DC (Sa-Nunes et al., 2009). Similar to another *L scapularis* cystatin Sialostatin L2 (Lieskovska et al., 2015b), sialostatin L attenuated IFN- β -triggered JAK/STAT signaling in DC (Lieskovska et al., 2015a). However, unlike Sialostatin L2, it did not suppress expression of the IP-10 chemokine or IRF-7, suggesting that these two cystatins can produce the same phenotype by impairing different pathways in the same cell (Chmelar et al., 2016). It also decreased IFN- β production in DC activated by either *Borrelia* or TLR-7 (igand (Lieskovska et al., 2015a).

Sialostatin L2 (I. scapularis)

Sialostatin L2 is an \overline{I} . scapularis cystatin similar in sequence to sialostatin L but with different anti-protease potency, antigenicity, and expression pattern. Unlike sialostatin L, sialostatin L2 transcripts accumulate in the salivary glands during tick feeding (Kotsyfakis et al., 2007). Its target proteases are cathepsins L, V, S, and C with preferential affinity for cathepsins L and V (Kotsyfakis et al., 2007). Sialostatin L2 was shown to inhibit inflammasome formation during infection with A. phagocytophilum (Chen et al., 2014) via sialostatin L2-driven inhibition of caspase-1 maturation, leading to diminished IL-1 β and IL-18 secretion by macrophages after stimulation with A. phagocytophilum (Chen et al., 2014). However, the mechanism was not due to direct caspase-1 or cathepsin L inhibition, but was

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

May 2017 | Volume 7 | Article 216

instead dependent on reactive oxygen species (ROS) production by NADPH oxidase that was affected by the Loop2 domain of the cystatin (Chen et al., 2014). As mentioned above, sialostatin L2 interfered with JAK/STAT signaling in DC (Lieskovska et al., 2015b), attenuating STAT phosphorylation upon IFN-β treatment and thus inhibiting the IFN-ß stimulated IP-10 and IRF7 chemokine genes (Lieskovska et al., 2015b). No interference with the IFN-B receptor was observed, so the downstream components of the pathway were most likely affected. Moreover, this activity enhanced the replication of tick borne encephalitis virus in DC (Lieskovska et al., 2015b). Sialostatin L2 decreased the production of specific DC chemokines MIP-1a and IP-10 in response to Borrelia (Lieskovska et al., 2015a). Upon LTA/TLR2 stimulation of DC, sialostatin L2 attenuated Erk1/2 phosphorylation, inhibited the PI3K pathway by reducing Akt phosphorylation, and also reduced NF-KB phosphorylation. Impaired Erk1/2 phosphorylation was the only effect observed for sialostatin L2 after stimulation of DC with Borrelia spirochetes (Lieskovska et al., 2015a).

The role of sialostatin L2 in Borrelia transmission and tick feeding has also been addressed. RNAi of sialostatin L2 led to 40% mortality in tick feeding, reduced tick size, and reduced the number of eggs by about 70% (Kotsyfakis et al., 2007). Similar effects were seen when I. scapularis nymphs were exposed to guinea pigs immunized with sialostatin L2 (Kotsyfakis et al., 2008). The rejection rate of nymphs fed on immunized animals was three times higher compared to controls, and the time needed to finish a blood meal was prolonged by approximately 1 day (Kotsyfakis et al., 2008). Moreover, IgG isolated from immunized animals reduced sialostatin L2 inhibitory activity against cathepsin L (Kotsyfakis et al., 2008). Of note, sialostatin L2 has been referred to as a "silent antigen," meaning that corresponding antibodies cannot be found in naïve animals exposed to ticks despite an increased titer of specific antibodies in animals pre-immunized with recombinant protein. This can be explained by the amount of sialostatin L2 injected via the saliva into the host being too small to elicit a response (Kotsvfakis et al., 2008). Sialostatin L2 has also been shown to play an important role in Borrelia infection (Kotsvfakis et al., 2010). The skin of mice simultaneously injected with Borrelia and sialostatin L2 contained six-times more spirochetes than controls. Sialostatin L2 does not appear to bind spirochetes directly and had no effect on Borrelia growth in vitro, so the mechanism of Borrelia growth boost in skin remains unknown (Kotsyfakis et al., 2010).

PROTEASE INHIBITORS AT THE TICK-HOST INTERFACE

Tick cystatins and serpins can obviously affect many intracellular pathways and thus impair the functions of host immune cells. Moreover, they can also interfere with extracellular proteolysis, thereby inhibiting hemostasis (**Figure 1**). These activities take place at the site of attachment, where they cause local immunosuppression and inhibition of blood clotting. Of note, different inhibitors can cause similar phenotypes by targeting different pathways or even different components of the same pathway. Their actions are therefore redundant. Conversely, more than one effect is usually observed for a single inhibitor. Such concept of redundancy and pluripotency is probably a strategy developed by ticks during long-term co-evolution with their hosts (Chmelar et al., 2016). There is no doubt that salivary secretion at the tick-host interface is beneficial for the tick and deleterious for the host. From this perspective, tick inhibitors represent an important and interesting research field for the development of anti-tick vaccines and tick control strategies.

As shown on vaccination experiments, tick serpins and cystatins can contribute to the establishment of pathogens in the host (Imamura et al., 2008; Kotsyfakis et al., 2010). Such role of serpins is in accordance with observed positive effect of activated plasminogen activation system (PAS) with upregulated serpin PAI-2 on the establishment of Borrelia burgdorferi infection. The facilitation of infection resulted from direct enhancement of Borrelia dissemination and from the inhibition of inflammatory infiltration to the site of exposure (Haile et al., 2006). Borrelia recurrentis was shown to bind host serpin-C1 inhibitor-on its surface and thus inhibit complement activation (Grosskinsky et al., 2010). On contrary, mammalian cystatins were shown as regulators of cysteine proteases like cathepsin S and L, which contribute to the establishment of several viral infections (Kopitar-Jerala, 2012). Thus, the involvement of cystatins in the establishment of microbial and viral infection is not clear and cannot be easily addressed without experimental evidence.

TICK PROTEASE INHIBITORS AS NOVEL DRUGS

Cystatins

The inhibition of target proteases with tick-derived inhibitors can, however, be beneficial in different scenarios. Almost all the mammalian serine and cysteine proteases that are targets of tick inhibitors described in this review play important roles in various human diseases and pathologies. For a long time, the functions of lysosomal cysteine cathepsins (B, C, F, H, K, L, O, S, V, X, and W) were thought to be strictly limited to intracellular protein degradation and cellular metabolism. Recently, many cathepsins have been shown to be involved in multiple pathological processes. For example, increased serum levels of cathepsin L are associated with metastatic stage of different cancer types and poor patient prognosis (Tumminello et al., 1996; Chen et al., 2011). Tumor cells can produce high amounts of cathepsin L, leading to high serum level, which is considered as blood marker of cancer (Denhardt et al., 1987). High concentration of cathepsin L in tumor and its vicinity leads to extracellular matrix degradation, higher tumor invasiveness, and several cancer-related health complications (Sudhan and Siemann, 2015). Other cysteine cathepsins may also participate in tumor invasion and metastasis (Kuester et al., 2008; Tan et al., 2013), so cystatins are considered possible effectors that could block the deleterious activity of cysteine cathepsins in cancer (Cox, 2009; Hap et al., 2011). Cysteine cathepsins also contribute to neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, and Huntington's disease and amyotrophic lateral

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

May 2017 | Volume 7 | Article 216



sclerosis (Figure 2A; Pislar and Kos, 2014). The leakage of lysosomal cathepsins induces neuronal apoptosis and can also increase the inflammatory milieu in the central nervous system (Pislar and Kos, 2014). Cysteine cathepsins are also implicated in the pathogenesis of psoriasis (Kawada et al., 1997), muscular dystrophy (Takeda et al., 1992), abdominal aortic aneurysm and atherosclerosis (Liu et al., 2006), osteoporosis and rheumatoid arthritis (Yasuda et al., 2005), and acute pancreatitis (Halangk et al., 2000). Relatively recent data are accumulating to suggest that cysteine cathepsins are promising therapeutic targets (Kos et al., 2014; Sudhan and Siemann, 2015). The wide spectrum of tick cystatins with varying specificities provides an opportunity to take advantage of this rich source of natural cathepsin inhibitors.

Serpins

Serine proteases are best known as the building blocks of proteolytic cascades in the blood such as coagulation (Figure 1) or complement activation. The portfolio of their activities, however, is much wider. Neutrophils, mast cells, natural killer cells, and cytotoxic T cells all produce serine proteases responsible for extracellular matrix remodeling, microbe killing, cytokine activation, signaling via protease-activated receptors (PARs), or chemoattraction of leukocytes. As regulators of many processes, serine proteases often contribute to disease pathologies. Some diseases, in which serine proteases are implicated, are shown in Figure 2B. Signaling via PARs and the activation of coagulation in the tumor microenvironment link coagulation proteases with some of the complications seen in cancer (Shi et al., 2004; Han et al., 2011; Lima and Monteiro, 2013). Neutrophil proteases from azurophilic granules, namely cathepsin G, elastase, and protease 3 (PR3), play crucial roles in neutrophil anti-microbial activity and are indispensable for the clearance of some pathogens (Hahn et al., 2011; Steinwede et al., 2012). Many studies have also described neutrophil proteases as important regulators of inflammatory and immune processes (Pham, 2006, 2008), albeit with deleterious effects in some cases. For instance, due to the large amounts of elastin present in the lung connective tissue, lungs are very sensitive to dysregulation and/or increased levels of elastolytic proteases such as neutrophil elastase (Sandhaus and Turino,



2013), which results in several lung diseases. Elastase and cathepsin G facilitate the spreading of metastases to the lungs due to the degradation of antitumorigenic factor thrombospondin-1 (El Rayes et al., 2015). Furthermore, neutrophil proteases have been implicated in the pathogenesis of cystic fibrosis (Twigg et al., 2015; Wagner et al., 2016), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (Shapiro, 2002; Owen, 2008), and emphysema (Ekeowa et al., 2009). În anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibody (ANCA)-associated vasculitides such as Wegener's granulomatosis, neutrophils are activated by auto-antibodies against PR3 (Niles et al., 1989), leading to the production of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) containing PR3 and to necrosis (Kessenbrock et al., 2009). Cathepsin G is chemotactic for monocytes in rheumatoid arthritis (Miyata et al., 2007), and the inhibition of neutrophil elastase improved some of the symptoms of this disease (Di Cesare Mannelli et al., 2016). Interestingly, obesity and metabolic syndrome also seem to be affected by neutrophil proteases (Talukdar et al., 2012; Mansuy-Aubert et al., 2013). Mast cells are another significant source of several serine proteases, mainly chymases and tryptases, which are involved in extracellular matrix remodeling, chemoattraction of neutrophils, and protein processing and activation (Pejler et al., 2010). Mast cell chymase and tryptase have been shown to be involved in the pathogenesis of abdominal aortic aneurysm (Sun et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2011) and atherosclerosis (Sun et al., 2007; Bot et al., 2015).

Due to these diverse and clinically relevant effects of serine proteases, their potential use as therapeutic targets is being thoroughly discussed by scientific community (Guay et al., 2006; Quinn et al., 2010; Caughey, 2016). Tick salivary glands express a large number of serine protease inhibitors with different specificities that could be used as novel drugs against malfunctioning proteases.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Novel pharmacoactive compounds are being developed either by artificial synthesis or by isolating potential candidates from various organisms including parasites (Cherniack, 2011). For instance, hirudin (a thrombin inhibitor from leeches) and its congener bivalrudin have been useful in the treatment of blood coagulation disorders (Kennedy et al., 2012). Ticks are parasites that have evolved multiple ways to evade or manipulate host immune and hemostatic systems (Chmelar et al., 2012). Tick saliva contains hundreds of proteins not only with antihemostatic features (Maritz-Olivier et al., 2007) but also with anti-complement, anti-inflammatory, and immunomodulatory effects on the host (Kazimirova and Stibraniova, 2013).

As discussed in this review, salivary cystatins and serpins display such features and their functions have been studied thoroughly. Moreover, both superfamilies are represented in the vertebrate host and the functions of their members are often known. Therefore, we can predict at least to some degree, which processes or pathways will be targeted by tick proteins. An important advantage of cystatins and serpins is their functional specificity; for example, sialostatins L and L2 cause similar phenotypes (inhibition of IFN-β signaling) either by inhibiting the IFN-β production (sialostatin L) or by inhibiting STAT3 phosphorylation downstream from IFN-B (sialostatin L2) (Lieskovska et al., 2015a,b). The possibility of targeting specific processes is crucial for the development of "patient-tailored" immunotherapeutic strategies (Scherer et al., 2010; Stephenson et al., 2016). Furthermore, tick cystatins and serpins are not the only families in ticks that deserve attention, since there are many tick-specific proteins secreted into the saliva of unknown function. Characterizing ticks using the transcriptomic approach has created a broad field and data

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

repository, which we can search for novel drugs and potential therapeutics.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JC and JK wrote the manuscript, JK prepared the tables, JC prepared the figures, HL and MK edited and revised the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Amara, U., Rittirsch, D., Flierl, M., Bruckner, U., Klos, A., Gebhard, F., et al. (2008). Interaction between the coagulation and complement system. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 632, 71–79. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-78952-1_6
- Anguita, J., Ramamoorthi, N., Hovius, J. W., Das, S., Thomas, V., Persinski, R., et al. (2002). Salp15, an ixodes scapularis salivary protein, inhibits CD4(+) T cell activation. *Immunity* 16, 849–859. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00325-4
- Ayllon, N., Villar, M., Galindo, R. C., Kocan, K. M., Sima, R., Lopez, J. A., et al. (2015). Systems biology of tissue-specific response to Anaplasma phagocytophilum reveals differentiated apoptosis in the tick vector Ixodes scapularis. *PLoS Genet.* 11:e1005120. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1005120
- Bania, J., Stachowiak, D., and Polanowski, A. (1999). Primary structure and properties of the cathepsin G/chymotrypsin inhibitor from the larval hemolymph of Apis mellifera. Eur. J. Biochem. 262, 680–687. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1327.1999.00406.x
- Belorgey, D., Hagglof, P., Karlsson-Li, S., and Lomas, D. A. (2007). Protein misfolding and the serpinopathies. Prion 1, 15–20. doi: 10.4161/pri.1.1.3974
- Bot, I., Shi, G. P., and Kovanen, P. T. (2015). Mast cells as effectors in atherosclerosis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 35, 265–271. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.303570
- Brossard, M., and Wikel, S. K. (2004). Tick immunobiology. Parasitology 129 (Suppl.), S161–S176. doi: 10.1017/S0031182004004834
- Calvo, E., Mizurini, D. M., Sa-Nunes, A., Ribeiro, J. M., Andersen, J. F., Mans, B. J., et al. (2011). Alboserpin, a factor Xa inhibitor from the mosquito vector of yellow fever, binds heparin and membrane phospholipids and exhibits antithrombotic activity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 27998–28010. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.247924
- Carrell, R. W., and Read, R. J. (2016). How serpins transport hormones and regulate their release. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 62, 133–141. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb. 2016.12.007
- Caughey, G. H. (2016). Mast cell proteases as pharmacological targets. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 778, 44–55. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2015.04.045
- Chalaire, K. C., Kim, T. K., Garcia-Rodriguez, H., and Mulenga, A. (2011). Amblyomma americanum (L.) (Acari: Isodidae) tick salivary gland serine protease inhibitor (serpin) 6 is secreted into tick saliva during tick feeding. J. Exp. Biol. 214, 665–673. doi: 10.1242/jeb.052076
- Chen, G., Wang, X., Severo, M. S., Sakhon, O. S., Sohail, M., Brown, L. J., et al. (2014). The tick salivary protein sialostatin L2 inhibits caspase-1-mediated inflammation during *Anaplasma phagocytophilum* infection. *Infect. Immun.* 82, 2553–2564. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01679-14
- Chen, Q., Fei, J., Wu, L., Jiang, Z., Wu, Y., Zheng, Y., et al. (2011). Detection of cathepsin B, cathepsin L, cystatin C, urokinase plasminogen activator and urokinase plasminogen activator receptor in the sera of lung cancer patients. *Oncol. Lett.* 2, 693–699. doi:10.3892/ol.2011.302
- Cherniack, E. P. (2011). Bugs as drugs, part two: worms, leeches, scorpions, snails, ticks, centipedes, and spiders. Altern. Med. Rev. 16, 50–58.
- Chmelar, J., Calvo, E., Pedra, J. H., Francischetti, I. M., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2012). Tick salivary secretion as a source of antihemostatics. J. Proteomics 75, 3842–3854. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2012.04.026
- Chmelar, J., Kotal, J., Kopecky, J., Pedra, J. H., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2016). All for one and one for all on the tick-host battlefield. *Trends Parasitol.* 32, 368–377. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2016.01.004
- Chmelar, J., Oliveira, C. J., Rezacova, P., Francischetti, I. M., Kovarova, Z., Pejler, G., et al. (2011). A tick salivary protein targets cathepsin G and chymase

FUNDING

This work was supported by Grant agency of the Czech Republic (grant 16-07117Y to JC), by Grant agency of the University of South Bohemia to JK (grant 038/2016/P) and by intramural institutional support from the Institute of Parasitology, Biology Center of the Czech Academy of Sciences [RVO 60077344] to MK and JK.

and inhibits host inflammation and platelet aggregation. *Blood* 117, 736-744. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-06-293241

- Colinet, D., Dubuffet, A., Cazes, D., Moreau, S., Drezen, J. M., and Poirie, M. (2009). A serpin from the parasitoid wasp *Leptopilina boulardi* targets the Drosophila phenoloxidase cascade. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.* 33, 681–689. doi: 10.1016/j.dci.2008.11.013
- Corral-Rodriguez, M. A., Macedo-Ribeiro, S., Barbosa Pereira, P. J., and Fuentes-Prior, P. (2009). Tick-derived Kunitz-type inhibitors as antihemostatic factors. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 39, 579–595. doi: 10.1016/j.ibmb.2009. 07.003
- Cox, J. L. (2009). Cystatins and cancer. Front. Biosci. (Landmark Ed) 14, 463–474. doi: 10.2741/3255
- Dai, S. X., Zhang, A. D., and Huang, J. F. (2012). Evolution, expansion and expression of the Kunitz/BPTI gene family associated with long-term blood feeding in Ixodes Scapularis. BMC Evol. Biol. 12:4. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-12-4
- Davis, R. L., Shrimpton, A. E., Holohan, P. D., Bradshaw, C., Feiglin, D., Collins, G. H., et al. (1999). Familial dementia caused by polymerization of mutant neuroserpin. *Nature* 401, 376–379. doi: 10.1038/43894
- Denhardt, D. T., Greenberg, A. H., Egan, S. E., Hamilton, R. T., and Wright, J. A. (1987). Cysteine proteinase cathepsin L expression correlates closely with the metastatic potential of H-ras-transformed murine fibroblasts. *Oncogene* 2, 55–59.
- Di Cesare Mannelli, L., Micheli, L., Cinci, L., Maresca, M., Vergelli, C., Pacini, A., et al. (2016). Effects of the neutrophil elastase inhibitor EL-17 in rat adjuvant-induced arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 55, 1285–1294. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kew055
- Ekeowa, U. I., Gooptu, B., Belorgey, D., Hagglof, P., Karlsson-Li, S., Miranda, E., et al. (2009). alpha1-Antitrypsin deficiency, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and the serpinopathies. *Clin. Sci.* 116, 837–850. doi: 10.1042/CS20080484
- El Rayes, T., Catena, R., Lee, S., Stawowczyk, M., Joshi, N., Fischbach, C., et al. (2015). Lung inflammation promotes metastasis through neutrophil proteasemediated degradation of Tsp-1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 112, 16000–16005. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1507294112
- Fogaca, A. C., Almeida, I. C., Eberlin, M. N., Tanaka, A. S., Bulet, P., and Daffre, S. (2006). Ixodidin, a novel antimicrobial peptide from the hemocytes of the cattle tick Boophilus microplus with inhibitory activity against serine proteinases. *Peptides* 27, 667–674. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2005.07.013
- Frazao, B., Vasconcelos, V., and Antunes, A. (2012). Sea anemone (Cnidaria, Anthozoa, Actiniaria) toxins: an overview. *Mar. Drugs* 10, 1812–1851. doi: 10.3390/md10081812
- Grosskinsky, S., Schott, M., Brenner, C., Cutler, S. J., Simon, M. M., and Wallich, R. (2010). Human complement regulators C4b-binding protein and C1 esterase inhibitor interact with a novel outer surface protein of *Borrelia recurrentis*. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 4:e698. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0000698
- Grunclova, L., Horn, M., Vancova, M., Sojka, D., Franta, Z., Mares, M., et al. (2006). Two secreted cystatins of the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata: differential expression pattern and inhibitory specificity. Biol. Chem. 387, 1635–1644. doi: 10.1515/BC.2006.204
- Guay, C., Laviolette, M., and Tremblay, G. M. (2006). Targeting serine proteases in asthma. Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 6, 393–402. doi: 10.2174/156802606776287054
- Gulia-Nuss, M., Nuss, A. B., Meyer, J. M., Sonenshine, D. E., Roe, R. M., Waterhouse, R. M., et al. (2016). Genomic insights into the Ixodes scapularis tick vector of Lyme disease. *Nat. Commun.* 7:10507. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10507

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

May 2017 | Volume 7 | Article 216

- Gulley, M. M., Zhang, X., and Michel, K. (2013). The roles of serpins in mosquito immunology and physiology. J. Insect Physiol. 59, 138–147. doi: 10.1016/j.jinsphys.2012.08.015
- Hahn, I., Klaus, A., Janze, A. K., Steinwede, K., Ding, N., Bohling, J., et al. (2011). Cathepsin G and neutrophil elastase play critical and nonredundant roles in lung-protective immunity against *Streptococcus pneumoniae* in mice. *Infect. Immun.* 79, 4893–4901. doi: 10.1128/IAI.05593-11
- Haile, W. B., Coleman, J. L., and Benach, J. L. (2006). Reciprocal upregulation of urokinase plasminogen activator and its inhibitor, PAI-2, by *Borrelia burgdorferi* affects bacterial penetration and host-inflammatory response. *Cell. Microbiol.* 8, 1349–1360. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2006.00717.x
- Halangk, W., Lerch, M. M., Brandt-Nedelev, B., Roth, W., Ruthenbuerger, M., Reinheckel, T., et al. (2000). Role of cathepsin B in intracellular trypsinogen activation and the onset of acute pancreatitis. J. Clin. Invest. 106, 773–781. doi: 10.1172/JCI9411
- Han, N., Jin, K., He, K., Cao, J., and Teng, L. (2011). Protease-activated receptors in cancer: a systematic review. Oncol. Lett. 2, 599–608. doi: 10.3892/ol.2011.291
- Hap, A., Kielan, W., Grzebieniak, Z., Siewinski, M., Rudnicki, J., Tarnawa, R., et al. (2011). Control of active B and L cathepsins in tissues of colorectal cancer using cystatins isolated from chicken egg proteins: *in vitro* studies. *Folia Histochem. Cytobiol.* 49, 670–676. doi: 10.5603/FHC.2011.0075
- Heit, C., Jackson, B. C., Mcandrews, M., Wright, M. W., Thompson, D. C., Silverman, G. A., et al. (2013). Update of the human and mouse SERPIN gene superfamily. *Hum. Genomics* 7:22. doi: 10.1186/1479-7364-7-22
- Horka, H., Staudt, V., Klein, M., Taube, C., Reuter, S., Dehzad, N., et al. (2012). The tick salivary protein sialostatin L inhibits the Th9-derived production of the asthma-promoting cytokine IL-9 and is effective in the prevention of experimental asthma. J. Immunol. 188, 2669–2676. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1100529
- Horn, M., Nussbaumerova, M., Sanda, M., Kovarova, Z., Srba, J., Franta, Z., et al. (2009). Hemoglobin digestion in blood-feeding ticks: mapping a multipeptidase pathway by functional proteomics. *Chem. Biol.* 16, 1053–1063. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2009.09.009
- Huntington, J. A., and Li, W. (2009). Structural insights into the multiple functions of protein C inhibitor. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 66, 113–121. doi: 10.1007/s00018-008-8371-0
- Ibelli, A. M., Hermance, M. M., Kim, T. K., Gonzalez, C. L., and Mulenga, A. (2013). Bioinformatics and expression analyses of the Ixodes scapularis tick cystatin family. *Exp. Appl. Acarol.* 60, 41–53. doi: 10.1007/s10493-012-9613-2
- Ibelli, A. M., Kim, T. K., Hill, C. C., Lewis, L. A., Bakshi, M., Miller, S., et al. (2014). A blood meal-induced Ixodes scapularis tick saliva serpin inhibits trypsin and thrombin, and interferes with platelet aggregation and blood clotting. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 44, 369–379. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2014.01.010
- Imamura, S., Da Silva Vaz Junior, I., Sugino, M., Ohashi, K., and Onuma, M. (2005). A serine protease inhibitor (serpin) from *Haemaphysalis longicornis* as an anti-tick vaccine. 24 Naccine 23, 1301–1311. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.08.041
- Imamura, S., Konnai, S., Vaz Ida, S., Yamada, S., Nakajima, C., Ito, Y., et al. (2008). Effects of anti-tick cocktail vaccine against *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus. Jpn. J. Vet. Res.* 56, 85–98. doi: 10.14943/jjvr.56.2.85
- Imamura, S., Konnai, S., Yamada, S., Parizi, L. F., Githaka, N., Vaz Ida, S. Jr., et al. (2013). Identification and partial characterization of a gut *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus* cystatin. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 4, 138–144. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2012.11.001
- Imamura, S., Namangala, B., Tajima, T., Tembo, M. E., Yasuda, J., Ohashi, K., et al. (2006). Two serine protease inhibitors (serpins) that induce a bovine protective immune response against *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus* ticks. *Vaccine* 24, 2230–2237. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.10.055
- Jin, C., and Flavell, R. A. (2010). Molecular mechanism of NLRP3 inflammasome activation. J. Clin. Immunol. 30, 628–631. doi: 10.1007/s10875-010-9440-3
- Jittapalapong, S., Kaewhom, P., Pumhom, P., Canales, M., De La Fuente, J., and Stich, R. W. (2010). Immunization of rabbits with recombinant serine protease inhibitor reduces the performance of adult female *Rhipicephalus microplus*. *Transbound. Emerg. Dis.* 57, 103–106. doi: 10.1111/j.1865-1682.2010.01108.x
- Kaewhom, P., Sirinarumitr, T., Chantakru, S., and Jittapalapong, S. (2007). Cloning and characterization of cDNA encoding a serine protease inhibitor from salivary glands of thai cattle tick (*Boophilus microplus*). Kasetsart J. (Nat. Sci.) 41, 74–80.

- Kanost, M. R. (1999). Serine proteinase inhibitors in arthropod immunity. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 23, 291–301. doi: 10.1016/S0145-305X(99)00012-9
- Karim, S., Miller, N. J., Valenzuela, J., Sauer, J. R., and Mather, T. N. (2005). RNAI-mediated gene silencing to assess the role of synaptobrevin and cystatin in tick blood feeding. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 334, 1336–1342. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.07.036
- Karim, S., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2015). An Insight into the Sialome of the Lone Star Tick, Amblyomma americanum, with a Glimpse on its time dependent gene expression. PLoS ONE 10:e0131292. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131292
- Karim, S., Singh, P., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2011). A deep insight into the sialotranscriptome of the gulf coast tick, Amblyomma maculatum. PLoS ONE 6:e28525, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028525
- Kawada, A., Hara, K., Kominami, E., Hiruma, M., Noguchi, H., and Ishibashi, A. (1997). Processing of cathepsins I., B and D in psoriatic epidermis. Arch. Dermatol. Res. 289, 87–93. doi: 10.1007/s004030050160
- Kazimirova, M., and Stibraniova, I. (2013). Tick salivary compounds: their role in modulation of host defences and pathogen transmission. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 3:43. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2013.00043
- Kennedy, B., Gargoum, F. S., Kennedy, L., Khan, F., Curran, D. R., and O'connor, T. M. (2012). Emerging anticoagulants. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 19, 3388–3416. doi: 10.2174/092986712801215847
- Kessenbrock, K., Krumbholz, M., Schonermarck, U., Back, W., Gross, W. L., Werb, Z., et al. (2009). Netting neutrophils in autoimmune small-vessel vasculitis. Nat. Med. 15, 623–625. doi: 10.1038/nm.1959
- Kim, H. S., Krege, J. H., Kluckman, K. D., Hagaman, J. R., Hodgin, J. B., Best, C. F., et al. (1995). Genetic control of blood pressure and the angiotensinogen locus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 92, 2735–2739. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.7.2735
- Kim, T. K., Radulovic, Z., and Mulenga, A. (2016). Target validation of highly conserved Amblyomma americanum tick saliva serine protease inhibitor 19. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 7, 405–414. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2015.12.017
- Kim, T. K., Tirloni, L., Radulovic, Z., Lewis, L., Bakshi, M., Hill, C., et al. (2015). Conserved Amblyomma americanum tick Serpin19, an inhibitor of blood clotting factors Xa and XIa, trypsin and plasmin, has anti-haemostatic functions. Int. J. Parasitol. 45, 613–627. doi: 10.1016/j.ipara.2015.03.009
- Klein, M., Bruhl, T. J., Staudt, V., Reuter, S., Grebe, N., Gerlitzki, B., et al. (2015). Tick salivary sialostatin L represses the initiation of immune responses by targeting IRF4-dependent transcription in murine mast cells. J. Immunol. 195, 621–631. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401823
- Kopitar-Jerala, N. (2012). The role of cysteine proteinases and their inhibitors in the host-pathogen cross talk. *Curr. Protein Pept. Sci.* 13, 767–775. doi: 10.2174/138920312804871102
- Kordis, D., and Turk, V. (2009). Phylogenomic analysis of the cystatin superfamily in eukaryotes and prokaryotes. BMC Evol. Biol. 9:266. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-9-266
- Kos, J., Mitrovic, A., and Mirkovic, B. (2014). The current stage of cathepsin B inhibitors as potential anticancer agents. *Future Med. Chem.* 6, 1355–1371. doi: 10.4155/fmc.14.73
- Kotsyfakis, M., Anderson, J. M., Andersen, J. F., Calvo, E., Francischetti, I. M., Mather, T. N., et al. (2008). Cutting edge: immunity against a "silent" salivary antigen of the Lyme vector Ixodes scapularis impairs its ability to feed. J. Immunol. 181, 5209–5212. doi: 10.1049/jimmunol.181.8.5209
- Kotsyfakis, M., Horka, H., Salat, J., and Andersen, J. F. (2010). The crystal structures of two salivary cystatins from the tick *Ixodes scapularis* and the effect of these inhibitors on the establishment of Borrelia burgdorferi infection in a murine model. *Mol. Microbiol.* 77, 456–470. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07220.x
- Kotsyfakis, M., Karim, S., Andersen, J. F., Mather, T. N., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2007). Selective cysteine protease inhibition contributes to blood-feeding success of the tick *Ixodes scapularis*. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 29256–29263. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M703143200
- Kotsyfakis, M., Kopacek, P., Franta, Z., Pedra, J. H., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2015a). Deep Sequencing Analysis of the Ixodes ricinus Haemocytome. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 9:e0003754. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0003754
- Kotsyfakis, M., Sa-Nunes, A., Francischetti, I. M., Mather, T. N., Andersen, J. F., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2006). Antiinflammatory and immunosuppressive activity of sialostatin L, a salivary cystatin from the tick Ixodes scapularis. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 26298–26307. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M513010200

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

May 2017 | Volume 7 | Article 216

- Kotsyfakis, M., Schwarz, A., Erhart, J., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2015b). Tissue- and timedependent transcription in Ixodes ricinus salivary glands and midguts when blood feeding on the vertebrate host. *Sci. Rep.* 5:9103. doi: 10.1038/srep09103
- Kovarova, Z., Chmelar, J., Sanda, M., Brynda, J., Mares, M., and Rezacova, P. (2010). Crystallization and diffraction analysis of the serpin IRS-2 from the hard tick Ixodes ricinus. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. F Struct. Biol. Cryst. Commun. 66, 1453–1457. doi: 10.1107/S1744309110032343
- Kuester, D., Lippert, H., Roessner, A., and Krueger, S. (2008). The cathepsin family and their role in colorectal cancer. *Pathol. Res. Pract.* 204, 491–500. doi: 10.1016/j.prp.2008.04.010
- Law, R. H., Zhang, Q., Mcgowan, S., Buckle, A. M., Silverman, G. A., Wong, W., et al. (2006). An overview of the serpin superfamily. *Genome Biol.* 7:216. doi: 10.1186/gb-2006-7-5-216
- Leboulle, G., Crippa, M., Decrem, Y., Mejri, N., Brossard, M., Bollen, A., et al. (2002a). Characterization of a novel salivary immunosuppressive protein from Ixodes ricinus ticks. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 10083–10089. doi: 10.1074/ibc.M111391200
- Leboulle, G., Rochez, C., Louahed, J., Ruti, B., Brossard, M., Bollen, A., et al. (2002b). Isolation of Ixodes ricinus salivary gland mRNA encoding factors induced during blood feeding. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 66, 225–233. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.2002.66.225
- Li, J., Zhang, C., Xu, X., Wang, J., Yu, H., Lai, R., et al. (2007). Trypsin inhibitory loop is an excellent lead structure to design serine protease inhibitors and antimicrobial peptides. FASEB J. 21, 2466–2473. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-7966com
- Lieskovska, J., Palenikova, J., Langhansova, H., Campos Chagas, A., Calvo, E., Kotsyfakis, M., et al. (2015a). Tick sialostatins L and L2 differentially influence dendritic cell responses to Borrelia spirochetes. *Parasit. Vectors* 8:275. doi: 10.1186/s13071-015-0887-1
- Lieskovska, J., Palenikova, J., Sirmarova, J., Elsterova, J., Kotsyfakis, M., Campos Chagas, A., et al. (2015b). Tick salivary cystatin sialostatin L2 suppresses IFN responses in mouse dendritic cells. *Parasite Immunol.* 37, 70–78. doi: 10.1111/joim.12162
- Lima, C. A., Sasaki, S. D., and Tanaka, A. S. (2006). Bmcystatin, a cysteine proteinase inhibitor characterized from the tick *Boophilus microplus. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 347, 44–50. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.06.018
- Lima, L. G., and Monteiro, R. Q. (2013). Activation of blood coagulation in cancer: implications for tumour progression. *Biosci. Rep.* 33:pii: e00064. doi: 10.1042/BSR20130057
- Liu, J., Sukhova, G. K., Yang, J. T., Sun, J., Ma, L., Ren, A., et al. (2006). Cathepsin L expression and regulation in human abdominal aortic aneurysm, atherosclerosis, and vascular cells. *Atherosclerosis* 184, 302–311. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2005.05.012
- Liu, X. Y., De La Fuente, J., Cote, M., Galindo, R. C., Moutailler, S., Vayssier-Taussat, M., et al. (2014). IrSPI, a tick serine protease inhibitor involved in tick feeding and Bartonella henselae infection. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 8:e2993. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0002993
- Lomas, D. A., Hurst, J. R., and Gooptu, B. (2016). Update on alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency: new therapies. J. Hepatol. 65, 413–424. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2016.03.010
- Lu, H., Cassis, L. A., Kooi, C. W., and Daugherty, A. (2016). Structure and functions of angiotensinogen. *Hypertens. Res.* 39, 492–500. doi: 10.1038/hr.2016.17
- Lu, S., Soares, T. S., Vaz Junior, I. S., Lovato, D. V., and Tanaka, A. S. (2014). Rmcystatin3, a cysteine protease inhibitor from Rhipicephalus microplus hemocytes involved in immune response. *Biochimie* 106, 17–23. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2014.07.012
- Mansuy-Aubert, V., Zhou, Q. L., Xie, X., Gong, Z., Huang, J. Y., Khan, A. R., et al. (2013). Imbalance between neutrophil elastase and its inhibitor alphalantitrypsin in obesity alters insulin sensitivity, inflammation, and energy expenditure. Cell Metab 17, 534–548. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.03.005
- Maritz-Olivier, C., Stutzer, C., Jongejan, F., Neitz, A. W., and Gaspar, A. R. (2007). Tick anti-hemostatics: targets for future vaccines and therapeutics. *Trends Parasitol.* 23, 397–407. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2007.07.005
- Meekins, D. A., Kanost, M. R., and Michel, K. (2017). Serpins in arthropod biology. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 62, 105–119. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2016. 09.001
- Miyata, J., Tani, K., Sato, K., Otsuka, S., Urata, T., Lkhagvaa, B., et al. (2007). Cathepsin G: the significance in rheumatoid arthritis as a monocyte

chemoattractant. Rheumatol Int. 27, 375-382. doi: 10.1007/s00296-006-0210-8

- Moreira, H. N., Barcelos, R. M., Vidigal, P. M., Klein, R. C., Montandon, C. E., Maciel, T. E., et al. (2017). A deep insight into the whole transcriptome of midguts, ovaries and salivary glands of the Amblyomma sculptum tick. Parasitol. Int. 66, 64–73. doi: 10.1016/j.parint.2016.10.011
- Mulenga, A., Blandon, M., and Khumthong, R. (2007a). The molecular basis of the Amblyomma americanum tick attachment phase. Exp. Appl. Acarol. 41, 267–287. doi: 10.1007/s10493-007-9064-3
- Mulenga, A., Khumthong, R., and Blandon, M. A. (2007b). Molecular and expression analysis of a family of the *Amblyomma americanum* tick Lospins. *J. Exp. Biol.* 210, 3188–3198. doi: 10.1242/jeb.006494
- Mulenga, A., Khumthong, R., and Chalaire, K. C. (2009). Ixodes scapularis tick serine proteinase inhibitor (serpin) gene family; annotation and transcriptional analysis. *BMC Genomics* 10:217. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-10-217
- Mulenga, A., Khumthong, R., Chalaire, K. C., Strey, O., and Teel, P. (2008). Molecular and biological characterization of the *Amblyomma americanum* organic anion transporter polypeptide. J. Exp. Biol. 211, 3401–3408. doi: 10.1242/jeb.022376
- Mulenga, A., Kim, T., and Ibelli, A. M. (2013). Amblyomma americanum tick saliva serine protease inhibitor 6 is a cross-class inhibitor of serine proteases and papain-like cysteine proteases that delays plasma clotting and inhibits platelet aggregation. *Insect. Mol. Biol.* 22, 306–319. doi: 10.1111/imb. 12024
- Mulenga, A., Tsuda, A., Onuma, M., and Sugimoto, C. (2003). Four serine proteinase inhibitors (serpin) from the brown ear tick, Rhiphicephalus appendiculatus; cDNA cloning and preliminary characterization. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 33, 267–276. doi: 10.1016/S0965-1748(02) 00240-0
- Muller, S., Dennemarker, J., and Reinheckel, T. (2012). Specific functions of lysosomal proteases in endocytic and autophagic pathways. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1824, 34–43. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2011.07.003
- Nickel, W. (2003). The mystery of nonclassical protein secretion. A current view on cargo proteins and potential export routes. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 270, 2109–2119. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1033.2003.03577.x
- Niles, J. L., Mccluskey, R. T., Ahmad, M. F., and Arnaout, M. A. (1989). Wegener's granulomatosis autoantigen is a novel neutrophil serine proteinase. *Blood* 74, 1888–1893.
- Ooi, C. P., Haines, L. R., Southern, D. M., Lehane, M. J., and Acosta-Serrano, A. (2015). Tsetse GmmSRPN10 has anti-complement activity and is important for successful establishment of trypanosome infections in the fly midgut. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 9:e3448. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0003448
- Owen, C. A. (2008). Roles for proteinases in the pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Int. J. Chron. Obstruct. Pulmon. Dis. 3, 253–268. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S2089
- Pal, U., Li, X., Wang, T., Montgomery, R. R., Ramamoorthi, N., Desilva, A. M., et al. (2004). TROSPA, an Ixodes scapularis receptor for *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Cell* 119, 457–468. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2004.10.027
- Palenikova, J., Lieskovska, J., Langhansova, H., Kotsyfakis, M., Chmelar, J., and Kopecky, J. (2015). Ixodes ricinus salivary serpin IRS-2 affects Th17 differentiation via inhibition of the interleukin-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway. *Infect. Immun.* 83, 1949–1956. doi: 10.1128/IAI.03065-14
- Parizi, L. F., Sabadin, G. A., Alzugaray, M. F., Seixas, A., Logullo, C., Konnai, S., et al. (2015). *Bhipicephalus microplus and Ixodes ovatus cystatins in tick blood digestion and evasion of host immune response. Parasit. Vectors* 8:122. doi: 10.1186/s13071-015-0743-3
- Pejler, G., Ronnberg, E., Waern, I., and Wernersson, S. (2010). Mast cell proteases: multifaceted regulators of inflammatory disease. *Blood* 115, 4981–4990. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-01-257287
- Perner, J., Provaznik, J., Schrenkova, J., Urbanova, V., Ribeiro, J. M., and Kopacek, P. (2016). RNA-seq analyses of the midgut from blood- and serum-fed Ixodes ricinus ticks. *Sci. Rep.* 6:36695. doi: 10.1038/srep36695 Pham, C. T. (2006). Neutrophil serine proteases: specific regulators of
- Pham, C. T. (2006). Neutrophil serine proteases: specific regulators of inflammation. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 6, 541–550. doi: 10.1038/nri1841
- Pham, C. T. (2008). Neutrophil serine proteases fine-tune the inflammatory response. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 40, 1317–1333. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2007.11.008

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

May 2017 | Volume 7 | Article 216

- Pierre, P., and Mellman, I. (1998). Developmental regulation of invariant chain proteolysis controls MHC class II trafficking in mouse dendritic cells. *Cell* 93, 1135–1145. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81458-0
- Pislar, A., and Kos, J. (2014). Cysteine cathepsins in neurological disorders. Mol. Neurobiol. 49, 1017–1030. doi: 10.1007/s12035-013-8576-6
- Porter, L. M., Radulovic, Z. M., and Mulenga, A. (2017). A repertoire of protease inhibitor families in *Amblyomma americanum* and other tick species: inter-species comparative analyses. *Parasit. Vectors* 10:152. doi: 10.1186/s13071-017-2080-1
- Porter, L., Radulovic, Z., Kim, T., Braz, G. R., Da Silva Vaz, I. Jr., and Mulenga, A. (2015). Bioinformatic analyses of male and female Amblyomma americanum tick expressed serine protease inhibitors (serpins). *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 6, 16–30. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2014.08.002
- Prevot, P. P., Adam, B., Boudjeltia, K. Z., Brossard, M., Lins, L., Cauchie, P., et al. (2006). Anti-hemostatic effects of a serpin from the saliva of the tick Ixodes ricinus. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 26361–26369. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M604197200
- Prevot, P. P., Beschin, A., Lins, L., Beaufays, J., Grosjean, A., Bruys, L., et al. (2009). Exosites mediate the anti-inflammatory effects of a multifunctional serpin from the saliva of the tick *Ixodes ricinus*. *FEBS J.* 276, 3235–3246. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07038.x
- Prevot, P. P., Couvreur, B., Denis, V., Brossard, M., Vanhamme, L., and Godfroid, E. (2007). Protective immunity against Ixodes ricinus induced by a salivary serpin. *Vaccine* 25, 3284–3292. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.01.008
- Quinn, D. J., Weldon, S., and Taggart, C. C. (2010). Antiproteases as therapeutics to target inflammation in cystic fibrosis. *Open Respir. Med. J.* 4, 20–31. doi: 10.2174/1874306401004010020
- Rangel, C. K., Parizi, L. F., Sabadin, G. A., Costa, E. P., Romeiro, N. C., Isezaki, M., et al. (2017). Molecular and structural characterization of novel cystatins from the taiga tick Ixodes persulcatus. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 8, 432–441. doi: 10.1016/it.tbdis.2017.01.007
- Rawlings, N. D., and Barrett, A. J. (1990). Evolution of proteins of the cystatin superfamily. J. Mol. Evol. 30, 60–71. doi: 10.1007/BF02102453
- Rawlings, N. D., and Salvesen, G. (2013). Handbook of Proteolytic Enzymes, 3rd Edn. London; Boston: Academic Press.
- Ribeiro, J. M., Slovak, M., and Francischetti, I. M. (2017). An insight into the sialome of *Hyalomma excavatum*. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 8, 201–207. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2016.08.011
- Rimphanitchayakit, V., and Tassanakajon, A. (2010). Structure and function of invertebrate Kazal-type serine proteinase inhibitors. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.* 34, 377–386. doi: 10.1016/j.dci.2009.12.004
- Rodriguez-Valle, M., Vance, M., Moolhuijzen, P. M., Tao, X., and Lew-Tabor, A. E. (2012). Differential recognition by tick-resistant cattle of the recombinantly expressed Rhipicephalus microplus serine protease inhibitor-3 (RMS-3). *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 3, 159–169. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2012.03.002
- Rodriguez-Valle, M., Xu, T., Kurscheid, S., and Lew-Tabor, A. E. (2015). *Rhipicephalus microplus* serine protease inhibitor family: annotation, expression and functional characterisation assessment. *Parasit. Vectors* 8:7. doi: 10.1186/s13071-014-0605-4
- Salát, J., Paesen, G. C., Rezácová, P., Kotsyfakis, M., Kovárová, Z., Sanda, M., et al. (2010). Crystal structure and functional characterization of an immunomodulatory salivary cystatin from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata. *Biochem. J.* 429, 103–112. doi: 10.1042/BJ20100280
- Sandhaus, R. A., and Turino, G. (2013). Neutrophil elastase-mediated lung disease. *COPD* 10 (Suppl. 1), 60–63. doi: 10.3109/15412555.2013.764403
- Sa-Nunes, A., Bafica, A., Antonelli, L. R., Choi, E. Y., Francischetti, I. M., Andersen, J. F., et al. (2009). The immunomodulatory action of sialostatin L on dendritic cells reveals its potential to interfere with autoimmunity. *J. Immunol.* 182, 7422-7429. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900075
- Sasaki, S. D., De Lima, C. A., Lovato, D. V., Juliano, M. A., Torquato, R. J., and Tanaka, A. S. (2008). BmSI-7, a novel subtilisin inhibitor from *Boophilus microplus*, with activity toward Pr1 proteases from the fungus *Metarhizium anisopliae*. *Exp. Parasitol*. 118, 214–220. doi: 10.1016/j.exppara.2007. 08.003
- Scherer, H. U., Dorner, T., and Burmester, G. R. (2010). Patient-tailored therapy in rheumatoid arthritis: an editorial review. *Curr. Opin. Rheumatol.* 22, 237–245. doi: 10.1097/BOR.0b013e328337b832
- Schmitt, E., Germann, T., Goedert, S., Hoehn, P., Huels, C., Koelsch, S., et al. (1994). IL-9 production of naive CD4+ T cells depends on IL-2, is

synergistically enhanced by a combination of TGF-beta and IL-4, and is inhibited by IFN-gamma. J. Immunol. 153, 3989–3996.

- Schwarz, A., Cabezas-Cruz, A., Kopecky, J., and Valdes, J. J. (2014). Understanding the evolutionary structural variability and target specificity of tick salivary Kunitz peptides using next generation transcriptome data. *BMC Evol. Biol.* 14:4. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-14-4
- Schwarz, A., Valdes, J. J., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2012). The role of cystatins in tick physiology and blood feeding. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 3, 117–127. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2012.03.004
- Schwarz, A., Von Reumont, B. M., Erhart, J., Chagas, A. C., Ribeiro, J. M., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2013). *De novo* Ixodes ricinus salivary gland transcriptome analysis using two next-generation sequencing methodologies. *FASEB J.* 27, 4745–4756. doi: 10.1096/fi.13-232140
- Shapiro, S. D. (2002). Proteinases in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 30, 98–102. doi: 10.1042/bst0300098
- Shi, X., Gangadharan, B., Brass, L. F., Ruf, W., and Mueller, B. M. (2004). Protease-activated receptors (PAR1 and PAR2) contribute to tumor cell motility and metastasis. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 2, 395–402. Available online at: http://mcr. aacrjournals.org/content/2/7/395.article-info
- Silverman, G. A., Whisstock, J. C., Bottomley, S. P., Huntington, J. A., Kaiserman, D., Luke, C. J., et al. (2010). Serpins flex their muscle: I. Putting the clamps on proteolysis in diverse biological systems. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 24299–24305. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R110.112771
- Stark, K. R., and James, A. A. (1995). A factor Xa-directed anticoagulant from the salivary glands of the yellow fever mosquito Aedes aegypti. Exp. Parasitol. 81, 321–331. doi: 10.1006/expr.1995.1123
- Stark, K. R., and James, A. A. (1998). Isolation and characterization of the gene encoding a novel factor Xa-directed anticoagulant from the yellow fever mosquito, Aedes aegypti. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 20802–20809. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.33.20802
- Steinwede, K., Maus, R., Bohling, J., Voedisch, S., Braun, A., Ochs, M., et al. (2012). Cathepsin G and neutrophil elastase contribute to lung-protective immunity against mycobacterial infections in mice. *J. Immunol.* 188, 4476-4487. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103346
- Stephenson, E., Savvatis, K., Mohiddin, S. A., and Marelli-Berg, F. M. (2016). Tcell immunity in myocardial inflammation: pathogenic role and therapeutic manipulation. Br. J. Pharmacol. doi: 10.1111/bph.13613
- Sudhan, D. R., and Siemann, D. W. (2015). Cathepsin L targeting in cancer treatment. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 155, 105–116. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2015.08.007
- Sugino, M., Imamura, S., Mulenga, A., Nakajima, M., Tsuda, A., Ohashi, K., et al. (2003). A serine proteinase inhibitor (serpin) from ixodid tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis*; cloning and preliminary assessment of its suitability as a candidate for a tick vaccine. *Vaccine* 21, 2844–2851. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(03) 00167-1
- Sun, J., Sukhova, G. K., Wolters, P. J., Yang, M., Kitamoto, S., Libby, P., et al. (2007). Mast cells pronote atherosclerosis by releasing proinflammatory cytokines. *Nat. Med.* 13, 719–724. doi: 10.1038/nm1601
- Sun, J., Zhang, J., Lindholt, J. S., Sukhova, G. K., Liu, J., He, A., et al. (2009). Critical role of mast cell chymase in mouse abdominal aortic aneurysm formation. *Circulation* 120, 973–982. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.849679
- Takeda, A., Jimi, T., Wakayama, Y., Misugi, N., Miyake, S., and Kumagai, T. (1992). Demonstration of cathepsins B, H and L in xenografts of normal and Duchenne-muscular-dystrophy muscles transplanted into nude mice. *Biochem.* J. 288 (Pt 2), 643–648. doi: 10.1042/bj2880643
- Talukdar, S., Oh, D. Y., Bandyopadhyay, G., Li, D., Xu, J., Mcnelis, J., et al. (2012). Neutrophils mediate insulin resistance in mice fed a high-fat diet through secreted elastase. *Nat. Med.* 18, 1407–1412. doi: 10.1038/nm.2885
- Tan, G. J., Peng, Z. K., Lu, J. P., and Tang, F. Q. (2013). Cathepsins mediate tumor metastasis. World J. Biol. Chem. 4, 91–101. doi: 10.4331/wjbc.v4.i4.91
- Tang, H. (2009). Regulation and function of the melanization reaction in Drosophila. Fly (Austin) 3, 105–111. doi: 10.4161/fly.3.1.7747
- Tirloni, L., Kim, T. K., Coutinho, M. L., Ali, A., Seixas, A., Termignoni, C., et al. (2016). The putative role of *Rhipicephalus microplus* salivary serpins in the tick-host relationship. *Insect. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 71, 12–28. doi: 10.1016/j.ibmb.2016.01.004
- Tirloni, L., Reck, J., Terra, R. M., Martins, J. R., Mulenga, A., Sherman, N. E., et al. (2014a). Proteomic analysis of cattle tick Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

May 2017 | Volume 7 | Article 216

saliva: a comparison between partially and fully engorged females. *PLoS ONE* 9:e94831. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0094831

- Tirloni, L., Seixas, A., Mulenga, A., Vaz Ida, S. Jr., and Termignoni, C. (2014b). A family of serine protease inhibitors (serpins) in the cattle tick Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus. *Exp. Parasitol.* 137, 25-34. doi: 10.1016/j.exppara.2013.12.001
- Toyomane, K., Konnai, S., Niwa, A., Githaka, N., Isezaki, M., Yamada, S., et al. (2016). Identification and the preliminary *in vitro* characterization of IRIS homologue from salivary glands of *Ixodes persulcatus* Schulze. *Ticks Tick Borne* Dis. 7, 119–125. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2015.09.006
- Tumminello, F. M., Leto, G., Pizzolanti, G., Candiloro, V., Crescimanno, M., Crosta, L., et al. (1996). Cathepsin D, B and L circulating levels as prognostic markers of malignant progression. *Anticancer Res.* 16, 2315-2319.
- Turk, V., Stoka, V., Vasiljeva, O., Renko, M., Sun, T., Turk, B., et al. (2012). Cysteine cathepsins: from structure, function and regulation to new frontiers. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1824, 68–88. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2011. 10.002
- Twigg, M. S., Brockbank, S., Lowry, P., Fitzgerald, S. P., Taggart, C., and Weldon, S. (2015). The Role of Serine Proteases and Antiproteases in the Cystic Fibrosis Lung. Mediators Inflamm. 2015;29053. doi: 10.1155/2015/29053
- Valdes, J. J., and Moal, I. H. (2014). Prediction of Kunitz ion channel effectors and protease inhibitors from the Ixodes ricinus sialome. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 5, 947–950. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2014.07.016
- Valenzuela, J. G., Francischetti, I. M., Pham, V. M., Garfield, M. K., Mather, T. N., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2002). Exploring the sialome of the tick *Ixodes scapularis*. J. *Exp. Biol.* 205, 2843–2864. Available online at: http://jeb.biologists.org/content/ 205/18/2843.article-info
- Wagner, C. J., Schultz, C., and Mall, M. A. (2016). Neutrophil elastase and matrix metalloproteinase 12 in cystic fibrosis lung disease. *Mol Cell Pediatr* 3:25. doi: 10.1186/s40348-016-0053-7
- Wang, Y., Yu, X., Cao, J., Zhou, Y., Gong, H., Zhang, H., et al. (2015a). Characterization of a secreted cystatin from the tick *Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides. Exp. Appl. Acarol.* 67, 289–298. doi: 10.1007/s10493-015-9946-8
- Wang, Y., Zhou, Y., Gong, H., Cao, J., Zhang, H., Li, X., et al. (2015b). Functional characterization of a cystatin from the tick Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides. *Parasit. Vectors* 8:140. doi: 10.1186/s13071-015-0725-5
- Whisstock, J. C., Silverman, G. A., Bird, P. I., Bottomley, S. P., Kaiserman, D., Luke, C. J., et al. (2010). Serpins flex their muscle: II. Structural insights into target peptidase recognition, polymerization, and transport functions. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 24307–24312. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R110.141408
- Wikel, S. (2013). Ticks and tick-borne pathogens at the cutaneous interface: host defenses, tick countermeasures, and a suitable environment for pathogen establishment. *Front. Microbiol.* 4:337. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2013. 00337
- Willadsen, P., Bird, P., Cobon, G. S., and Hungerford, J. (1995). Commercialisation of a recombinant vaccine against *Boophilus microplus. Parasitology* 110 (Suppl.), S43–S50. doi: 10.1017/S0031182000001487
- Xu, T., Lew-Tabor, A., and Rodriguez-Valle, M. (2016). Effective inhibition of thrombin by Rhipicephalus microplus serpin-15 (RmS-15) obtained in the yeast *Pichia pastoris. Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 7, 180–187. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2015.09.007
- Yamaji, K., Tsuji, N., Miyoshi, T., Hatta, T., Alim, M. A., Anisuzzaman, et al. (2010). Hlcyst-1 and Hlcyst-2 are potential inhibitors of HICPL-A in the midgut

of the ixodid tick Haemaphysalis longicornis. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 72, 599-604. doi: 10.1292/jvms.09-0561

- Yamaji, K., Tsuji, N., Miyoshi, T., Islam, M. K., Hatta, T., Alim, M. A., et al. (2009a). Hemoglobinase activity of a cysteine protease from the ixodid tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis. Parasitol. Int.* 58, 232–237. doi: 10.1016/j.parint.2009.05.003
- Yamaji, K., Tsuji, N., Miyoshi, T., Islam, M. K., Hatta, T., Alim, M. A., et al. (2009b). A salivary cystatin, HISC-1, from the ixodid tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis* play roles in the blood-feeding processes. *Parasitol. Res.* 106, 61–68. doi: 10.1007/s00436-009-1626-3
- Yasuda, Y., Kaleta, J., and Bromme, D. (2005). The role of cathepsins in osteoporosis and arthritis: rationale for the design of new therapeutics. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 57, 973–993. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2004.12.013
- Yu, Y., Cao, J., Zhou, Y., Zhang, H., and Zhou, J. (2013). Isolation and characterization of two novel serpins from the tick *Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides*. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 4, 297–303. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2013.02.001
- Zavasnik-Bergant, T. (2008). Cystatin protease inhibitors and immune functions. Front. Biosci. 13, 4625-4637. doi: 10.2741/3028
- Zeng, X. C., Liu, Y., Shi, W., Zhang, L., Luo, X., Nie, Y., et al. (2014). Genome-wide search and comparative genomic analysis of the trypsin inhibitor-like cysteine-rich domain-containing peptides. *Peptides* 53, 106–114. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2013.08.012
- Zhang, J., Sun, J., Lindholt, J. S., Sukhova, G. K., Sinnamon, M., Stevens, R. L., et al. (2011). Mast cell tryptase deficiency attenuates mouse abdominal aortic aneurysm formation. *Circ. Res.* 108, 1316–1327. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.243758
- Zhou, J., Liao, M., Gong, H., Xuan, X., and Fujisaki, K. (2010). Characterization of Hlcyst-3 as a member of cystatins from the tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis*. *Exp. Appl. Acarol.* 51, 327–333. doi: 10.1007/s10493-010-9336-1
- Zhou, J., Liao, M., Hatta, T., Tanaka, M., Xuan, X., and Fujisaki, K. (2006a). Identification of a follistatin-related protein from the tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis* and its effect on tick oviposition. *Gene* 372, 191–198. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2005.12.020
- Zhou, J., Liao, M., Ueda, M., Gong, H., Xuan, X., and Fujisaki, K. (2009). Characterization of an intracellular cystatin homolog from the tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis*. *Vet. Parasitol.* 160, 180–183. doi: 10.1016/i.vetbar.2008.10.086
- Zhou, J., Ueda, M., Umemiya, R., Battsetseg, B., Boldbaatar, D., Xuan, X., et al. (2006b). A secreted cystatin from the tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis* and its distinct expression patterns in relation to innate immunity. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 36, 527–535. doi: 10.1016/j.ibmb.2006. 03.003

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Chmelař, Kotál, Langhansová and Kotsyfakis. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

3.3. Manuscript 3:

Kotál, J., Stergiou, N., Buša, M., Chlastáková, A., Beránková, Z., Řezáčová, P., Langhansová, H., Schwarz, A., Calvo, E., Kopecký, J., Mareš, M., Schmitt, E., Chmelař, J., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2019) The structure and function of Iristatin, a novel immunosuppressive tick salivary cystatin. Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS 76, 2003-2013

A research Manuscript 3 focuses on characterization of an immunomodulatory cystatin from *I. ricinus* saliva. Tick saliva is rich in protease inhibitors that regulate host immune response to tick feeding. We present a novel secreted tick salivary cystatin, that we named Iristatin. Iristatin transcripts are upregulated in tick salivary glands during tick feeding. Recombinant Iristatin is an inhibitor of cathepsins C and L, while it did not affect other tested cysteine or serine proteases. More importantly, Iristatin showed a broad spectrum of immunomodulatory effects. It suppressed production of pro-inflammatory cytokines IFN- γ and IL-2 by stimulated Th1 cells, anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-4 by Th2 cells, IL-2 and IL-9 by Th9 cells and IL-9 and IL-6 production by mast cells. Iristatin further inhibited CD4+ T cells proliferation and leukocyte recruitment. Finally, we show a crystal structure of Iristatin. Iristatin is a potent immunosuppressor and its characterization can help us better understand the tick-host interaction.

Jan Kotál is the first author, designed and performed experiments, performed the analyses and wrote the manuscript.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



The structure and function of Iristatin, a novel immunosuppressive tick salivary cystatin

Jan Kotál^{1,2} · Natascha Stergiou³ · Michal Buša⁴ · Adéla Chlastáková² · Zuzana Beránková² · Pavlína Řezáčová⁴ · Helena Langhansová² · Alexandra Schwarz¹ · Eric Calvo⁵ · Jan Kopecký² · Michael Mareš⁴ · Edgar Schmitt³ · Jindřich Chmelař² · Michail Kotsyfakis¹

Received: 29 November 2018 / Revised: 14 January 2019 / Accepted: 28 January 2019 / Published online: 12 February 2019 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Abstract

To successfully feed, ticks inject pharmacoactive molecules into the vertebrate host including cystatin cysteine protease inhibitors. However, the molecular and cellular events modulated by tick saliva remain largely unknown. Here, we describe and characterize a novel immunomodulatory cystatin, Iristatin, which is upregulated in the salivary glands of feeding *Ixodes ricinus* ticks. We present the crystal structure of Iristatin at 1.76 Å resolution. Purified recombinant Iristatin inhibited the proteolytic activity of cathepsins L and C and diminished IL-2, IL-4, IL-9, and IFN- γ production by different T-cell populations, IL-6 and IL-9 production by macrophages. Furthermore, Iristatin inhibited OVA antigen-induced CD4⁺ T-cell proliferation and leukocyte recruitment in vivo and in vitro. Our results indicate that Iristatin affects wide range of anti-tick immune responses in the vertebrate host and may be exploitable as an immunotherapeutic.

Keywords Cathepsin · Crystal structure · Immune responses · Ixodes ricinus · Saliva

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-019-03034-3) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

Michail Kotsyfakis mich_kotsyfakis@yahoo.com

- ¹ Laboratory of Genomics and Proteomics of Disease Vectors, Biology Centre CAS, Institute of Parasitology, Branišovská 1160/31, 37005 České Budějovice, Czech Republic
- ² Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, Branišovská 1760c, 37005 České Budějovice, Czech Republic
- ³ Institute for Immunology, University Medical Center of the Johannes Gutenberg-University Mainz, Langenbeckstrasse 1, Mainz 55131, Germany
- ⁴ Institute of Organic Chemistry and Biochemistry, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, Flemingovo nám. 2, 16610 Prague, Czech Republic
- ⁵ Laboratory of Malaria and Vector Research, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, 12735 Twinbrook Parkway, Rockville, MD 20852, USA

Introduction

Ticks are obligatory ectoparasites that feed on the blood of their vertebrate hosts. Hard ticks (family Ixodidae) feed continuously for days to weeks during each life stage, so must overcome specific host antigen-specific immune responses, non-specific innate responses, and hemostasis to successfully finish their blood meal [1]. The hard tick *Ixodes ricinus* is an important arthropod disease vector of several pathogens in Europe [1]. To counteract vertebrate host anti-tick responses, *I. ricinus* secretes saliva rich in biomolecules that facilitate tick feeding and pathogen transmission [2].

Tick saliva affects blood coagulation, complement activation, and immune reaction in terms of immune cell recruitment, cytokine production, and cell maturation [2]. It also facilitates the transmission of *Borrelia*, *Anaplasma*, *Rickettsia*, and various viruses to the vertebrate host [2]. Protease inhibitors are an important group of tick salivary effectors that are divided according to specificity into serine and cysteine protease inhibitors, and according to structure into Kunitz domain inhibitors, serpins, cystatins, and other less abundant families [1]. Kunitz inhibitors are thought to be mainly anti-hemostatic, serpins both anti-hemostatic and

immunomodulatory, and cystatins mainly anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive [1, 3].

Cystatins are tight binding, reversible legumain, and papain-like cysteine protease inhibitors [4]. Cystatins are subdivided into three subfamilies according to the MEROPS nomenclature: I25A (type 1, stefins), I25B (type 2 and type 3, kininogens), and I25C (type 4, fetuins) [5]. Only type 1 and type 2 cystatins have, thus, far been identified in ticks [6]. Type 1 cystatins lack a signaling peptide for secretion and are, therefore, thought to regulate intracellular blood digestion in the tick midgut, while type 2 cystatins are secreted and expressed in both tick salivary glands and the midgut, and are, therefore, thought to play pleiotropic roles in both ticks and vertebrate hosts [6]. For example, sialostatin L, a cystatin identified in the hard tick Ixodes scapularis, inhibits cathepsins C, L, S, V, X, and papain, modulates cytokine production by lymphocytes, dendritic cells, and mast cells, and impairs T-cell proliferation [7, 8]. A similar cystatin in I. scapularis, sialostatin L2, inhibits cathepsins C, L, S, and V [9], diminishes IL-1β and IL-18 secretion by macrophages, and inhibits caspase-1 maturation [10]. Furthermore, both sialostatins alter dendritic cell signaling [11], and inhibition of sialostatin by RNA interference and immunization of guinea pigs impairs tick feeding [9, 12, 13]. Therefore, salivary cystatins may be useful targets for anti-tick vaccines.

However, until the first *I. ricinus* genome was released [14], tick genomic and proteomic studies have been hampered by a lack of full genomic sequences. Here, we report the structural and functional characterization of a novel type 2 cystatin in the hard tick *I. ricinus*, which we name Iristatin. We present the crystal structure of Iristatin, which inhibits the vertebrate cathepsins C and L. Furthermore, we report the anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory activities of Iristatin. Rather than being target specific, Iristatin appears to affect many immune mechanisms and is a broad-spectrum immunosuppressor that may be useful in the treatment of immune-mediated diseases.

Materials and methods

Quantitative real-time PCR

Female *I. ricinus* ticks were fed on rabbits for 1, 2, 4, 6, or 7 days. Tick salivary glands were dissected, and total RNA isolated and transcribed to cDNA for quantitative analysis of Iristatin by qRT-PCR. Expression profiles were normalized to ferritin mRNA, the levels of which are independent of blood feeding [15]. Detailed methods can be found in the supplement, and the primer and probe sequences are in Supplementary Table S3.

Springer

Crystallization, data collection, and structure determination

Screening for crystallization conditions was performed using the JCSG-plus kit (Molecular Dimensions Ltd., Newmarket, UK) and the sitting drop vapor diffusion technique. Preliminary crystals were obtained in 0.1 M Bis–Tris, pH 5.5, 1 M ammonium sulfate, 1% PEG 3350. Optimal Iristatin crystals were prepared at 18 °C using the hanging drop vapor diffusion technique in 15-well NeXtal plates (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Experiments, crystal parameters, data collection statistics, and structure determination are detailed in the Supplementary Methods and in Supplementary Table S2.

Enzyme assays

Iristatin inhibition constants against various proteases were determined by measuring the loss of enzymatic activity in the presence of increasing Iristatin concentrations, the corresponding enzyme and a fluorogenic substrate. The enzymes tested were: human liver cathepsin B (BiomolGmBH, Hamburg, Germany); human recombinant cathepsins C, L, S (Calbiochem, Merck Millipore, Burlington, MA, USA); human cathepsin G (Molecular Innovations Inc., Novi, MI, USA); and human factor Xa (Calbiochem). *I. ricinus* legumain IrAE [16] was kindly provided by Daniel Sojka, Ph.D. Experimental details are provided in the Supplementary Methods.

Measurement of cytokine production

T cells were differentiated as follows. For Th1 T cells, naïve CD4⁺ T cells from BALB/c mice were stimulated with anti-CD3/CD28 (4 µg/ml each) under Th1-skewing conditions (IL-12, anti-IL-4). For Th2 cells, naïve CD4⁺ T cells were stimulated with anti-CD3/CD28 (4 µg/ml each) under Th2-skewing conditions (IFN- γ , anti-IL-4). For Th9 cells, naïve CD4⁺ T cells from BALB/c mice were stimulated with anti-CD3/CD28 (4 µg/ml each) under Th9-skewing conditions (IL-4, TGF- β , anti-IFN- γ). Fully differentiated cells were then re-stimulated solely with plate-bound CD3 mAb for 48 h in the presence or absence of 6 µM LPS-free Iristatin. IL-2, IL-4, IL-9, and IFN- γ production were determined by Ready-SET-Go! ELISA (eBioscience, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Bone marrow-derived mast cells (BMMCs) were stimulated with ionomycin (Iono, 0.75 μ M) in the presence or absence of 6 μ M Iristatin. IL-4, IL-6, and IL-9 production was determined by ELISA after 48 h of stimulation. For viability screening, naïve CD4⁺ T cells from BALB/c mice were stimulated with anti-CD3/CD28 (4 μ g/ml each) in the presence or absence of different concentrations of LPS-free Iristatin (6, 3, 1.5, and 0.75 μ M) under Th9-skewing conditions for 72 h. T cells were stained with a fixable viability dye and cell viability determined by flow cytometry.

Nitric oxide (NO) measurement

Macrophages of the PMJ2-R cell line were preincubated for 4 h with 3 and 6 μ M Iristatin and then stimulated by adding LPS to final concentration 100 ng/ml and IFN- γ to final concentration 5 ng/ml. NO concentration was assessed 24 h after stimulation with modified Griess reagent (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA).

OVA antigen-induced proliferation of CD4⁺ splenocytes

OT-II mouse spleens were disintegrated through a 70 μ m cell strainer to obtain a single-cell suspension, and red blood cells were removed using RBC lysis buffer (eBioscience). Splenocytes were then stained with eFluorTM 670 cell proliferation dye (eBioscience). Stained splenocytes were seeded in a 96-well plate (5×10^5 cells in 200 μ l complete RPMI) and preincubated for 2 h in the presence or absence of 3 μ M Iristatin. Cells were then stimulated using ovalbumin (OVA) peptide 323–339 (100 ng/ml; Sigma-Aldrich), and splenocytes were incubated for 72 h at 37 °C in 5% CO₂. Cells were then stained with FITC-labeled anti-CD4 antibody and propidium iodide and analyzed by flow cytometry on a BD FACSCantoTM II using BD FACSDivaTM Software v. 6.1.3.

Thioglycollate-induced peritonitis

Female C57BL/6N mice were purchased from Velaz (Prague, Czech Republic). Mice were housed in individually ventilated cages maintained in a 12 h light/dark cycle and given a standard pellet diet and water ad libitum. All animals were used at 8–12 weeks of age. All experiments were approved by the local ethical committee and the Ministry of Education and Sports in accordance with law 246/1992 Sb (ethical approval number MSMT-19085/2015-3).

Control group mice were injected intraperitoneally (i.p.) with saline (10 ml/kg of body weight) and, 1 h later, acute peritonitis was induced by i.p. injection of 200 μ l 3% sterile, fully oxidized DifcoTM thioglycollate medium (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). Mice in the experimental group were first injected i.p. with Iristatin (2 mg/kg of body weight in saline). One hour later, mice were treated i.p. with Iristatin (2 mg/kg of body weight) together with 200 μ l of 3% thioglycollate medium.

Four hours after thioglycollate medium injection, mice were killed by cervical dislocation, and peritoneal cavities were washed with 10 ml cold PBS to harvest cells. Red blood cells were lysed with RBC lysis buffer (eBioscience). Collected peritoneal cells were counted using a hemocytometer and light microscope. The percentage of live myeloid cells (CD11b⁺), neutrophils (CD11b⁺Ly-6g⁺), monocytes (CD11b⁺Ly-6c⁺), and eosinophils (CD11b⁺Siglec-F⁺) was assessed by flow cytometry (see Supplementary Methods for details). Absolute cell counts were obtained by combining flow cytometry data with cell counting under a light microscope.

Neutrophil in vitro migration assay

Neutrophils were obtained from the bone marrow of C57BL/6J mice by magnetic separation using a Neutrophil Isolation Kit (Miltenyi Biotec). Isolated neutrophils were preincubated in the RPMI medium-containing 0.5% BSA in the presence or absence of 3 μ M Iristatin for 1 h at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. Cells were than seeded into the upper inserts of 3 μ m pore Corning[®] Transwell[®] chambers (24-well format; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) and allowed to migrate towards 1 μ M fMLP in RPMI with 0.5% BSA in the lower chamber. After incubation for 1 h at 37 °C and 5% CO₂, cell migration was determined by counting cells in the lower chamber using a hemocytometer.

Statistical analysis

All experiments were performed in biological triplicates. Data are presented as mean \pm standard error of mean (SEM) in all graphs. Student's *t* test or one-way ANOVA was used to calculate statistical differences between two or more groups, respectively. Statistically significant results were marked: $*P \le 0.05$; $**P \le 0.01$; $***P \le 0.001$; $***P \le 0.001$.

Results

Expression and functional and structural analyses of Iristatin, a novel tick cystatin

Consistent with the other proteins that play important roles in the tick lifecycle [9], Iristatin mRNA expression increased significantly over time in the salivary glands of *I. ricinus* ticks fed on rabbits: 15–20-fold over the first 1–4 days; 50-fold between days 4 and 6, and 80-fold by day 7, when compared with unfed ticks (Supplementary Figure S1). Iristatin (GenBank accession number KY348759) BLAST search revealed three genomic contigs (Genbank accession numbers JXMZ02144755.1; JXMZ02161024.1, and JXMZ02194599.1) [17] with 92.6%, 90.3%, and 96.4%

Deringer

nucleotide identity, respectively, each representing a unique exon of a single gene. Furthermore, the search in available I. ricinus transcriptomes revealed 98.8% identity of Iristatin nucleotide sequence with its best match (Genbank accession number GFVZ01039973.1). Sequence analysis showed that Iristatin belongs to the cystatin superfamily [7–9, 13], specifically to a clade-containing only tick cystatins from the genus Ixodes (Fig. 1a). For structural and functional analyses, Iristatin was overexpressed in a prokaryotic system [7] to produce > 95% pure recombinant protein with 119 amino acids, molecular weight 13.8 kDa, and a pI of 7.67, as predicted (Supplementary Figure S2 and S3).

The crystal structure of Iristatin was determined by molecular replacement using the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata cystatin OmC2 structure as a search model and refined using data to 1.76 Å resolution (Supplementary Table S2). The orthorhombic crystal form contained two molecules in the asymmetric unit with a solvent content of 50.8%. All protein residues could be modeled into a well-defined electron density map with the exception of the first two N-terminal residues (Gly1 and Met2) and the last four C-terminal residues (Lys116 to Glu119). The final model consisted of two Iristatin molecules, each containing 114 amino acid residues. The root-mean-square deviation (RMSD) for superposition of the C_{α} atoms of the two molecules was 0.52 Å, a value within the range observed for different crystal structures of identical proteins. Minor structural changes were localized to loop regions exposed to solvent and/or involved in crystal contacts (residues 1-2, 47-48, 77-80, 95-96, and 111-114).



Fig. 1 Crystal structure of Iristatin and its comparison with the other family 2 cystatins. a Molecular phylogenetic analysis (maximumlikelihood model) of secreted tick cystatins. Iristatin clusters with the other cystatins in the genus Ixodes (highlighted in blue). Platynothrus cystatin was used as an outgroup. The tree with the highest log likelihood (-4870, 9711) is shown. The percentage of trees in which the associated taxa clustered together is shown next to the branches. The tree is drawn to scale, with branch lengths measured in the number of substitutions per site. b The three-dimensional structure of Iristatin is shown as a cartoon representation colored by secondary structure elements (a1, cyan; B1-4, magenta). The N- and C-termini and two disulfide bridges, Cys64-Cys76 and Cys87-Cys107 (yellow sticks), are indicated. The hairpin loops L1 and L2 and the N-terminus of cystatins are involved in the binding of papain-type peptidases. c Structure-based sequence alignment of Iristatin (Iris) with OmC2 (from the soft tick O. moubata), sialostatins L and L2 (from the hard tick I. scapularis), DsCystatin (from the hard tick D. silva-

🖄 Springer

rum), chicken egg-white cystatin (CEW), and representative human members of family 2 cystatins (cystatins D, C, E/M, and F). Residues identical to those of Iristatin are shaded black. The secondary structure elements of Iristatin are depicted as in b (magenta for strands, cyan for helices). The conserved disulfide bridges are indicated by the connecting black lines. Three regions involved in the interaction of cystatins with papain-type peptidases are boxed in green and labeled; the region size was selected based on predominant binding residues in the available complex structures. The putative legumainbinding site in four cystatins is highlighted in red. Mature sequences (i.e., without signal peptide) were used in the alignment; residue numbering is according to Iristatin. d A superposition of Ca traces of Iristatin with three other cystatin structures. The tick salivary cystatins Iristatin (PDB code 5046), OmC2 (3L0R), and sialostatin L2 (3LH4) are colored magenta, green, and cyan, respectively. Chicken egg-white cystatin (1CEW) is shown in orange. Positions of the binding sites for papain-type peptidases and legumains are indicated

Figure 1b shows the overall structure of Iristatin. The molecule adopts a typical cystatin fold similar to that of the other homologs, characterized by a twisted antiparallel β -sheet wrapped around an α -helix. However, the Iristatin β -sheet is four-stranded instead of five-stranded, lacking the N-terminal β -strand. Iristatin contains two conserved disulfide bridges connecting Cys64 with Cys76 and Cys87 with Cys107. The structure-based sequence alignment demonstrated that Iristatin displays all the characteristics of family 2 cystatins, including disulfide pattern, the Gln-Xaa-Xaa-Gly motif, and a secretion signal removed from the mature protein (Fig. 1c) [18].

The closest structural homologs of Iristatin were salivary cystatins OmC2 from the soft tick *O. moubata* and sialostatin L2 from the hard tick *I. scapularis*; the RMSDs for C α were 1.10 Å and 1.18 Å (without flexible N-termini) and sequence identity was 42% and 36%, respectively (Fig. 1d). Lower structural similarity was found with vertebrate family 2 cystatins, namely human cystatins C, D, F and E/M and chicken egg-white cystatin (RMSDs from 1.53 to 2.21 Å); their sequence identity with Iristatin was between 16 and 24%.

Interaction of family 2 cystatins with papain-type peptidases is mediated by three regions, the N-terminal segment and two hairpin loops L1 and L2, which form a tripartite wedge-shaped edge that binds to the enzyme active site cleft (Fig. 1d). In Iristatin, the first part of the binding site is formed by the N-terminal segment around a conserved Gly5 residue, the orientation suggesting conformational flexibility, as with the other cystatins: Gly5 can function as a hinge that allows the flexible N-terminal segment to adopt an optimal conformation for target enzyme binding. The L1 loop of Iristatin (between $\beta 1$ and $\beta 2$) is similar in conformation to the other cystatins, only with an isoleucine instead of valine in the conserved sequence motif Gln-Xaa-Val-Xaa-Gly (Fig. 1c). The L2 loop (between \$\beta3\$ and \$\beta4) is characterized in Iristatin and other cystatins, except sialostatins, by the presence of conservative Pro-Trp residues.

We next analyzed which relevant representative proteases recombinant Iristatin inhibited. As predicted by the crystal structure and the absence of the legumain-binding site localized at a critical Asn residue in Iristatin (Fig. 1c, d), there was no activity against legumain. Among papaintype peptidases, cathepsins B and S were not significantly inhibited under given experimental conditions (Supplementary Table S3). Iristatin was active only against two tested enzymes, cathepsins C and L, displaying similar sub-micromolar affinity as the *I. scapularis* cystatins sialostatins L and L2 to cathepsin C but much lower micromolar affinity to cathepsin L (Supplementary Figure S4). We did not observe any effect of Iristatin against two representative serine peptidases—cathepsin G and factor Xa (Supplementary Table S3).

Iristatin affects cytokine production by T cells and mast cells

Tick salivary cystatins are known to inhibit T-cell cytokine production [3]. To elucidate Iristatin's influence on host immunity and inflammation, we activated different immune cell populations and measured the effect of Iristatin on the production of characteristic cytokines for a given subpopulation. As predicted, Iristatin was a potent inhibitor of T-cell-derived cytokines (Fig. 2). In cell cultures, recombinant Iristatin inhibited the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines IFN-y and IL-2 by polyclonally stimulated [CD3/ CD28 monoclonal antibody (mAB)] Th1 cells after 48 h of incubation (Fig. 2a, b). Iristatin also suppressed the production of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-4 by Th2 cells (Fig. 2c) and IL-2 and IL-9 by Th9 cells (Fig. 2d, e). The inhibition of IL-9 may be an indirect effect, because IL-9 production is known to be IL-2 dependent [19]. Iristatin had no effect on IL-17 production by Th17 cells (Fig. 2f).

Mast cell numbers are positively correlated with resistance to tick feeding [2]. The only tick cystatin reported to have a direct effect on mast cells is *I. scapularis* sialostatin L, which indirectly reduced IL-9 expression [20]. We stimulated Iristatin pretreated mast cells with ionomycin in cell cultures and measured their cytokine production. While IL-4 production by mast cells was not affected (Fig. 2g), IL-6 levels decreased significantly (Fig. 2h) and IL-9 production was almost blocked by preincubation with 6 μ M Iristatin (Fig. 2i).

Iristatin inhibits antigen-specific CD4⁺ T-cell proliferation and impairs leukocyte recruitment in vitro and in vivo

Saliva, salivary gland extract, or even individual salivary molecules from many tick species inhibit CD4⁺ T-cell proliferation [1]. Cystatins from *I. scapularis* [7] and *O. moubata* [21] are known inhibitors of T lymphocyte proliferation. Accordingly, we investigated whether Iristatin has similar properties in the OVA antigen-specific CD4⁺ T-cell proliferation model using splenocytes isolated from OT-II mice. Tristatin significantly decreased dendritic cell-dependent CD4⁺ T-cell proliferation upon OVA treatment from 88% in PBS-treated controls to 72% in the Iristatin-treated group (Fig. 3a; $p \le 0.05$) without affecting cell viability (Fig. 3b).

We next investigated whether Iristatin alters inflammatory responses in vivo in a mouse model of thioglycollateinduced peritonitis. Iristatin significantly impaired recruitment of total immune cells to the peritoneum (Fig. 4a) without affecting the proportion of living cells (Fig. 4b), excluding the possibility of Iristatin cytotoxicity. When individual cell populations were examined, Iristatin significantly inhibited the migration of myeloid cells and neutrophils,

2 Springer



Fig. 2 The effect of Iristatin on T-cell and mast cell cytokine production. **a**-**f** Different subpopulations of T-helper cells were preincubated with 6 μ M Iristatin and polyclonally stimulated with a combination of CD3 and CD28 mAbs. Cytokine levels were determined 48 h after stimulation. Th cells activated in the absence of Iristatin were used as controls and set as 100% in all experiments; all other values are expressed as percentages of these controls. Iristatin inhibited IFN- γ (**a**) and IL-2 (**b**) production by Th1 cells. **c** Iristatin strongly reduced IL-4 production by Th2 cells. Iristatin inhibited IL-2 (**d**) and IL-9

by Th-17 cells was not significant. **g–i** Mast cells were pretreated with Iristatin and stimulated with ionomycin. Cytokine levels were measured 48 h after stimulation. **g** IL-4 production was not affected by Iristatin treatment. **h** 6 μ M Iristatin inhibited IL-6 production by mast cells. **i** Iristatin strongly inhibited IL-9 production by mast cells. The mean of three independent experiments (\pm SEM) is shown in all graphs. **P* ≤ 0.05; ***P* ≤ 0.01; *****P* ≤ 0.001; *n.s.* not significant

(e) production by Th9 cells. f The inhibition of IL-17 production

and showed a trend to decreasing monocyte and eosinophil migration. Consistent with these in vivo findings, the migration of neutrophils pretreated with Iristatin was significantly less than untreated controls towards an fMLP gradient (8.4% vs. 12.1%, $p \le 0.05$; Fig. 4g).

Finally, macrophages play an important role in the interaction between the host immune system, ticks, and transmitted pathogens. Activated macrophages are crucially involved in immune cell recruitment to sites of inflammation or towards pathogens by secreting signaling molecules such as chemokines or nitric oxide (NO) [22]. Saliva (or salivary gland extracts) from different tick species has been shown to reduce NO production by macrophages [23]. Accordingly, the incubation of monocyte/macrophage PMJ2-R cells with

2 Springer

2008

Iristatin reduced in vitro production of NO in a dose-dependent manner to nearly 40% of controls in the presence of 6 μ M Iristatin (Fig. 4h), suggesting a considerable suppression of macrophage activation, perhaps, explaining the reduced recruitment of other immune cell types.

Discussion

Hard ticks feed for several days on their vertebrate host. To feed successfully, ticks control and evade the host immune response and maintain blood flow by secreting saliva into the feeding cavity. As *I. scapularis* cystatins are known to be strong immunomodulators [2], we focused on cloning a



Fig.3 Iristatin inhibits CD4⁺ lymphocyte proliferation. a Splenocytes from OT-II mice were preincubated with Iristatin and subsequently stimulated with OVA peptide. The percentage of proliferating cells was evaluated after 72 h. Incubation with 3 µM Iristatin decreased

cystatin from the closely related tick *I. ricinus*, which we named Iristatin. At the time of this project initiation, *I. ricinus* genome has not yet been sequenced, so the traditional cloning procedures were needed to reveal this first immunomodulatory cystatin from this important disease vector.

The three-dimensional structural analysis of Iristatin provided useful insights into its biochemistry and function. Three conserved cystatin domains mediate their specificity to papain-like proteases [4, 24], including the N-terminal domain and two hairpin loops L1 and L2. Iristatin differed by over 50% in the N-terminal domain sequence but by only one amino acid in hairpin L1 (Ile50 instead of Val) or L2 (Glu99 instead of Gln) compared to the most structurally similar tick cystatin OmC2. This hairpin loop similarity, perhaps, explains why both cystatins inhibit cathepsins C and L. Iristatin showed a major difference in affinity to cathepsin L compared to sialostatins L and L2, in which target specificity is attributed to the lack of a conserved Pro-Trp motif in hairpin L2, at least with regard to the lower affinity to cathepsin B and no increased inhibition of cathepsin L [7, 9, 25]. While the only difference between Iristatin and the sialostatins in hairpin L1 is a Val/Ile substitution, we speculate that the significant difference in cathepsin L affinity can be explained by the different N-termini of these cystatins or in structures outside the conserved domains. Similarly, both Iristatin and DsCystatin [26] inhibited cathepsin L, but differed in their affinity to cathepsins B and C. While both of these cystatins are almost identical in their L1 and L2 hairpin sequences, the difference in their inhibitory specificity probably originates in the N-terminal region or outside the conserved domains. Similar to sialostatin L, we speculate that inhibition of cathepsins C and L by Iristatin impairs the maturation of other proteases from their proenzymes by blocking the cleavage of their N-terminal propeptides by cathepsins C and L [7]. This effect could reduce granzyme

B Effect of Iristatin on cell viability space of the static of the sta

the percentage of proliferating cells from 88% in the control group to 72% in the experimental group. The mean of three independent experiments (\pm SEM) is shown. **P* ≤ 0.05 (two-tailed, unpaired *t* test). **b** fristatin had no effect on cell viability

activity in cytotoxic T lymphocytes and natural killer cells, tryptase and chymase in mast cells, cathepsin G, proteinase 3, and elastase in neutrophils, or impair the maturation of cathepsins D and B in various cell types [2].

Iristatin suppressed immune responses both in vitro and in vivo. I. ricinus saliva which has previously been shown to polarize immune responses towards the Th2 pathway [27], although saliva-driven inhibition of both Th1 and Th2 pathways has been observed in dendritic cells [28]. However, Iristatin appears to have a more general effect on vertebrate immunity. Inhibition of the production of proinflammatory cytokines TNF and IL-12 by the tick cystatin OmC2 or IL-1β, IFN-γ, TNF, and IL6 by DsCystatin has been described in dendritic cells [21] and macrophages [26]. Moreover, impaired T-cell production of IFN-y by sialostatin L has also been reported [8] together with a decrease in IL-17 production, which was not observed with Iristatin. Similar to sialostatin L, Iristatin suppressed IL-2 and IL-9 production by Th9 and mast cells, respectively, suggesting that Iristatin could also have a similar inhibitory effect on experimental asthma [29]. To our knowledge, no secreted tick cystatin has been reported to inhibit both Th1 and Th2 cytokines as much as Iristatin. It has been observed in ticks and other blood-feeding parasites that whole saliva can have general immunosuppressive effects, with individual proteins inhibiting specific elements. Saliva from the Aedes aegypti mosquito has been reported to suppress both Th1 and Th2 cytokines [30]. In contrast, a single A. aegypti salivary protein, SAAG-4, potently polarized a Th2 immune response by reducing expression of the Th1 cytokine IFN-y and upregulating the Th2 cytokine IL-4 [31]. Such immunomodulation is not limited to arthropods, as the parasitic trematode Schistosoma japonicum also polarized the vertebrate immune response towards Th2 upon infection, with rSjCystatin increasing IL-4 production by splenocytes [32].

2 Springer



Fig.4 Iristatin's effect on leukocyte recruitment and migration and macrophage production of NO. a-f Mice were injected with 3% TGM with saline or Iristatin. After 4 h, peritoneal lavage was performed and infiltrating cells analyzed by flow cytometry. In all figures, mice injected with TGM and saline are marked as Untreated, while all mice injected with TGM and Iristatin (2 mg/kg of mouse weight) are labeled as Iristatin. a Total number of cells in the peritoneum in tested mice. b Percentage of all living cells in mouse peritoneum. c-f Total number of all living CD11b⁺ cells, neutrophils, monocytes, or

eosinophils, respectively. **g** Mouse bone marrow neutrophils were preincubated with 3 µM Iristatin and subjected to migration towards fMLP in a Boyden chamber. **h** Iristatin inhibited NO production by PMJ2-R macrophages in a dose-dependent manner. Macrophages were preincubated with 3 and 6 µM Iristatin, stimulated with LPS and IFN-y, and NO concentration was assessed after 24 h. The mean of three independent experiments (±SEM) is shown. **P*≤0.05; ***P*≤0.01; *n.s.* not significant

Macrophages play a crucial role in inflammatory responses through high cytokine and NO production and represent known cystatin targets [26]. Most cystatins tend to increase macrophage NO production [33]. Conversely, rSjCystatin from *S. japonicum* [34] and Iristatin decreased macrophage NO levels. Therefore, Iristatin has a rather unique effect on NO production, which is consistent with the previous studies, showing that *I. ricinus* saliva inhibits NO production [23]. Since NO is an important regulator of many processes in various immune and inflammatory cell types, we propose that its reduction by Iristatin leads to further

immunosuppression. NO can be associated with decreased T-cell proliferation [35]. Moreover, the dose-dependent differences in NO-mediated polarization of immune response have been described. Low NO levels selectively enhanced Th1 polarization, while Th1 differentiation was suppressed at higher NO levels [36]. In contrast to these studies, we observed that Iristatin decreased NO production by macrophages and also reduced T-cell proliferation; however, since both experiments were performed separately in vitro, the in vivo milieu may be different. Furthermore, we used whole splenocytes in the proliferation assays, so it is unclear whether the observed lower CD4⁺ cell proliferation was a direct or an indirect effect via APCs.

Finally, Iristatin suppressed immune cell recruitment to the site of inflammation. Several parasitic nematode cystatins have been reported to affect inflammatory cell migration while polarizing towards Th2 immune responses and recruiting IL-10-producing macrophages or T cells [37–39]. Conversely, cystatin C inhibited T-cell and monocyte transmigration [40]. Until now, only one tick cystatin, DsCystatin, has been reported to have an impact on immune cell recruitment in a mouse arthritis model [26]. Another tick cystatin, RHcyst-1 from *Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides*, suppressed tumor cell migration and invasion [41]. We speculate that the Iristatin effect on cell recruitment can partially be mediated by the suppression of macrophage activation [22] as shown by NO inhibition.

In conclusion, Iristatin is a potent immunomodulator of the host immune system. Iristatin is a specific cathepsin C and L inhibitor, as evidenced by both structure and function. Iristatin attenuated both Th1 and Th2 vertebrate host immune responses and inhibited T-cell proliferation and leukocyte recruitment. Our data clearly demonstrate that individual molecules contribute differentially to the overall effect of arthropod saliva on blood feeding. Our model for the action of tick salivary immunomodulators [42] stresses the importance of pluripotency and redundancy in their action; specifically, the function of each tick salivary immunomodulator may overlap with that of another one and the same tick salivary immunomodulator may simultaneously affect different vertebrate immune system functions [42]. We speculate that synergy exists between individual salivary proteins that might increase the activity of tick saliva; however, there is currently no direct evidence for such an effect. Pluripotency and redundancy seem to be essential for potent immunomodulation by tick saliva, and Iristatin displays both of these features. These structural and functional data further increase our understanding of vertebrate host immunomodulation by tick saliva. Furthermore, these properties could potentially be exploited for the development of novel immune-related disease drugs or vaccines.

Acknowledgements We thank Professor Jose MC Ribeiro and Drs. Petr Kopáček and Daniel Sojka for constructive discussions, Dr. Daniel Sojka for kindly providing published reagent, ARVYS Proteins for service provision, Dr. Andrezza Campos-Chagas and Mr. Jan Erhart for technical assistance and Nextgenediting for editorial assistance. We also thank the anonymous reviewers for constructive comments about the draft.

Author contributions JKot designed and performed experiments, performed the analyses, and wrote the manuscript; NS, MB, AC, ZB, PŘ, HL, and AS designed and performed experiments; JC and MK designed experiments, performed analyses, and edited the manuscript; MM and ES designed experiments and revised the manuscript; EC and JKop revised the manuscript. Funding This work was supported by the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (Grant 19-072475 to MK and Grant 16-07117Y to JC), by the Grant Agency of the University of South Bohemia (Grant 038/2016/P to JKot), and by ERD Funds, project CePaViP OPVVV (No. CZ.02 .1.01/0.0/0.0/16_019/0000759 to MK) and institutional project RVO 60077344 to MK. MB, MM, and PŘ were supported by project Chem-BioDrug (No. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/16_019/0000729) from ERD Funds and institutional project RVO 61388963.

Data availability The data set supporting the conclusions of this article is available in GenBank, accession number KY348759; PDB code 5046.

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflict of interest The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Francischetti IM, Sa-Nunes A, Mans BJ, Santos IM, Ribeiro JM (2009) The role of saliva in tick feeding. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed) 14:2051–2088
- Kotal J, Langhansova H, Lieskovska J, Andersen JF, Francischetti IM, Chavakis T, Kopecky J, Pedra JH, Kotsyfakis M, Chmelar J (2015) Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva. J Proteomics 128:58–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2015.07.005
- Chmelar J, Kotal J, Langhansova H, Kotsyfakis M (2017) Protease inhibitors in tick saliva: the role of serpins and cystatins in tick-host-pathogen interaction. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 7:216. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2017.00216
- Turk V, Bode W (1991) The cystatins: protein inhibitors of cysteine proteinases. FEBS Lett 285(2):213–219
- Rawlings ND, Waller M, Barrett AJ, Bateman A (2014) MEROPS: the database of proteolytic enzymes, their substrates and inhibitors. Nucleic Acids Res 42(Database issue):D503–D509. https:// doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkt953
- Schwarz A, Valdes JJ, Kotsyfakis M (2012) The role of cystatins in tick physiology and blood feeding. Ticks Tick Borne Dis 3(3):117–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ttbdis.2012.03.004
- Kotsyfakis M, Sa-Nunes A, Francischetti IM, Mather TN, Andersen JF, Ribeiro JM (2006) Antiinflammatory and immunosuppressive activity of sialostatin L, a salivary cystatin from the tick *Ixodes scapularis*. J Biol Chem 281(36):26298–26307. https ://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M513010200
- Sa-Nunes A, Bafica A, Antonelli LR, Choi EY, Francischetti IM, Andersen JF, Shi GP, Chavakis T, Ribeiro JM, Kotsyfakis M (2009) The immunomodulatory action of sialostatin L on dendritic cells reveals its potential to interfere with autoimmunity. J Immunol 182(12):7422–7429. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmu nol.0900075
- Kotsyfakis M, Karim S, Andersen JF, Mather TN, Ribeiro JM (2007) Selective cysteine protease inhibition contributes to blood-feeding success of the tick *Ixodes scapularis*. J Biol Chem 282(40):29256–29263. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M703143200
- Chen G, Wang X, Severo MS, Sakhon OS, Sohail M, Brown LJ, Sircar M, Snyder GA, Sundberg EJ, Ulland TK, Olivier AK, Andersen JF, Zhou Y, Shi GP, Sutterwala FS, Kotsyfakis M, Pedra JH (2014) The tick salivary protein sialostatin L2 inhibits caspase-1-mediated inflammation during *Anaplasma phagocytophilum* infection. Infect Immun 82(6):2553–2564. https://doi.org/10.1128/ IAI.01679-14

2 Springer

- Lieskovska J, Palenikova J, Langhansova H, Campos Chagas A, Calvo E, Kotsyfakis M, Kopecky J (2015) Tick sialostatins L and L2 differentially influence dendritic cell responses to Borrelia spirochetes. Parasit Vectors 8:275. https://doi.org/10.1186/s1307 1-015-0887-1
- Kotsyfakis M, Horka H, Salat J, Andersen JF (2010) The crystal structures of two salivary cystatins from the tick *lxodes scapularis* and the effect of these inhibitors on the establishment of Borrelia burgdorferi infection in a murine model. Mol Microbiol 77(2):456–470. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07220
- Kotsyfakis M, Anderson JM, Andersen JF, Calvo E, Francischetti IM, Mather TN, Valenzuela JG, Ribeiro JM (2008) Cutting edge: immunity against a "silent" salivary antigen of the Lyme vector *Ixodes scapularis* impairs its ability to feed. J Immunol 181(8):5209–5212
- Cramaro WJ, Revets D, Hunewald OE, Sinner R, Reye AL, Muller CP (2015) Integration of *Ixodes ricinus* genome sequencing with transcriptome and proteome annotation of the naive midgut. BMC Genomics 16:871. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-015-1981-7
- Kopacek P, Zdychova J, Yoshiga T, Weise C, Rudenko N, Law JH (2003) Molecular cloning, expression and isolation of ferritins from two tick species—Ornithodoros moubata and Ixodes ricinus. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 33(1):103–113
- Sojka D, Hajdusek O, Dvorak J, Sajid M, Franta Z, Schneider EL, Craik CS, Vancova M, Buresova V, Bogyo M, Sexton KB, McKerrow JH, Caffrey CR, Kopacek P (2007) IrAE: an asparaginyl endopeptidase (legumain) in the gut of the hard tick *Ixodes ricinus*. Int J Parasitol 37(7):713–724. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpara.2006.12.020
- Cramaro WJ, Hunewald OE, Bell-Sakyi L, Muller CP (2017) Genome scaffolding and annotation for the pathogen vector *Ixodes ricinus* by ultra-long single molecule sequencing. Parasites Vectors 10(1):71. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-017-2008-9
- Vray B, Hartmann S, Hoebeke J (2002) Immunomodulatory properties of cystatins. Cell Mol Life Sci 59(9):1503–1512
- Schmitt E, Germann T, Goedert S, Hoehn P, Huels C, Koelsch S, Kuhn R, Muller W, Palm N, Rude E (1994) IL-9 production of naive CD4⁺ T cells depends on IL-2, is synergistically enhanced by a combination of TGF-beta and IL-4, and is inhibited by IFNgamma. J Immunol 153(9):3989–3996
- Klein M, Bruhl TJ, Staudt V, Reuter S, Grebe N, Gerlitzki B, Hoffmann M, Bohn T, Ulges A, Stergiou N, de Graaf J, Lower M, Taube C, Becker M, Hain T, Dietzen S, Stassen M, Huber M, Lohoff M, Campos Chagas A, Andersen J, Kotal J, Langhansova H, Kopecky J, Schild H, Kotsyfakis M, Schmitt E, Bopp T (2015) Tick salivary sialostatin L represses the initiation of immune responses by targeting IRF4-dependent transcription in murine mast cells. J Immunol 195(2):621–631. https://doi.org/10.4049/ jimmunol.1401823
- 21. Salat J, Paesen GC, Rezacova P, Kotsyfakis M, Kovarova Z, Sanda M, Majtan J, Grunclova L, Horka H, Andersen JF, Brynda J, Horn M, Nunn MA, Kopacek P, Kopecky J, Mares M (2010) Crystal structure and functional characterization of an immunomodulatory salivary cystatin from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata. Biochem J 429(1):103–112. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20100280
- Laroux FS, Pavlick KP, Hines IN, Kawachi S, Harada H, Bharwani S, Hoffman JM, Grisham MB (2001) Role of nitric oxide in inflammation. Acta Physiol Scand 173(1):113–118. https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1365-201X.2001.00891.x
- Kyckova K, Kopecky J (2006) Effect of tick saliva on mechanisms of innate immune response against *Borrelia afzelii*. J Med Entomol 43(6):1208–1214
- Bode W, Huber R (2000) Structural basis of the endoproteinase-protein inhibitor interaction. Biochim Biophys Acta 1477(1-2):241-252

- Bjork I, Brieditis I, Raub-Segall E, Pol E, Hakansson K, Abrahamson M (1996) The importance of the second hairpin loop of cystatin C for proteinase binding. Characterization of the interaction of Trp-106 variants of the inhibitor with cysteine proteinases. Biochemistry 35(33):10720–10726. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi960 420u
- Sun T, Wang F, Pan W, Wu Q, Wang J, Dai J (2018) An immunosuppressive tick salivary gland protein DsCystatin interferes with toll-like receptor signaling by downregulating TRAF6. Front Immunol 9:1245. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01245
- Skallova A, Iezzi G, Ampenberger F, Kopf M, Kopecky J (2008) Tick saliva inhibits dendritic cell migration, maturation, and function while promoting development of Th2 responses. J Immunol 180(9):6186–6192
- Slamova M, Skallova A, Palenikova J, Kopecky J (2011) Effect of tick saliva on immune interactions between *Borrelia afzelii* and murine dendritic cells. Parasite Immunol 33(12):654–660. https ://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3024.2011.01332.x
- 29. Horka H, Staudt V, Klein M, Taube C, Reuter S, Dehzad N, Andersen JF, Kopecky J, Schild H, Kotsyfakis M, Hoffmann M, Gerlitzki B, Stassen M, Bopp T, Schmitt E (2012) The tick salivary protein sialostatin L inhibits the Th9-derived production of the asthma-promoting cytokine IL-9 and is effective in the prevention of experimental asthma. J Immunol 188(6):2669–2676. https ://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1100529
- Wasserman HA, Singh S, Champagne DE (2004) Saliva of the Yellow Fever mosquito, *Aedes aegypti*, modulates murine lymphocyte function. Parasite Immunol 26(6–7):295–306. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.0141-9838.2004.00712.x
- Boppana VD, Thangamani S, Adler AJ, Wikel SK (2009) SAAG-4 is a novel mosquito salivary protein that programmes host CD4 T cells to express IL-4. Parasite Immunol 31(6):287–295. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3024.2009.01096.x
- Chen L, He B, Hou W, He L (2017) Cysteine protease inhibitor of Schistosoma japonicum—a parasite-derived negative immunoregulatory factor. Parasitol Res 116(3):901–908. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00436-016-5363-0
- Verdot L, Lalmanach G, Vercruysse V, Hartmann S, Lucius R, Hoebeke J, Gauthier F, Vray B (1996) Cystatins up-regulate nitric oxide release from interferon-gamma-activated mouse peritoneal macrophages. J Biol Chem 271(45):28077–28081
- Yang X, Liu J, Yue Y, Chen W, Song M, Zhan X, Wu Z (2014) Cloning, expression and characterisation of a type II cystatin from *Schistosoma japonicum*, which could regulate macrophage activation. Parasitol Res 113(11):3985–3992. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00436-014-4064-9
- Sato K, Ozaki K, Oh I, Meguro A, Hatanaka K, Nagai T, Muroi K, Ozawa K (2007) Nitric oxide plays a critical role in suppression of T-cell proliferation by mesenchymal stem cells. Blood 109(1):228–234. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2006-02-002246
- Niedbala W, Cai B, Liew FY (2006) Role of nitric oxide in the regulation of T cell functions. Ann Rheum Dis 65(Suppl 3):iii37– iii40. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.2006.058446
- Schuijs MJ, Hartmann S, Selkirk ME, Roberts LB, Openshaw PJ, Schnoeller C (2016) The helminth-derived immunomodulator AvCystatin reduces virus enhanced inflammation by induction of regulatory IL-10⁴ T cells. PLoS One 11(8):e0161885. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0161885
- Danilowicz-Luebert E, Steinfelder S, Kuhl AA, Drozdenko G, Lucius R, Worm M, Hamelmann E, Hartmann S (2013) A nematode immunomodulator suppresses grass pollen-specific allergic responses by controlling excessive Th2 inflammation. Int J Parasitol 43(3–4):201–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpara.2012.10.014
- Schnoeller C, Rausch S, Pillai S, Avagyan A, Wittig BM, Loddenkemper C, Hamann A, Hamelmann E, Lucius R, Hartmann S (2008) A helminth immunomodulator reduces allergic and

inflammatory responses by induction of IL-10-producing macrophages. J Immunol 180(6):4265–4272
40. Staun-Ram E, Miller A (2011) Cathepsins (S and B) and their

- Staun-Ram E, Miller A (2011) Cathepsins (S and B) and their inhibitor Cystatin C in immune cells: modulation by interferonbeta and role played in cell migration. J Neuroimmunol 232(1– 2):200–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2010.10.015
- beta and role played in cell migration. J Neuroimmunol 252(1–2):200–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2010.10.015
 41. Wei N, Lin Z, Xu Z, Cao J, Zhou Y, Zhang H, Gong H, Zhou J, Li G (2018) A tick cysteine protease inhibitor RHcyst-1 exhibits antitumor potential. Cell Physiol Biochem 46(6):2385–2400. https://doi.org/10.1159/000489645
- Chmelar J, Kotal J, Kopecky J, Pedra JHF, Kotsyfakis M (2016) All for one and one for all on the tick-host battlefield. Trends Parasitol 32(5):368–377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2016.01.004

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Supplementary Material



Figure S1 - *Iristatin* transcripts accumulate in *I. ricinus* salivary glands upon tick feeding. Pools of *I. ricinus* salivary glands from female ticks were dissected under RNase-free conditions. cDNA was subsequently prepared as a template for qRT-PCR. Iristatin expression was normalized to the reference gene ferritin and compared to unfed ticks. Values on the y-axis show the fold increase in transcript (unfed = 1). Each bar represents the ratio between the number of *Iristatin* transcripts in salivary glands at a specific tick feeding stage (shown on the x-axis) compared to unfed ticks. The data show an average of three biological replicates (±SEM).



Figure S2 - Iristatin purification. Lane 1: MW standards (250, 150, 100, 75, 50, 37, 25, 20, 15, 10 kDa); Lane 2: Iristatin, load 6 μ g; Lane 3: Iristatin, load 3 μ g; Lane 4: Iristatin, load 1.5 μ g.



Figure S3 - Iristatin isoelectric focusing. The pI of Iristatin was between 7.6 and 7.7.



Figure S4 - Iristatin inhibits cathepsins C and L. Iristatin and sialostatins L and L2 differ in affinity for two of their common enzymatic targets cathepsins C and L. The three cystatins were allowed to interact with the same amount of enzyme under the same assay conditions. The resulting reduction in enzymatic activity was plotted against the corresponding inhibitor concentration. Each experiment was performed in triplicate.



Figure S5 - Iristatin does not alter cell viability. The mean of three independent experiments (±SD) is shown. *≤P 0.05; **≤P 0.01; ***≤P 0.001, ****≤P 0.0001 (two- tailed unpaired t-test). ns=not significant.

Table S1 - Primer and probe sequences.

Amplicon name	Forward primer 5' - 3'	Reverse Reverse primer 5' - 3'
Iristatin full clone	ATGAGTATCGTGAAGGCAGCGC	CGGTG TCATTCAGCTGGCTTGA
Iristatin no SigP	ATCATATGTTTCCCGGGGTCTGGAGGAAGCAC	CGGTG ATCTCGAGTCATTCAGCTGACTTCA
Iristatin RT-PCR	CACACTTCGCCATCTCCTCT	GCCTC CATGTAGTTGACCACGGCTGTAC
Iristatin RT-PCR		
probe	YAK-TCATCAGCGTCGAGTCTCAGGTAATTGC-BBQ	

Table S2 - Crystallography data collection parameters.

Data collection statistics		
Space group	P212121	
Cell parameters (Å)	39.03 76.93 92.12	
Number of molecules in AU	2	
Wavelength (Å)	0.918	
Resolution range (Å)	46.06 - 1.76 (1.82 - 1.76)	
Number of unique reflections	27667 (2700)	
Redundancy/multiplicity	3.7 (3.7)	
Completeness (%)	97.76 (97.90)	
R_{merge}^{a}	0.0377 (0.79)	
---	---------------	--
Average I/ σ (I)	19.32 (1.39)	
Wilson B (Å ²)	29.42	
Refinement statistics		
	46.06 - 1.76	
Resolution range (A)	(1.82 - 1.76)	
No. of reflections in working set	27631 (2700)	
No. of reflections in test set	1381 (135)	
R value (%) ^b	19.38	
R _{free} value (%) ^c	25.68	
RMSD bond length (Å)	0.016	
RMSD angle ()	1.71	
Number of atoms in AU	2196	
Number of protein atoms in AU	1922	
Number of water molecules in AU	239	
Ramachandran plot statistics ^d		
Residues in favored regions (%)	1.71	
Residues in allowed regions (%)	97.77	

The data in parentheses refer to the highest-resolution shell.

^a Rmerge = $\Sigma_{hkl}\Sigma_i I_i(hkl) - \langle I(hkl) \rangle | \Sigma_{hkl}\Sigma_i I_i(hkl)$, where the $I_i(hkl)$ is an individual intensity of the ith observation of reflection hkl and $\langle I(hkl) \rangle$ is the average intensity of reflection hkl with summation over all data.

 b R-value = $||F_o|$ - $|F_c||/|F_o|,$ where F_o and F_c are the observed and calculated structure factors, respectively.

 $^{\rm c}$ $R_{\rm free}$ is equivalent to R value but is calculated for 5% of the reflections chosen at random and omitted from the refinement process [1].

^d as determined by PROCHECK ([2]

Table S3 -	Effect o	of Iristatin on	protease activity
------------	----------	-----------------	-------------------

Protease	% of remaining enzymatic activity	
Cathepsin B	98.5 ± 7.6	
Cathepsin C	0 *	

Cathepsin G	103.1 ± 2.8
Cathepsin L	37.7 ± 2.3 *
Cathepsin S	108.7 ± 1.1
Factor Xa	102.0 ± 3.8
Legumain	100.4 ± 1.8

Remaining enzymatic activity of tested enzymes in presence of 6 µM Iristatin. * p≤0.05

Supplementary Methods

RT-PCR and primer design

Tick salivary glands were dissected on a petri dish under a drop of ice-cold DEPC-treated PBS. Total RNA was isolated from dissected tissue using the NucleoSpinRNA II kit (Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany), with quality checked by agarose gel electrophoresis before storing the RNA at -80°C. cDNA preparations were made from 0.5 μ g of total RNA from independent biological triplicates using the Transcriptor High-Fidelity cDNA Synthesis Kit (Roche Diagnostics, Risch-Rotkreuz, Switzerland) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The cDNA served as templates for subsequent quantitative expression analyses of Iristatin transcription by qRT-PCR. Samples were analysed by a LightCycler 480 (Roche) using the LightCycler® 480 Probes Master kit (Roche). Relative expression was calculated using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method [3]. Expression profiles were normalised to *I. ricinus* ferritin mRNA, levels of which are independent of blood feeding [4]. The primer and probe sequences for Iristatin cloning and RT-PCR are shown in **Table S1**.

Iristatin cloning, expression, refolding, and purification

The full cDNA sequence of the gene encoding Iristatin was amplified using primers designed based on the orthologous *I. scapularis* cystatin genes (**Figure 2**). The exact primer sequences used for the final cloning of Iristatin are presented in **Table S1**. *I. ricinus* cDNA prepared from the salivary glands of female ticks fed for 3 and 6 days on rabbits was used as a template. The Iristatin gene without a signal peptide and with an inserted ATG codon (360 bp) was cloned into a pET-17b vector and transformed into *Escherichia coli* strain BL21(DE3)pLysS for expression. Bacterial cultures in LB medium with 100 mg/ml ampicillin and 34 mg/ml chloramphenicol were grown to an OD600 of 0.8, and protein expression was induced by the addition of isopropyl 1-thio- β -D-galactopyranoside at a final concentration 1 mM. The cultures were harvested after 5 h of fermentation at 37°C. Following washing and recovery of inclusion bodies, DEAE Sepharose FF chromatography was performed under denaturing conditions, followed by three-step refolding by dialysis in 50 mM Tris, pH 8.5, 0.5 mM KCl, 100 mM NaCl, 50 mM betaine, 1 mM EDTA, 10% glycerol, and <0.02% Triton X114. The resulting refolded protein was purified by HiLoad Superdex 200 26/60 gel filtration chromatography and endotoxin removal was performed using a detergent-based method according to [5].

Phylogeny tree calculation

The evolutionary history of Iristatin was inferred using the maximum likelihood model based on the Dayhoff matrix-based model [6] using cDNA sequences without signal peptides. Initial tree(s) for the heuristic search were obtained by applying the neighbor-joining method to a matrix of pairwise distances estimated using a JTT model. There were 112 positions in the final dataset. Evolutionary analyses were conducted in MEGA7 [7].

Flow cytometry

Cell suspensions were incubated with rat anti-mouse CD16/CD32 monoclonal antibody (clone 93, eBioscience, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) for 5 minutes on ice to block Fc gamma II/III receptors. Subsequently, cells were stained with population-specific antibodies for 30 minutes in the dark at 4°C. The following rat anti-mouse monoclonal antibodies was used: CD11b-FITC (clone M1/70, BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ), Ly-6G-PE (clone 1A8; BD Biosciences), Ly-6C-APC (clone HK1.4; eBioscience), and Siglec-F-PerCP-Cy^{TM5.5} (clone E50-2440, BD Pharmingen). Propidium iodide (eBioscience) was added to distinguish living and dead cells. Cell suspensions were analyzed by flow cytometry using BD FACSCantoTM II and BD FACSDivaTM Software v. 6.1.3. Neutrophils were identified as CD11b⁺Ly-6G⁺ cells, monocytes as CD11b⁺ Ly-6C⁺ cells and eosinophils as CD11b⁺Siglec-F⁺.

Enzymatic assays

All assays were performed in triplicate. The mean percentage of remaining enzymatic activity in the presence of various Iristatin concentrations compared to control enzymatic activity (in the absence of Iristatin) was plotted against the concentration of Iristatin used in the assays and in logarithmic scale. Finally, sigmoidal fitting of the data gave an estimate of the IC50 of Iristatin for the various enzymes.

Assay buffers were as follows: 100 mM Na-acetate, 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 0.01% Triton X-100, 100 μ g/ml cysteine, pH 5.5 for cathepsins B, L, S; 50 mM Na-acetate, 50 mM NaCl, 5 mM DTT, pH 5.5 for cathepsin C; 20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, 200 mM NaCl, 5 mM CaCl₂, 0.1% BSA for factor Xa, 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 0.01% Triton X-100 for cathepsin G; 50 mM Na-acetate, 100 mM NaCl, 4 mM DTT, pH 5.2 for legumain.

Enzymes were used at the following final concentration: 10 pM cathepsin B, 500 pM cathepsin C, 10 nM cathepsin G, 33 pM cathepsin L, 350 pM cathepsin S, 800 pM factor Xa.

Substrates were as follows: Z-LR-AMC, 250 μ M final concentration for cathepsins B, L; Z-VVR-AMC, 250 μ M final concentration for cathepsin S; H-GR-AMC, 250 μ M final concentration for cathepsin C; methylsulfonyl-D-cyclohexylalanyl-GR-AMC, 250 μ M final concentration for factor Xa; Suc-AAPF-AMC, 250 μ M final concentration for cathepsin G; Z-AAN-AMC, 250 μ M final concentration for legumain.

The substrate hydrolysis rate was followed in an Infinite® 200 PRO 96-well plate fluorescence reader (Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland) using 365 nm excitation and 450 nm emission wavelengths with a cutoff at 435 nm.

Crystallization, data collection, and structure determination

The crystallization drop consisted of 1 μ l of Iristatin protein solution (5 mg/ml in 10 mM Tris buffer, pH 8.0) and 1.5 μ l of the reservoir solution (0.1 M Bis-Tris, pH 5.5, 1 M ammonium sulfate, 1% PEG 3350). Brick-shaped crystals reached their final size of $0.4 \times 0.1 \times 0.1$ mm within 7 days. For data collection, crystals were soaked in reservoir solution supplemented with 12.5% glycerol and flash cooled in liquid nitrogen. Diffraction data were collected at 100 K using the MX-14-1 beamline at BESSY, Hamburg, Germany, and processed using the HKL-3000 suite of programs. Crystals exhibited the symmetry of space group $P2_12_12_1$ and contained two molecules in the asymmetric unit.

The phase problem was solved by molecular replacement using the program Molrep. The search model was derived from the structure of cystatin OmC2 from *O. moubata* (PDB code 3L0R), sharing 41% sequence identity with Iristatin. Model refinement was carried out using the program REFMAC 5.5 from the CCP4 package. Manual building was performed using Coot. Tight non-crystallographic symmetry (NCS) restraints were applied during initial refinement, and, in later stages, NCS restraints were loosened as guided by the behavior of Rfree. The final refinement steps included TLS refinement. The quality of the final model was validated with Molprobity. Final refinement statistics are given in **Table S2**. Figures showing structural representations were prepared with the PyMOL Molecular Graphics System (Schrödinger). Atomic coordinates and structure factors were deposited in the PDB under accession code 5046.

Isoelectric focusing

Isoelectric focusing (IEF) was performed on precast CriterionTM IEF gels (Bio-Rad, Hercules, MA) and separated by IEF cathode buffer 2 mM lysine (free base), 2 mM arginine (free base) and IEF anode buffer 0.7 mM phosphoric acid at increased voltage modes: 100 V 60 min, 250 V 60 min, 500 V 30 min. IEF markers of pI range 3–10 were used (SERVA 39212.01).

The value of Iristatin pI predicted to be 7.67 (by <u>https://web.expasy.org/protparam</u>) was verified by isoelectric focusing. Iristatin showed a clear band between pI values 7.6 and 7.7 (**Figure S2**)

Iristatin shows no toxic effect on CD4⁺ cells

Naïve CD4⁺ T cells from Balb/c mice were stimulated with anti-CD3/CD28 (4 μ g/mL) in the presence and absence of different concentrations of LPS-free Iristatin (6, 3, 1.5, and 0.75 μ M) under Th9-skewing conditions for 72 h. T cells were stained with a fixable viability dye, and cell viability was determined by flow cytometry (**Figure S5**). The value of the untreated cells is considered 100%; the other values are expressed as percentages.

References

1. Brunger AT (1992) Free R-Value - a Novel Statistical Quantity for Assessing the Accuracy of Crystal-Structures. Nature 355 (6359):472-475

2. Laskowski RA, Macarthur MW, Moss DS, Thornton JM (1993) Procheck - a Program to Check the Stereochemical Quality of Protein Structures. Journal of Applied Crystallography 26:283-291

3. Pfaffl MW (2001) A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR. Nucleic Acids Res 29 (9):e45

4. Kopacek P, Zdychova J, Yoshiga T, Weise C, Rudenko N, Law JH (2003) Molecular cloning, expression and isolation of ferritins from two tick species--Ornithodoros moubata and Ixodes ricinus. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 33 (1):103-113

5. Sa-Nunes A, Bafica A, Antonelli LR, Choi EY, Francischetti IM, Andersen JF, Shi GP, Chavakis T, Ribeiro JM, Kotsyfakis M (2009) The immunomodulatory action of sialostatin L on dendritic cells reveals its potential to interfere with autoimmunity. J Immunol 182 (12):7422-7429. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900075

6. Schwarz R, Dayhoff MO (1979) Matrices for Detecting Distant Relationships. In: Atlas of Protein Sequence and Structure. vol sv. 5. National Biomedical Research Foundation.,

7. Kumar S, Stecher G, Tamura K (2016) MEGA7: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis Version 7.0 for Bigger Datasets. Mol Biol Evol 33 (7):1870-1874. doi:10.1093/molbev/msw054

3.4. Manuscript 4 (in preparation):

Kotál, J., Polderdijk, S. G. I., Langhansová, H., Ederová, M., Martins, L. A., Beránková, Z., Huntington, J. A., Kotsyfakis, M., and Chmelař, J. (2020) Tick *Ixodes ricinus* serpin 8 (IRS-8) inhibits coagulation and complement in the host.

A research Manuscript 4 characterizes a tick salivary serpin with a role in regulation of host hemostasis. Tick salivary serpins can have anticoagulation or immunosuppressive role. Here we report IRS-8, a serpin from *I. ricinus* saliva. We show in the primary structure of IRS-8 an unusually long reactive center loop. We biochemically characterized IRS-8 as an inhibitor of a variety of serine proteases, mostly those involved in blood coagulation. Subsequently, we have proven the anti-coagulatory effect of IRS-8 in an aPTT assay and anti-complement IRS-8 function in a rabbit erythrocyte lysis assay. IRS-8 RNA interference in ticks led to lower feeding success, but had no effect on *Borrelia* transmission. Although we could not see an effect in pathogen transmission, IRS-8 can still be considered a candidate component of a cocktail anti-tick vaccine.

Jan Kotál is the first author, designed and performed experiments, performed the analyses and wrote the manuscript.

1	Ixodes ricinus protein IRS-8 inhibits coagulation and complement in the host		
2			
3	Jan Kotál ^{1,2} , Stéphanie G. I. Polderdijk ³ , Helena Langhansová ¹ , Monika Ederová ¹ , Larissa A. Martins ² ,		
4	Zuzana Beránková ¹ , James A. Huntington ³ , Michail Kotsyfakis ² , and Jindřich Chmelař ¹		
5			
6	1. Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia in České		
7	Budějovice, Branišovská 1760c, České Budějovice, 37005, Czech Republic		
8	2. Laboratory of Genomics and Proteomics of Disease Vectors, Biology Centre CAS, Institute of		
9	Parasitology, Branišovská 1160/31, České Budějovice, 37005, Czech Republic		
10	3. University of Cambridge, Department of Haematology, Division of Structural Medicine, Cambridge		
11	Institute for Medical Research, Wellcome Trust/MRC Building, Hills Road, Cambridge, CB2 2XY,		
12	United Kingdom		
13			
14	Correspondence: Jindřich Chmelař: chmelar@prf.jcu.cz; Michail Kotsyfakis:		
15	mich_kotsyfis@yahoo.com		
16			
17	Abstract		
18			
19	Tick saliva is a rich source of anti-hemostatic, anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory molecules		
20	that actively help the tick to finish its blood meal. Moreover, these molecules are believed to facilitate		
21	the transmission of tick-borne pathogens. Herein, we present functional and structural characterization		
22	of IRS-8, a salivary serpin from the tick Ixodes ricinus, a European vector of tick-borne encephalitis and		
23	Lyme disease. IRS-8 has a blood-meal induced expression, which is highest in nymphs and salivary		
24	glands of adult females, as shown by qRT-PCR profiling of different feeding stages. IRS-8 inhibited		
25	proteases involved in the coagulation and blocked intrinsic pathway of coagulation cascade in vitro.		
26	However, the highest inhibition rate was towards plasmin, a fibrinolytic enzyme responsible also for the		
27	regulation of inflammatory response. Moreover, IRS-8 inhibited the lysis of erythrocytes by		
28	complement and RNA interference in tick nymphs resulted in delayed feeding time. To conclude, IRS-8		
29	is a tick serpin with conserved reactive centre loop that has strong anti-hemostatic features and may		
30	interfere with host innate immunity.		
31			
32	Introduction		
33			
34	Ticks are blood feeding ectoparasites and vectors of human pathogens, including agents of Lyme disease		

or tick borne encephalitis. *Ixodes ricinus* is a European tick from the family Ixodidae (hard ticks), found
also in the northern part of Africa and in the Middle East[1]. *I. ricinus* ticks feed only once in each of

- the three developmental stages (larva, nymph, imago) and their feeding course can take more than oneweek in adult females[2].
- In order to stay attached to the host for such extended periods of time, ticks counteract host defensemechanisms that would otherwise lead to tick rejection or death.
- 41 Insertion of tick mouthparts to host skin causes a mechanical injury that immediately triggers blood
- 42 coagulation, vasoconstriction and platelet aggregation mechanisms of hemostasis to prevent blood
- 43 loss[3]. Consequently, innate immunity is activated as noted by edema formation, inflammation, cell

44 infiltration and itching at tick feeding site. Long term feeding and/or repeated exposures of the host to

45 ticks activate adaptive immunity as well[4]. As an adaptation to host defense, ticks modulate and

46 suppress host immune responses and hemostasis by secreting a complex cocktail of pharmacoactive 47 substances via their saliva into the host. For further information on this topic, several reviews were

48 published that describe the role of saliva and salivary components on the host[4-8].

49 Blood coagulation is a cascade driven by serine proteases that leads to the production of fibrin clot and 50 thrombus. Coagulation can be initiated via extrinsic and intrinsic pathway[9]. The extrinsic pathway 51 starts with a blood vessel injury and complex formation between activated factor VII (fVIIa) and tissue 52 factor (TF). TF/fVIIa complex then activates factor X (fX) either directly or via activation of factor IX 53 (fIX) which in turn activates fX. The intrinsic pathway is triggered by the activation of factor XII (fXII) 54 via kallikrein. Activated fXII (fXIIa) activates factor XI (fXI), which next activates fIX and results in 55 the activation of fX, followed by a common pathway that closes the coagulation process by the activation of thrombin (factor II) and the cleavage of fibrinogen to fibrin, the primary component of the clot[9, 56 57 101.

58 Similarly to blood coagulation, the complement cascade is based on serine proteases as well. 59 Complement represents fast and robust defense mechanism against bacterial pathogens that are lysed or 60 opsonized by complement to facilitate their killing by other immune mechanisms[11, 12]. Complement can be activated by three pathways - classical pathway responding to antigen-antibody complexes, 61 62 alternative pathway is triggered when the C3b protein directly binds to a microbial surface and a lectin pathway that needs a lectin to bind to specific carbohydrates on pathogen surface[12]. All three pathways 63 64 result in the cleavage of C3 by C3 convertases to C3a and C3b fragments. C3b then triggers a positive 65 feedback loop to amplify complement response and opsonizes pathogen cells for phagocytosis. Together 66 with other complement components, C3b forms C5 convertase that cleaves C5 to C5a and C5b 67 fragments. C5b initiates the membrane attack complex (MAC) formation leading to a lysis of a target 68 cell. C3a and C5a subunits have a role in promoting inflammation[11].

Both processes, coagulation and complement, are detrimental for a feeding tick, therefore their saliva
contains many anti-coagulatory and anti-complement molecules, often from the group of protease
inhibitors[13-16].

Serpins form the largest and most ubiquitous family of protease inhibitors in nature that can be found in viruses, prokaryotes and eukaryotes[17, 18]. Serpins are irreversible inhibitors with unique inhibitory mechanism and highly conserved tertiary structure[19, 20] which are classified in the I4 family of MEROPS database[21]. Similarly to other serine protease inhibitors, serpin structure contain a reactive centre loop (RCL) that serves as a bait for the protease and its sequence determines serpins inhibitory

77 specificity[22].

Arthropod serpins have mostly homeostatic and immunological functions. They regulate haemolymph coagulation or activation of phenoloxidase system in insects[23]. Serpins from blood feeding arthropods found another use – they can modulate host immunity and hemostasis[23]. Indeed, more than 20 tick salivary serpins have been functionally characterized with described effects on coagulation or immunity[13]. However, according to numerous transcriptomic studies, total number of tick serpins is significantly higher[13]. In *I. ricinus*, at least 36 serpins were found based on transcriptomics data, but only two of them have been characterized at biochemical, immunomodulatory, anti-coagulatory or anti-

- tick vaccine level to date[13, 24-27].
- 86 Interestingly, there is one serpin with fully conserved RCL across various tick species[28]. Homologues
- 87 of this serpin have been described in Amblyomma americanum as AAS19[29], Rhipicephalus

- *haemaphysaloides* as RHS8[30], *Rhipicephalus microplus* as RmS-15[31], *I. ricinus* as IRS-8[26] and
- in other tick species, where the serpins have not been functionally characterized yet.
- 90 Herein we present the characterization of IRS-8, a salivary *I. ricinus* serpin with RCL conserved among
- 91 several tick species. We show its inhibitory specificity for serine proteases involved in coagulation and
- 92 strong inhibition of intrinsic pathway of coagulation. Moreover, for the first time we report the inhibition 93 of complement by a tick serpin.
- 94

95 Materials and Methods

96

97 Ticks and laboratory animals

98 All animal experiments were carried out in accordance with the Animal Protection Law of the Czech 99 Republic No. 246/1992 Sb., ethics approval No. 34/2018 and protocols approved by the responsible 100 committee of the Institute of Parasitology, Biology Centre of the Czech Academy of Sciences (IP BC 101 CAS). Male and female adult I. ricinus ticks were collected by flagging in a forest near the town České 102 Budějovice in the Czech Republic and further kept in 95% humidity chambers with 12 h light/dark cycle 103 at laboratory temperature. Tick nymphs were obtained from the tick rearing facility of the IP BC CAS. 104 C3H/HeN mice were purchased from Velaz (Prague, Czech Republic). Mice were housed in individually 105 ventilated cages with a 12h light/12h dark cycle and used at the age of 6-12 weeks. Laboratory rabbits 106 were purchased from RABBIT CZ a.s. (Trhový Štěpánov, Czech Republic) and housed individually in cages in the animal facility of the Institute of Parasitology. Guinea pigs were bred and housed in cages 107 108 in the animal facility of the Institute of Parasitology. All mammal animals were given a standard pellet 109 diet and water ad libitum.

110

111 Gene expression profiling

112 I. ricinus nymphs were fed on C3H/HeN mice for 1 day, 2 days and until full engorgement (3-4 days); 113 I. ricinus females were fed on guinea pigs for 1, 2, 3, 4, 6 and 8 days. Adult salivary glands, midguts 114 and ovaries, as well as nymph whole bodies were dissected under RNAse-free conditions and total RNA 115 was isolated using TriReagent solution (MRC). cDNA was prepared using 1 µg of total RNA from pools 116 of ticks fed on three different guinea pigs using the Transcriptor First Strand cDNA Synthesis kit 117 (Roche) according to manufacturer's instructions. The cDNA was subsequently used for the analysis of 118 IRS-8 expression by qPCR in RotorGene 6000 cycler (Corbett Research) using Fast Start Universal 119 SYBR® Green Master Mix (Roche). IRS-8 expression profiles were calculated using Livak and 120 Schmittgen mathematical model[32] and normalized to I. ricinus elongation factor 1α (efl; Genbank 121 number GU074829.1). Sequences of primers are shown in Table 1.

122

123 Table 1: List of primers

Amplicon name	Forward primer 5´ - 3´	Reverse primer 5´ - 3´	Amplicon length
IRS-8 RT-PCR	GACTCGGTTAATCCTCCTCAAC	ATGGGTACCTGGACCTTCT	123 bp
I.ricinus ef1 RT-PCR	CTGGGTGTGAAGCAGATGAT	GTAGGCAGACACTTCCTTCTG	105 bp
	CACAGAGAACAGATTGGTGGACA	GTCTCCTGAGTTCTAGAGTACTTTA	
IRS-8 cloning	AGACGAAATCAGCCAAG	TCAGAGGGCGTTGATCT	1207 bp
IRS-8 RNAi	ACTACCTGGGGCTCAATCTT	CCTGTTGCTAACCCAGTGT	401 bp
Borrelia flagellin	AGCAAATTTAGGTGCTTTCCAA	GCAATCATTGCCATTGCAGA	173 bp
Mouse β-actin	AGAGGGAAATCGTGCGTGAC	CAATAGTGATGACCTGGCCGT	138 bp
Borrelia flagellin probe	TGCTACAACCTCATCTGTCATTGTAGCATCTTTTATTTG		
Mouse β-actin probe	CACTGCCGCATCCTCTCCCC		

124 125

126 RNA silencing and Borrelia transmission

127 Borrelia afzelii-infected I. ricinus nymphs were prepared as described earlier[33, 34]. A fragment of 128 IRS-8 gene was amplified from I. ricinus cDNA using primers containing restriction sites for ApaI and 129 XbaI (Table 1; IRS-8 RNAi) and cloned into pll10 vector with two T7 promoters in reverse 130 orientations[35]. Double stranded RNA (dsRNA) of IRS-8, and dsRNA of green fluorescent protein 131 (gfp) used for control were synthesized using the MEGAscript T7 transcription kit (Ambion) as described previously[36]. The dsRNA (32 nl; 3 µg/µl) was injected into the haemocoel of sterile or 132 133 infected nymphs using Nanoinject II (Drummond). After 3-day rest in a humid chamber at laboratory 134 temperature, ticks were fed on C3H/HeN mice (15-20 nymphs per mouse) until full engorgement. Two 135 weeks later the mice were sacrificed and the numbers of Borrelia spirochetes in ear lobe, urinary bladder, 136 heart tissue and ankle joint were estimated by qPCR[37] and normalized to the number of mouse 137 genomes[38] (primers and probes sequences in Table 1). The level of gene knock-down was checked 138 by qPCR in an independent experiment.

139

140 Cloning, expression, purification

141 The full cDNA sequence of the gene encoding IRS-8 was amplified with primers presented in Table 1 142 using cDNA prepared from the salivary glands of female *I. ricinus* ticks fed for 3 and 6 days on rabbits 143 as a template. The IRS-8 gene without a signal peptide was cloned into a linearized Champion[™] pET 144 SUMO expression vector (Life Technologies) using NEBuilder® HiFi DNA Assembly Master Mix 145 (New England BioLabs) and transformed into *Escherichia coli* strain Rosetta2(DE3) pLysS (Novagen) 146 for expression. Bacterial cultures were fermented in auto-induction TB medium supplemented with 147 50mg/l kanamycin at 25 °C for 24 hours.

148 SUMO-tagged IRS-8 was purified from clarified cell lysate using a HisTrap FF column (GE Healthcare) 149 and eluted with 200mM imidazole. After the first purification, His and SUMO tags were cleaved using

a SUMO protease (1:100 w/w) overnight at laboratory temperature. Samples were then re-applied to the

HisTrap column again to separate tags from the native serpin. This step was followed by Ion Exchange
Chromatography using HiTrap Q HP column (GE Healthcare) and by Size Exclusion Chromatography

using HiLoad 16/60 Superdex 75 column (GE Healthcare) to ensure sufficient protein purity.

154

155 SDS-PAGE of complex formation

156 IRS-8 and proteases were incubated at 1 μ M final concentrations in a buffer corresponding to each

157 protease (please see below) for 1 hour at laboratory temperature. For assay with fVIIa, we added 1 µM

tissue factor (TF). Covalent complex formation was then analyzed in a reducing SDS-PAGE followed

159 by silver staining.

161 Determination of inhibition constants

162 Second-order rate constants of protease inhibition were measured by a discontinuous method under 163 pseudo first-order conditions, using at least a 20-fold molar excess of serpin over protease. Reactions 164 were incubated at laboratory temperature and were stopped for each time point by the addition of the 165 chromogenic / fluorogenic substrate appropriate for the protease used. The slope of the linear part of 166 fluorescence increase over time gave the residual protease activity at each time point. The apparent (observed) first-order rate constant k_{obs} was calculated from the slope of a plot of the natural log of 167 168 residual protease activity over time. k_{obs} was measured for 5-6 different serpin concentrations and plotted 169 against serpin concentration. The slope of this linear plot gave the second-order rate constant k_2 . For 170 each determination, the standard error is given.

171 The assay buffer was 20 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM CaCl₂, 0.2% BSA, 0.1% PEG 8000, pH 7.4 for

172 thrombin, fXa and fXIa; 20 mM tris, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM CaCl₂, 0.1% PEG 6000, 0.01% Triton X-

173 100, pH 7.5 for activated protein C (APC), fVIIa, fIXa, fXIIa, plasmin and chymotrypsin; 20 mM Tris,

150 mM NaCl, 0.02% Triton X-100, pH 8.5 for kallikrein; 50 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 10 mM CaCl₂,
 0.05% Brij 35.

176 Substrates were: 400 µM S2238 (DiaPharma) for thrombin; 400 µM S2222 for fXa (DiaPharma);

 $177-400~\mu M$ S2366 (DiaPharma) for fXIa; 250 μM Boc-QAR-AMC for fVIIa; 250 μM D-CHA-GR-AMC

 $\label{eq:250} \mbox{ for fXIIa; 250 } \mu \mbox{M Boc-VPR-AMC for kallikrein, trypsin and APC; 250 } \mu \mbox{M D-VLK-AMC for plasmin; } \\$

179 250 μ M Boc-G(OBzl)GR-AMC for fIXa.

180 Final concentration and origin of human proteases was the following: 2 nM thrombin (Haematologic

181 Technologies); 20 nM fVIIa (Haem. Tech.); 20 nM TF (BioLegend); 200 nM fIXa (Haem. Tech.); 5 nM

182 fXa (Haem. Tech.); 2 nM fXIa (Haem. Tech.); 10 nM fXIIa (Molecular Innovations); 8 nM plasma

kallikrein (Sigma); 1.25 nM plasmin (Haem. Tech.); 15nM APC (Haem. Tech.); 20 pM trypsin (RnD);
chymotrypsin (Merck).

185

160

186 Anti-IRS-8 serum production and Western blot

187 Serum with antibodies against IRS-8 was produced by immunization of a rabbit with pure recombinant protein as described previously[39]. Tick saliva was collected from ticks fed for 6 days on guinea pigs 188 189 by pilocarpine induction as described previously[40]. Tick saliva was separated by reducing 190 electrophoresis using NuPAGE™ 4-12% Bis-Tris gels. Proteins were either visualized using Coomassie 191 staining or transferred onto PVDF membrane (Thermo Scientific). Subsequently, membranes were 192 blocked in 5% skimmed milk in Tris-buffered saline (TBS) with 0.1% Tween 20 (TBS T) for 1 hour at 193 laboratory temperature. Membranes were then incubated with rabbit anti-IRS-8 serum diluted in 5% 194 skimmed milk in TBS-T (1:100) overnight at 4 °C. After washing in TBS-T, the membranes were 195 incubated with secondary antibody (goat anti-rabbit) conjugated with horseradish peroxidase (Cell 196 Signaling; 1:2000). The proteins were visualized using enhanced chemiluminescent substrate 197 WesternBrightTM Quantum (Advansta) and detected using CCD image system (Uvitec).

198

199 Coagulation assays

 $\label{eq:alpha} 200 \qquad \text{All assays were performed at 37 °C using pre-heated reagents (Technoclone). Normal human plasma}$

(Coagulation Control N) was pre-incubated with IRS-8 for 10 min prior to coagulation initiation. All
 assays were analyzed by Technoclone CEVERON four coagulometer.

For prothrombin time (PT) estimation, 100 μl plasma was pre-incubated with 6 μM IRS-8, followed by
addition of 200 μl Technoplastin HIS solution and estimation of fibrin clot formation time. For activated
partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), 100 μl plasma was pre-incubated with various concentrations of
IRS-8 (94 nM - 6 μM), followed by an addition of 100 μl of Dapttin and incubation for 2 min.
Coagulation was triggered by an addition of 100 μl of 25 mM CaCl₂ solution. Thrombin time (TT) was
measured using 200 μl plasma pre-incubated with 6 μM IRS-8 for 1 min. Fibrin clot formation was
initiated by an addition of 200 μl of Thrombin Reagent.

210 211

212 Complement assay

213 Fresh rabbit erythrocytes were collected in Alsever's solution from rabbit marginal ear artery. Fresh 214 human blood serum was obtained from three healthy individuals. Erythrocytes were washed three times 215 in an excess of PBS and finally diluted to a final 2% suspension (v/v). The assay was performed in a 96-216 well round bottomed microtiter plate (Nunc, Denmark). Each well contained 100 µl of 50% human 217 serum in PBS premixed with different concentrations of IRS-8 (315 nM - 10 μ M). After 10 min 218 incubation at laboratory temperature, 100 µl of erythrocyte suspension was added. Reaction wells were 219 observed individually under a stereomicroscope using oblique illumination and an aluminum pad, and 220 the time needed for erythrocytes lysis was measured. When full lysis was achieved, the reaction mixture 221 turned from opaque to transparent. Negative controls did not contain either IRS-8 or human serum. Additional controls were performed with heat-inactivated serum (56 °C, 30 min). The experiment was 222 223 performed in 3 biological replicates.

224

225 Immunological assays

226 Both, CD4+ T cell proliferation assay and neutrophil migration assay we performed following the 227 protocol described by Kotal et al.[41]. Briefly, for CD4+ T cell proliferation assay, splenocytes were 228 isolated form OT-II mice, fluorescently labelled, pre-incubated with serpin for 2 hours and their 229 proliferation was stimulated by addition of OVA peptide. After 72 h, the cells were labelled with anti-230 CD4 antibody and analyzed by flow cytometry. For migration assay, neutrophils were isolated from mouse bone marrow by using immunomagnetic separation and pre-incubated with serpin for 1 hour. 231 232 Cells were then seeded in a 5 µm pore Corning® Transwell® chambers and allowed to migrate towards 233 fMLP gradient for 1 hour. Migration rate was determined by cell counting.

234

235 Statistical analysis

All experiments were performed in 3 biological replicates. Data are presented as mean ± standard error
of mean (SEM) in all graphs. Student's t-test or one-way ANOVA were used to calculate statistical
differences between two or more groups, respectively. Statistically significant results were marked: *
P≤0.05; ** P≤0.01; *** P≤0.001; n.s. not significant.

240

241

242 Results

243

244 IRS-8 is predominantly a salivary protein with increasing transcription during tick feeding

245 Analysis of IRS-8 mRNA expression levels revealed its highest abundance in tick nymphs, where its

246 peak was during the first day of feeding (Fig. 1A). In salivary glands, increased IRS-8 transcription

positively correlates with the length of tick feeding on its host. A similar increasing trend was observed
also in tick midgut; however, the total number of IRS-8 transcripts was lower than in salivary glands.
The presence of IRS-8 transcripts in ovaries was the lowest from all tested tissues/stages. Next, we
performed a Western blot and confirmed IRS-8 presence in tick saliva also at the protein level (Fig. 1B).
Based on these results, we proceeded with testing the role of IRS-8 in the impairment of host defense
mechanisms as a component of tick saliva, although its activity in other tissues cannot be ruled out.

- 253
- 254



255

256 Figure 1: IRS-8 expression in ticks and its presence in tick saliva.

A Pools of *I. ricinus* salivary glands, midguts and ovaries from female ticks and whole bodies form nymphs were dissected under RNase-free conditions. cDNA was subsequently prepared as a template for qRT-PCR. IRS-8 expression was normalized to elongation factor 1 α and compared among all values with highest expression set to 100% (y-axis). The data show an average of three biological replicates for adult ticks and six replicates for nymphs (±SEM). SG = Salivary glands; MG = Midgut; OV = Ovaries; UF = Unfed ticks; 1d, 2d, 3d, 4d, 6d, 8d = ticks after 1, 2, 3, 4, 6 or 8 days of feeding. In nymphs, the last column represents fully fed nymphs.

B IRS-8 can be detected in tick saliva by Western blot. Saliva from ticks after 6 days of feeding and
IRS-8 recombinant protein were visualized by Western blot using serum from naïve and IRS-8
immunized rabbit. Sal = tick saliva; 1ng, 10ng = IRS-8 recombinant protein at 1 ng and 10 ng load.
N: Native IRS-8, C: Cleaved IRS-8

268

269 Sequence analysis and production of IRS-8

Full sequence of IRS-8 was obtained using cDNA from tick salivary glands. Following sequencing, we
found four amino acid mutation (K10 → E10, L36 → F36, P290 → T290 and F318 → S318) compared
to the sequence of IRS-8 published as a supplement of our previous work[26] (Genbank No.
DQ915845.1; ABI94058.1). The RCL was identical to other homologous tick serpins[30], with arginine
at the P1 position.

- 275 IRS-8 was expressed in 2 liters of medium with a yield of 45 mg of protein at >90% purity, as analyzed
- 276 by pixel density analysis in ImageJ software; where a majority is formed by the native serpin and a

277 fraction by a serpin cleaved in its RCL (Supplementary Figure 1). Proper folding of IRS-8 was verified

278 by CD spectroscopy (supplementary data) and subsequently by activity assays against serine proteases

as shown below. IRS-8 recombinant protein solution was tested for presence of LPS, resulting in 0.038

- endotoxin unit/ml, which is below the threshold of pyrogenic effect[42, 43].
- 281

282 IRS-8 inhibits serine proteases involved in coagulation

283 Based on sequence analysis of IRS-8 and arginine in P1 position, we focused mainly on analyzing its 284 specificity towards serine proteases related to blood coagulation. Considering unique serpin mechanism of inhibition, we analyzed by SDS-PAGE, whether IRS-8 forms covalent complexes with selected 285 286 proteases. Figure 2 shows complex formation between IRS-8 and 10 out of 11 tested proteases -287 thrombin, fVIIa, fIXa, fXa, fXIa, fXIa, plasmin, APC, kallikrein and trypsin. We did not detect any 288 complex formation with chymotrypsin. All inhibited proteases were also able to partially cleave IRS-8 molecule as indicated by a C-terminal fragment and a stronger signal of cleaved serpin molecule. 289 290 Chymotrypsin cleaved IRS-8 in its RCL completely. Subsequently, inhibition rates of IRS-8 against 291 these proteases were determined and are shown in Table 2. Among tested proteases, plasmin was 292 inhibited significantly stronger than other proteases with k2 over 200 000 mol⁻¹ s⁻¹. Trypsin, kallikrein, 293 fXIa and thrombin were inhibited with k^2 at a range of tens thousands, the rest of proteases with lower 294 k^2 . The k^2 for IRS-8 and fIXa was not estimated due to the need of use too high serpin concentration. 295 Incubation of fXIa with 10 fold excess of IRS-8 for 30, 60 and 90 minutes resulted in $26.7\pm2.7\%$. 296 30±7.6% and 39.9±6.1% decrease in fIXa activity.







299 Figure 2: Formation of covalent complexes between IRS-8 and serine proteases

IRS-8 and selected serine proteases were incubated for 1 hour and subsequently analyzed for complex formation by reducing SDS-PAGE. Protein separation differs between A and B due to use of gels with different polyacrylamide content. Gels show the profile of IRS-8 serpin alone; various serine proteases alone; and proteases incubated with IRS-8. Complex formation between fVIIa and IRS-8 was tested at presence of tissue factor at equimolar concentration (TF). Covalent complexes between IRS-8 and 305 protease are marked with a red arrow. Cleaved IRS-8 C-terminal is marked with a red rectangle.

306 N: Native IRS-8, C: Cleaved IRS-8

307

308 Table 2: Inhibition rate of IRS-8 against 9 selected serine proteases

Protease	k ₂ [mol ⁻¹ s ⁻¹]	± SE
Plasmin	225064	14183
Trypsin	29447	3508
Kallikrein	16682	1119
fXIa	16328	948
Thrombin	13794	1040
fXIIa	3324	409
fXa	2088	115
APC	523	35
fVIIa + TF	456	35
fIXa	N.A.	N.A.

309

310 Anti-complement activity of IRS-8

The complement readily lyses erythrocytes from various mammals, and those from rabbits were found to be the best complement activators[44]. We used human serum and rabbit erythrocytes to test the effect of tick protease inhibitors on the activity of human complement in vitro. Since complement cascade is driven by serine proteases, we tested a potential effect of serpin IRS-8 as a complement regulator. We could see a statistically significant reduction in complement activity against erythrocytes, when incubating human plasma with IRS-8 at concentrations 2.5 μ M and higher (Fig. 3A). Erythrocytes were fully lysed after 7.57 \pm 0.12 s in the control group.

318

319 IRS-8 inhibits intrinsic coagulation pathway

320 Following the results from in vitro inhibition of coagulation proteases by IRS-8, we tested its activity in 321 three coagulation assays. Prothrombin time (PT) assay simulates the extrinsic pathway of coagulation, 322 activated partial thromboplastin time (aPPT) represents the intrinsic pathway and thrombin time (TT) 323 evaluates the final step of clot formation, in which fibrinogen is cleaved to fibrin. IRS-8 had no 324 significant effect on PT and TT, where it increased PT from 15.3 to 16.7 s and TT from 17.6 to 18.4 s, 325 when using 6 µM serpin (not shown). IRS-8 extended aPTT in a dose dependent manner with statistically 326 significant increase already at 375 nM. When using 6 µM IRS-8, aPTT was delayed more than four 327 times from 31.8 ± 0.4 s to 167.9 ± 3.2 s (Fig. 3B).

328





330 Figure 3: Inhibition of complement and coagulation pathways by IRS-8

A IRS-8 inhibits erythrocytes lysis by human complement. Human plasma was pre-incubated with increasing concentration of IRS-8 (315 nM - 10 μ M). After addition of rabbit erythrocytes, their lysis time by complement was estimated.

334 B IRS-8 inhibits intrinsic coagulation pathway. Human plasma was pre-incubated with increasing

concentration of IRS-8 (94 nM $- 6 \mu$ M). Coagulation was triggered by addition of Dapttin reagent and CaCl₂ and clot formation time was measured.

Both graphs show time prolongation in percent compared to a control group without IRS-8, in whichthere was no time prolongation.

339

340 IRS-8 transcription knockdown has an effect on tick feeding but not on Borrelia transmission

341 Based on IRS-8 strongest transcription in tick nymphs (Fig. 1A), we decided to investigate its 342 importance for tick feeding by RNA interference (RNAi) in nymphal stage. Knock-down was successful 343 with 87% efficiency in transcripts down-regulation. Ticks with down-regulated IRS-8 expression 344 showed lower feeding success rate and higher mortality, when 51.0% finished feeding, compared to 345 94.1% in control group. We have also detected a longer feeding time compared to control nymphs (Fig. 346 4A). Despite this promising phenotype, we did not observe any effect of IRS-8 RNAi on weight of fully 347 engorged nymphs (Fig. 4B) or on B. afzelii transmission from infected nymphs to mice in any of tested mouse tissues (Fig. 4C). 348

349



350

351 Figure 4: Effect of RNAi on tick fitness and Borrelia transmission

A RNAi of IRS-8 had prolonged length of *I. ricinus* nymphs feeding course when compared to the control group (GFP)

B Weight of fully engorged nymphs with IRS-8 knock-down was not different from the control group(GFP).

356 C Presence of *B. afzelii* spirochetes in mouse tissues after being infested by infected *I. ricinus* nymphs.

We did not detect any significant difference between IRS-8 knocked-down and GFP control groups inany of tested tissues.

359

360 Role of IRS-8 in modulating host immunity

Next we evaluated a possible role of IRS-8 in modulation of host immune response to tick feeding. We tested the effect of IRS-8 in two assays, where we could see some effect with another *I. ricinus* salivary serpin Iripin-3 (unpublished data) and tick salivary cystatin Iristatin[41]. We investigated properties of IRS-8 in the OVA antigen-specific CD4+ T cell proliferation model using splenocytes isolated from OT-II mice and we tested its effect on neutrophils migration towards their attractant fMLP. However, we did not observe any inhibition by IRS-8 in either of the assays (Supplementary Figure 3).

367

368 Discussion

- 369 Similarly to other characterized tick salivary serpins[13], IRS-8 can modulate host defense mechanisms
- 370 and therefore can facilitate tick feeding. Moreover, in accordance with other serpins possessing anti-
- 371 coagulatory activity[45], IRS-8 has Arg in its P1 position. In combination with its unusually long RCL

372 and a possibility of P1 variability, this makes IRS-8 a molecule with a potential effect beyond the 373 inhibition of coagulation. We characterized IRS-8 as an inhibitor of at least 10 serine proteases. The 374 inhibition of kallikrein, thrombin, fVIIa, fIXa, fXa, fXIa and fXIIa can be directly correlated to their 375 interference with blood coagulation cascade[46]. The disruption of this process would be highly 376 beneficial for the ticks[3]. Apart from the role of trypsin in meal digestion, it has also been linked to 377 skin inflammation[47, 48]. Therefore, the inhibition of trypsin could be another tick mechanism, how 378 to evade host immune system. From all tested proteases, IRS-8 showed greatest inhibition of plasmin, 379 known for fibrin degradation and clot removal[49], a process that actually should be beneficial for ticks. 380 However, it is not fully understood, whether fibrin clot formation occurs at tick feeding site at all with 381 the excess of anti-coagulatory molecules. Apart from fibrinolysis, plasmin participates also in 382 modulation of several immunological processes. Plasmin interacts with leukocytes, endothelial cells, 383 extracellular matrix or immune system factors[49-51]. Excessive plasmin generation can even lead to 384 pathophysiological inflammatory processes[50]. Considering the pro-inflammatory role of plasmin, its 385 inhibition by tick salivary serpin could be more beneficial for the tick than unimpaired fibrinolysis. 386 Although we did not see any effect of IRS-8 in two immune assays, we cannot exclude the possibility 387 of another immunomodulatory effect of IRS-8.

388 The anti-complement activity of tick saliva or its protein components has been known for decades and 389 described in numerous publications [14, 15, 52-54]. Although the active molecules originate either from 390 unique tick protein families[55-60] or lipocalins[16], an anti-complement activity has never been 391 reported for tick salivary serpins or even other tick protease inhibitors. Since complement products might directly damage the tick hypostome or initiate a stronger immune response[11], we suggest that 392 393 the role of IRS-8 is in attenuating these mechanisms. At the same time, impaired complement system 394 cannot effectively fight pathogens entering the wound at the same time as tick saliva[14]. In this context, 395 we wanted to test a potential effect of IRS-8 transcriptional down-regulation on Borrelia transmission 396 from ticks to the host. Although we saw some effect of RNA interference (RNAi) on tick fitness, the 397 amount of Borrelia in host tissues was not significantly lower. Such a result can be explained by 398 redundancy of tick salivary molecules, as ticks secrete a variety of effectors against the same host 399 defense mechanism and knock-down of one molecule can be supplemented by the activity of others[61]. 400 Furthermore, increased tick mortality after IRS-8 knockdown can be connected to a potential role of 401 IRS-8 within the tick body. As an anti-coagulant, IRS-8 can help to keep the ingested blood in tick 402 midgut in an unclotted state to be later available for intracellular digestion[62-64]. A similar principle 403 has previously been suggested for midgut serpins from various tick species[65]. The function of IRS-8 404 can also possibly be in hemolymph clotting[66, 67] or reproduction and egg development[68, 69].

405 In comparison of IRS-8 with other members of a tick serpin group with identical RCL, we were able to 406 confirm the anti-coagulatory property reported also for AAS19[29] and RmS-15[31]. RNAi or IRS-8 407 led to lower feeding success, while RNAi of AAS19 resulted in decreased blood intake and 408 morphological deformation of ticks[70] and RNAi of RHS8 had effect on body weight, feeding time 409 and vitellogenesis[30]. However, these findings are difficult to correlate due to using different tick 410 species and life stages. Although IRS-8 was detected in tick saliva and should therefore play role in 411 regulation of host defense mechanisms, experiments, focused defining IRS-8 function in other tick 412 tissues can bring interesting results. Similarly to AAS19[70], a possible role of IRS-8 in tick body can 413 be regulation of hemolymph clotting, which is naturally regulated by serpins[65]. IRS-8 can also 414 contribute to maintaining ingested blood in tick midgut in an unclotted state to stay available for

415 intracellular digestion[62, 64].

416 We conclude that tick serpin IRS-8 is secreted into the host as a component of *I. ricinus* saliva. Its main

417 role is in the modulation of host blood coagulation and complement activity, with a possible function in

418 regulating immunity. Based on the its inhibitory activity, aimed mainly at proteases of coagulation

419 cascade[46], we suggest that IRS-8 inhibits host defense mechanisms against tick feeding.

- 420 A more detailed comparative study of tick serpins with conserved RCL, in which IRS-8 belongs, might 421 shed some light on their role in different tick species or reveal a potential in development an anti-tick vaccine.
- 422

423

424 Acknowledgement

425 This work was supported by the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (grant 19-14704Y to JC) and by ERD Funds, project CePaVip OPVVV (No. 384 CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16 019/0000759 to MK). The 426 427 authors declare no conflict of interests.

428

429 Authorship

- 430 JK: designed and performed experiments, performed the analyses, and wrote the manuscript; SGIP, HL,
- ME, LAM, ZB: designed and performed experiments; JAH, JC: designed experiments, performed 431 432 analyses, and edited the manuscript; MK: revised the manuscript.
- 433

434 References

- 435 Lindgren, E., L. Talleklint, and T. Polfeldt, Impact of climatic change on the northern latitude 1. 436 limit and population density of the disease-transmitting European tick Ixodes ricinus. Environ 437 Health Perspect, 2000. 108(2): p. 119-23.
- 438 2. Sonenshine, D.E., Biology of ticks. 2nd ed. 2014, Oxford: Oxford University Press. 2 vol.
- 439 3 Chmelar, J., et al., Tick salivary secretion as a source of antihemostatics. J Proteomics, 2012. 440 75(13): p. 3842-54.
- 441 4. Kotal, J., et al., Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva. J Proteomics, 2015. 128: p. 58-68.
- 442 5. Kazimirova, M. and I. Stibraniova, Tick salivary compounds: their role in modulation of host 443 defences and pathogen transmission. Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2013. 3: p. 43.
- 444 6. Simo, L., et al., The Essential Role of Tick Salivary Glands and Saliva in Tick Feeding and 445 Pathogen Transmission. Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2017. 7: p. 281.
- 446 7. Stibraniova, I., et al., Deciphering Biological Processes at the Tick-Host Interface Opens New 447 Strategies for Treatment of Human Diseases. Front Physiol, 2019. 10: p. 830.
- 448 8. Nuttall, P.A., Wonders of tick saliva. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 2019. 10(2): p. 470-481.
- 449 9. Hoffman, M., Remodeling the blood coagulation cascade. J Thromb Thrombolysis, 2003. 16(1-450 2): p. 17-20.
- 451 10. Amara, U., et al., Interaction between the coagulation and complement system. Adv Exp Med Biol, 2008. 632: p. 71-9. 452
- 453 Carroll, M.C., The complement system in regulation of adaptive immunity. Nat Immunol, 2004. 11. 454 5(10): p. 981-6.
- 455 12. Ricklin, D., et al., Complement: a key system for immune surveillance and homeostasis. Nat 456 Immunol, 2010. 11(9): p. 785-97.
- 457 13. Chmelar, J., et al., Protease Inhibitors in Tick Saliva: The Role of Serpins and Cystatins in Tick-458 host-Pathogen Interaction. Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2017. 7: p. 216.
- 459 14. Wikel, S., Ticks and tick-borne pathogens at the cutaneous interface: host defenses, tick 460 countermeasures, and a suitable environment for pathogen establishment. Front Microbiol, 461 2013. 4: p. 337.
- 462 Schroeder, H., et al., Subversion of complement by hematophagous parasites. Dev Comp 15. 463 Immunol, 2009. 33(1): p. 5-13.

- Nunn, M.A., et al., Complement inhibitor of C5 activation from the soft tick Ornithodoros
 moubata. J Immunol, 2005. 174(4): p. 2084-91.
- 466 17. Huntington, J.A., Serpin structure, function and dysfunction. J Thromb Haemost, 2011. 9 Suppl
 467 1: p. 26-34.
- 468 18. Law, R.H., et al., An overview of the serpin superfamily. Genome Biol, 2006. 7(5): p. 216.
- 469 19. Silverman, G.A., et al., Serpins flex their muscle: I. Putting the clamps on proteolysis in diverse
 470 biological systems. J Biol Chem, 2010. 285(32): p. 24299-305.
- 47120.Whisstock, J.C., et al., Serpins flex their muscle: II. Structural insights into target peptidase472recognition, polymerization, and transport functions. J Biol Chem, 2010. 285(32): p. 24307-12.
- Rawlings, N.D., et al., *The MEROPS database of proteolytic enzymes, their substrates and inhibitors in 2017 and a comparison with peptidases in the PANTHER database*. Nucleic Acids
 Res, 2018. 46(D1): p. D624-D632.
- 476 22. Whisstock, J.C. and S.P. Bottomley, *Molecular gymnastics: serpin structure, folding and* 477 *misfolding.* Curr Opin Struct Biol, 2006. **16**(6): p. 761-8.
- 478 23. Meekins, D.A., M.R. Kanost, and K. Michel, *Serpins in arthropod biology*. Semin Cell Dev Biol,
 479 2017. 62: p. 105-119.
- 480 24. Leboulle, G., et al., Characterization of a novel salivary immunosuppressive protein from lxodes
 481 ricinus ticks. J Biol Chem, 2002. 277(12): p. 10083-9.
- 482 25. Prevot, P.P., et al., Anti-hemostatic effects of a serpin from the saliva of the tick Ixodes ricinus.
 483 J Biol Chem, 2006. 281(36): p. 26361-9.
- 484 26. Chmelar, J., et al., A tick salivary protein targets cathepsin G and chymase and inhibits host
 485 inflammation and platelet aggregation. Blood, 2011. 117(2): p. 736-44.
- Palenikova, J., et al., *Ixodes ricinus salivary serpin IRS-2 affects Th17 differentiation via inhibition of the interleukin-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway.* Infect Immun, 2015. 83(5): p. 194956.
- Porter, L., et al., *Bioinformatic analyses of male and female Amblyomma americanum tick expressed serine protease inhibitors (serpins)*. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 2015. 6(1): p. 16-30.
- 491 29. Kim, T.K., et al., Conserved Amblyomma americanum tick Serpin19, an inhibitor of blood
 492 clotting factors Xa and XIa, trypsin and plasmin, has anti-haemostatic functions. Int J Parasitol,
 493 2015. 45(9-10): p. 613-27.
- 49430.Xu, Z., et al., A serpin from the tick Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides: Involvement in495vitellogenesis. Vet Parasitol, 2020. 279: p. 109064.
- 496 31. Xu, T., A. Lew-Tabor, and M. Rodriguez-Valle, *Effective inhibition of thrombin by Rhipicephalus*497 *microplus serpin-15 (RmS-15) obtained in the yeast Pichia pastoris.* Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 2016.
 498 7(1): p. 180-7.
- 49932.Livak, K.J. and T.D. Schmittgen, Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time500quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. Methods, 2001. 25(4): p. 402-8.
- Stepanova-Tresova, G., J. Kopecky, and M. Kuthejlova, *Identification of Borrelia burgdorferi sensu stricto, Borrelia garinii and Borrelia afzelii in Ixodes ricinus ticks from southern Bohemia using monoclonal antibodies.* Zentralbl Bakteriol, 2000. 289(8): p. 797-806.
- 50434.Pospisilova, T., et al., Tracking of Borrelia afzelii transmission from infected Ixodes ricinus505nymphs to mice. Infect Immun, 2019.
- 50635.Levashina, E.A., et al., Conserved role of a complement-like protein in phagocytosis revealed by507dsRNA knockout in cultured cells of the mosquito, Anopheles gambiae. Cell, 2001. 104(5): p.508709-18.
- 50936.Hajdusek, O., et al., Knockdown of proteins involved in iron metabolism limits tick reproduction510and development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2009. **106**(4): p. 1033-8.
- 51137.Schwaiger, M., O. Peter, and P. Cassinotti, Routine diagnosis of Borrelia burgdorferi (sensu lato)512infections using a real-time PCR assay. Clin Microbiol Infect, 2001. 7(9): p. 461-9.
- 51338.Dai, J., et al., Antibodies against a tick protein, Salp15, protect mice from the Lyme disease514agent. Cell Host Microbe, 2009. 6(5): p. 482-92.

Kopacek, P., et al., Molecular cloning, expression and isolation of ferritins from two tick species-515 39. 516 -Ornithodoros moubata and Ixodes ricinus. Insect Biochem Mol Biol, 2003. 33(1): p. 103-13. 517 40. Kyckova, K. and J. Kopecky, Effect of tick saliva on mechanisms of innate immune response 518 against Borrelia afzelii. J Med Entomol, 2006. 43(6): p. 1208-14. 519 41. Kotal, J., et al., The structure and function of Iristatin, a novel immunosuppressive tick salivary 520 cystatin. Cell Mol Life Sci, 2019. 76(10): p. 2003-2013. 521 42. Petsch, D. and F.B. Anspach, Endotoxin removal from protein solutions. J Biotechnol, 2000. 522 76(2-3): p. 97-119. 523 43. Magalhães, P.O. and A. Pessoa Jr., Lipopolysaccharide, LPS removal, Depyrogenation, in 524 Encyclopedia of Industrial Biotechnology. p. 1-6. 525 44. Sunyer, J.O. and L. Tort, Natural hemolytic and bactericidal activities of sea bream Sparus 526 aurata serum are effected by the alternative complement pathway. Vet Immunol 527 Immunopathol, 1995. 45(3-4): p. 333-45. 528 45. Huntington, J.A., Natural inhibitors of thrombin. Thromb Haemost, 2014. 111(4): p. 583-9. 529 46. Walsh, P.N. and S.S. Ahmad, Proteases in blood clotting. Essays Biochem, 2002. 38: p. 95-111. 530 47. Meyer-Hoffert, U., et al., Trypsin induces epidermal proliferation and inflammation in murine 531 skin. Exp Dermatol, 2004. 13(4): p. 234-41. 532 48. Rattenholl, A. and M. Steinhoff, Proteinase-activated receptor-2 in the skin: receptor expression, activation and function during health and disease. Drug News Perspect. 2008. 533 534 **21**(7): p. 369-81. 535 49. Foley, J.H., Plasmin(ogen) at the Nexus of Fibrinolysis, Inflammation, and Complement. Semin 536 Thromb Hemost, 2017. 43(2): p. 135-142. 537 50. Draxler, D.F., M. Sashindranath, and R.L. Medcalf, Plasmin: A Modulator of Immune Function. 538 Semin Thromb Hemost, 2017. 43(2): p. 143-153. 539 51. Syrovets, T., et al., Plasmin-induced expression of cytokines and tissue factor in human 540 monocytes involves AP-1 and IKKbeta-mediated NF-kappaB activation. Blood, 2001. 97(12): p. 541 3941-50. 542 52. Lawrie, C.H., S.E. Randolph, and P.A. Nuttall, Ixodes ticks: serum species sensitivity of 543 anticomplement activity. Exp Parasitol, 1999. 93(4): p. 207-14. 544 53. Lawrie, C.H., R.B. Sim, and P.A. Nuttall, Investigation of the mechanisms of anti-complement 545 activity in Ixodes ricinus ticks. Mol Immunol, 2005. 42(1): p. 31-8. 546 54. Ribeiro, J.M., Ixodes dammini: salivary anti-complement activity. Exp Parasitol, 1987. 64(3): p. 547 347-53 548 55. Valenzuela, J.G., et al., Purification, cloning, and expression of a novel salivary anticomplement 549 protein from the tick, Ixodes scapularis. J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(25): p. 18717-23. 550 56. Tyson, K., et al., Biochemical and functional characterization of Salp20, an Ixodes scapularis 551 tick salivary protein that inhibits the complement pathway. Insect Mol Biol, 2007. 16(4): p. 469-552 79. 553 57. Tyson, K.R., C. Elkins, and A.M. de Silva, A novel mechanism of complement inhibition 554 unmasked by a tick salivary protein that binds to properdin. J Immunol, 2008. 180(6): p. 3964-555 8. 556 58. Daix, V., et al., Ixodes ticks belonging to the Ixodes ricinus complex encode a family of 557 anticomplement proteins. Insect Mol Biol, 2007. 16(2): p. 155-66. 558 59. Schroeder, H., et al., The paralogous salivary anti-complement proteins IRAC I and IRAC II 559 encoded by Ixodes ricinus ticks have broad and complementary inhibitory activities against the 560 complement of different host species. Microbes Infect, 2007. 9(2): p. 247-50. 561 60. Schuijt, T.J., et al., A tick mannose-binding lectin inhibitor interferes with the vertebrate 562 complement cascade to enhance transmission of the lyme disease agent. Cell Host Microbe, 563 2011. 10(2): p. 136-46. 564 61. Chmelar, J., et al., All For One and One For All on the Tick-Host Battlefield. Trends Parasitol, 565 2016. 32(5): p. 368-77.

- 566 62. Sojka, D., et al., *New insights into the machinery of blood digestion by ticks*. Trends Parasitol, 2013. **29**(6): p. 276-85.
- Franta, Z., et al., Dynamics of digestive proteolytic system during blood feeding of the hard tick
 Ixodes ricinus. Parasit Vectors, 2010. **3**: p. 119.
- 57064.Lara, F.A., et al., Tracing heme in a living cell: hemoglobin degradation and heme traffic in571digest cells of the cattle tick Boophilus microplus. J Exp Biol, 2005. 208(Pt 16): p. 3093-101.
- Blisnick, A.A., T. Foulon, and S.I. Bonnet, Serine Protease Inhibitors in Ticks: An Overview of Their Role in Tick Biology and Tick-Borne Pathogen Transmission. Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2017. 7: p. 199.
- 575 66. Mulenga, A., et al., Four serine proteinase inhibitors (serpin) from the brown ear tick,
 576 Rhiphicephalus appendiculatus; cDNA cloning and preliminary characterization. Insect
 577 Biochem Mol Biol, 2003. 33(2): p. 267-76.
- 57867.Imamura, S., et al., A serine protease inhibitor (serpin) from Haemaphysalis longicornis as an579anti-tick vaccine. Vaccine, 2005. 23(10): p. 1301-11.
- Rodriguez-Valle, M., et al., *Differential recognition by tick-resistant cattle of the recombinantly expressed Rhipicephalus microplus serine protease inhibitor-3 (RMS-3)*. Ticks Tick Borne Dis,
 2012. 3(3): p. 159-69.
- 583 69. Rodriguez-Valle, M., et al., *Rhipicephalus microplus serine protease inhibitor family:* 584 annotation, expression and functional characterisation assessment. Parasit Vectors, 2015. 8:
 585 p. 7.
- Kim, T.K., Z. Radulovic, and A. Mulenga, *Target validation of highly conserved Amblyomma americanum tick saliva serine protease inhibitor 19.* Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 2016. 7(3): p. 405-14.
- Akazawa, T., et al., *Structural change of ovalbumin-related protein X by alkali treatment*. Poult
 Sci, 2018. **97**(5): p. 1730-1737.
- 59072.Yang, L., et al., Probing the folding pathway of a consensus serpin using single tryptophan591mutants. Sci Rep, 2018. 8(1): p. 2121.

592

593 Supplement

594

595 Sequence analysis and production of IRS-8 – supplement

596



597

598 Supplementary Figure 1: Analysis of IRS-8 purity by SDS-PAGE

IRS-8 was analyzed by a reducing SDS-PAGE gel. M: Molecular weight marker, A-G: IRS-8 with load
of 50, 25, 12.5, 6.2, 3.1, 1.55, 0.8 μg per well. Arrows show IRS-8 in its native and cleaved state.

601

602 Circular dichroism (CD) spectroscopy

603 In order to verify a correct fold of IRS-8 recombinant protein, we performed CD spectroscopy analysis.

- Prior to analysis, buffer of IRS-8 solution was exchanged for 20mM NaH₂PO₄, 150mM NaF, pH 7.4
- $605 \qquad CD \ spectra \ were \ obtained \ using \ JASCO \ J-810 \ spectropolarimeter \ at \ 22 \ ^{\circ}C \ at \ wavelengths \ ranging \ from$
- 606 190 to 300 nm using a 0.1 mm path-length cuvette.
- As shown in Supplementary Figure 2, IRS-8 displays properties typical for serpins secondarystructure[71, 72].



609

610

611 612

613 Role of IRS-8 in modulating host immunity – supplement 614



615

616 Supplementary Figure 3: Effect of IRS-8 on T cells proliferation and neutrophil migration

617 A Splenocytes from OT-II mouse were pre-incubated with IRS-8 and stimulated by OVA peptide.

618 Percentage of proliferating CD4+ T cells was evaluated after 72 hours by flow cytometry.

- 619 B Mouse primary bone marrow neutrophils were pre-incubated with IRS-8 and subjected to migration
- 620 towards fMLP in a Boyden chamber. Figure shows percent of neutrophils that migrated from an insert
- 621 with 3 μ m membrane to compartment with fMLP.
- 622 Both experiments were performed in three biological replicates.
- 623

4. Conclusion

Despite the effort of many research teams worldwide and several patented drug candidate molecules, the number of tick-related discoveries with a potential to improve human or animal life quality is still relatively low. Except for lower general interest in ticks compared to mosquitoes or trypanosomes, this can also be explained by some specific difficulties of tick research.

The life cycle of *I. ricinus* takes generally several years in nature[4], can be, however, compressed to one year under ideal laboratory conditions. Moreover, adult female ticks feed for over a week[4], which requires an animal facility or use of an elaborate artificial feeding system[175]. Faster results can be achieved using a different species of hard ticks as a model organism, like *R. microplus* with a 5 weeks long life cycle[4]. An advantage in studying soft ticks like *O. moubata* can be in significantly shorter feeding time, taking only 30 minutes using an in vitro system[176] and avoiding the need of feeding on animals.

Tick research also still suffers from lack of modern molecular and genetic tools that are routinely available in model organisms like *Drosophila melanogaster*, *Caenorhabditis elegans* or *Plasmodium*. Currently, the only tool to manipulate gene expression in ticks is at the level of transcripts by RNAi. Applying changes to genomes by Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats / CRISPR associated protein 9 (CRISPR/Cas9) [177], zinc finger nucleases (ZFNs)[178] or transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs)[179] has not been successful in ticks yet[180]. Successful genome editing in Acari subclass was reported in a mite *Tetranychus urticae* using marker-assisted introgression[181]. Although the progress in understanding tick-host-pathogen interaction has been tremendous in the past few decades, there is still a lot left to investigate to fully understand all the complex relationships.

Studying ticks and their molecules can bring interesting results with a potential to be applied in human or veterinary medicine one day. Tick saliva is a rich and still mostly unexplored source of biologically active molecules, which have been evolving for millions of years to modulate the vertebrate immune system in the most effective way. Among these, the protease inhibitors represent a group with a strong medical potential, because many immune or hemostatic responses require proteolytic activity. Research

manuscripts included in this thesis aim to shed more light on the modulation of host immune response by specific salivary components of a tick *I. ricinus*. Presented results contribute to characterization of molecules form tick saliva with immunomodulatory or anti-hemostatic effects. We showed inhibition of specific host defense mechanisms at a molecular level by characterization of a tick salivary cystatin and a serpin and their mode of action. Iristatin - cystatin presented in Manuscript 3, is an immunomodulator suppressing both, Th1 and Th2 branches of immune response. Furthermore it has an effect on inflammation by inhibiting leukocyte migration. Serpin IRS-8 presented in Manuscript 4 is an inhibitor of complement system and intrinsic pathway of blood coagulation. RNA interference experiment with IRS-8 showed a limited potential in IRS-8 use as a vaccine candidate.

Taken together, results from the manuscripts increase our understanding of processes at the tick-host interface. More detailed characterization of above described molecules and describing more candidate molecules will bring deeper insight into the role of protease inhibitors in tick-host-pathogen interaction.

As summarized above, tick saliva has an impact on biological processes in the host, including inflammation, blood coagulation or complement activation. Protease inhibitors present in tick saliva regulate many of these processes and are therefore essential for tick feeding and for pathogen transmission. The therapeutic potential of tick salivary gland molecules is evident from literature and is therefore an interesting topic for research. In a summary, studying ticks and their proteins will not only increase our general knowledge of parasitology, but can result in discoveries beneficial for the mankind.

5. List of references

- 1. Poulin, R., *Evolutionary Ecology of Parasites*. Second ed. 2007: Princeton University Press.
- Poulin, R. and H.S. Randhawa, *Evolution of parasitism along convergent lines: from ecology to genomics*. Parasitology, 2015. 142 Suppl 1: p. S6-S15.
- 3. Sonenshine, D.E., *Biology of ticks*. 2nd ed. 2014, Oxford: Oxford University Press. 2 vol.
- 4. Capinera, J.L., *Encyclopedia of entomology*. Second ed. Springer reference. 2008, Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.
- 5. Mans, B.J., et al., Nuttalliella namaqua: a living fossil and closest relative to the ancestral tick lineage: implications for the evolution of blood-feeding in ticks. PLoS One, 2011. **6**(8): p. e23675.
- 6. Bowman, A.S. and P.A. Nuttall, *Ticks : biology, disease and control.* 2008, Cambridge, UK ; New York: Cambridge University Press. xii, 506 pages.
- 7. Brusca, R.C. and G.J. Brusca, *Invertebrates*. 2nd ed. 2003, Sunderland, Mass.: Sinauer Associates. xix, 936 pages.
- 8. Lindgren, E., L. Talleklint, and T. Polfeldt, *Impact of climatic change on the northern latitude limit and population density of the disease-transmitting European tick Ixodes ricinus*. Environ Health Perspect, 2000. **108**(2): p. 119-23.
- 9. Sojka, D., et al., *New insights into the machinery of blood digestion by ticks.* Trends Parasitol, 2013. **29**(6): p. 276-85.
- 10. Mehlhorn, H., *Encyclopedia of parasitology*. Fourth ed. 2016: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg.
- 11. Bartikova, P., et al., *Tick-borne viruses*. Acta Virol, 2017. **61**(4): p. 413-427.
- 12. Shi, J., et al., *Tick-Borne Viruses*. Virol Sin, 2018. **33**(1): p. 21-43.
- 13. Sprong, H., et al., *Control of Lyme borreliosis and other Ixodes ricinus-borne diseases*. Parasit Vectors, 2018. **11**(1): p. 145.
- 14. Ruzek, D., et al., *Tick-borne encephalitis in Europe and Russia: Review of pathogenesis, clinical features, therapy, and vaccines.* Antiviral Res, 2019. **164**: p. 23-51.
- 15. de la Fuente, J., et al., *Tick-Pathogen Interactions and Vector Competence: Identification of Molecular Drivers for Tick-Borne Diseases.* Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2017. **7**: p. 114.

- 16. Rego, R.O.M., et al., *Counterattacking the tick bite: towards a rational design of anti-tick vaccines targeting pathogen transmission*. Parasit Vectors, 2019. **12**(1): p. 229.
- 17. Rizzoli, A., et al., *Lyme borreliosis in Europe*. Euro Surveill, 2011. **16**(27).
- 18. Mead, P.S., *Epidemiology of Lyme disease*. Infect Dis Clin North Am, 2015. **29**(2): p. 187-210.
- 19. Kamp, H.D., et al., *Design of a broadly reactive Lyme disease vaccine*. NPJ Vaccines, 2020. **5**: p. 33.
- 20. Rizzoli, A., et al., *Ixodes ricinus and Its Transmitted Pathogens in Urban and Peri-Urban Areas in Europe: New Hazards and Relevance for Public Health.* Front Public Health, 2014. **2**: p. 251.
- 21. Mans, B.J., R. Pienaar, and A.A. Latif, *A review of Theileria diagnostics and epidemiology*. Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl, 2015. **4**(1): p. 104-18.
- 22. Kotal, J., et al., *Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva*. J Proteomics, 2015. **128**: p. 58-68.
- 23. Chmelar, J., et al., *Tick salivary secretion as a source of antihemostatics*. J Proteomics, 2012. **75**(13): p. 3842-54.
- 24. Hoffman, M., *Remodeling the blood coagulation cascade*. J Thromb Thrombolysis, 2003. **16**(1-2): p. 17-20.
- 25. Amara, U., et al., *Interaction between the coagulation and complement system*. Adv Exp Med Biol, 2008. **632**: p. 71-9.
- 26. Chmelar, J., et al., *Protease Inhibitors in Tick Saliva: The Role of Serpins and Cystatins in Tick-host-Pathogen Interaction.* Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2017. **7**: p. 216.
- 27. Carroll, M.C., *The complement system in regulation of adaptive immunity*. Nat Immunol, 2004. **5**(10): p. 981-6.
- 28. Ricklin, D., et al., *Complement: a key system for immune surveillance and homeostasis.* Nat Immunol, 2010. **11**(9): p. 785-97.
- 29. Wikel, S., Ticks and tick-borne pathogens at the cutaneous interface: host defenses, tick countermeasures, and a suitable environment for pathogen establishment. Front Microbiol, 2013. **4**: p. 337.
- 30. Schroeder, H., et al., Subversion of complement by hematophagous parasites. Dev Comp Immunol, 2009. **33**(1): p. 5-13.

- Nunn, M.A., et al., Complement inhibitor of C5 activation from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata. J Immunol, 2005. 174(4): p. 2084-91.
- 32. Noris, M. and G. Remuzzi, *Overview of complement activation and regulation*. Semin Nephrol, 2013. **33**(6): p. 479-92.
- 33. Labuda, M., et al., *Enhancement of tick-borne encephalitis virus transmission by tick salivary gland extracts*. Med Vet Entomol, 1993. **7**(2): p. 193-6.
- 34. Zeidner, N., et al., Suppression of acute Ixodes scapularisinduced Borrelia burgdorferi infection using tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-2, and interferon-gamma. J Infect Dis, 1996. **173**(1): p. 187-95.
- 35. Shaw, M.K., L.G. Tilney, and D.J. McKeever, *Tick salivary* gland extract and interleukin-2 stimulation enhance susceptibility of lymphocytes to infection by Theileria parva sporozoites. Infect Immun, 1993. **61**(4): p. 1486-95.
- 36. Rawlings, N.D. and G. Salvesen, *Handbook of proteolytic enzymes*. Third ed. 2013, London: Academic Press.
- 37. Rawlings, N.D., et al., *The MEROPS database of proteolytic enzymes, their substrates and inhibitors in 2017 and a comparison with peptidases in the PANTHER database.* Nucleic Acids Res, 2018. **46**(D1): p. D624-D632.
- Fujinaga, M., et al., *The molecular structure and catalytic mechanism of a novel carboxyl peptidase from Scytalidium lignicolum.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2004. **101**(10): p. 3364-9.
- Ritchie, C., *Protease Inhibitors*. Materials and Methods, 2013.
 3(169).
- Martins, L.A., et al., Small protease inhibitors in tick saliva and salivary glands and their role in tick-host-pathogen interactions. Biochim Biophys Acta Proteins Proteom, 2020. 1868(2): p. 140336.
- 41. Francischetti, I.M., et al., *The role of saliva in tick feeding*. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed), 2009. **14**: p. 2051-88.
- 42. Kordis, D. and V. Turk, *Phylogenomic analysis of the cystatin superfamily in eukaryotes and prokaryotes*. BMC Evol Biol, 2009. **9**: p. 266.
- 43. Turk, V. and W. Bode, *The cystatins: protein inhibitors of cysteine proteinases.* FEBS Lett, 1991. **285**(2): p. 213-9.

- 44. Dickinson, D.P., Salivary (SD-type) cystatins: over one billion years in the making--but to what purpose? Crit Rev Oral Biol Med, 2002. **13**(6): p. 485-508.
- 45. Brown, W.M. and K.M. Dziegielewska, *Friends and relations* of the cystatin superfamily--new members and their evolution. Protein Sci, 1997. **6**(1): p. 5-12.
- 46. Valente, R.H., et al., *BJ46a, a snake venom metalloproteinase inhibitor. Isolation, characterization, cloning and insights into its mechanism of action.* Eur J Biochem, 2001. **268**(10): p. 3042-52.
- 47. Pal, D., et al., *Fetuin-A acts as an endogenous ligand of TLR4 to promote lipid-induced insulin resistance*. Nat Med, 2012. 18(8): p. 1279-85.
- 48. Turk, V., et al., Cysteine cathepsins: from structure, function and regulation to new frontiers. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2012. 1824(1): p. 68-88.
- 49. Zavasnik-Bergant, T., *Cystatin protease inhibitors and immune functions*. Front Biosci, 2008. **13**: p. 4625-37.
- 50. Jin, C. and R.A. Flavell, *Molecular mechanism of NLRP3 inflammasome activation*. J Clin Immunol, 2010. **30**(5): p. 628-31.
- 51. Shimba, N., et al., *Structural comparison between wild-type and P25S human cystatin A by NMR spectroscopy. Does this mutation affect the alpha-helix conformation?* J Struct Funct Genomics, 2000. **1**(1): p. 26-42.
- 52. Alvarez-Fernandez, M., et al., *Crystal structure of human cystatin D, a cysteine peptidase inhibitor with restricted inhibition profile.* J Biol Chem, 2005. **280**(18): p. 18221-8.
- 53. Francischetti, I.M., et al., *Toward a catalog for the transcripts and proteins (sialome) from the salivary gland of the malaria vector Anopheles gambiae.* J Exp Biol, 2002. **205**(Pt 16): p. 2429-51.
- 54. Schwarz, A., J.J. Valdes, and M. Kotsyfakis, *The role of cystatins in tick physiology and blood feeding*. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 2012. **3**(3): p. 117-27.
- 55. Ibelli, A.M., et al., *Bioinformatics and expression analyses of the Ixodes scapularis tick cystatin family.* Exp Appl Acarol, 2013. **60**(1): p. 41-53.
- 56. Lu, S., et al., A novel type 1 cystatin involved in the regulation of Rhipicephalus microplus midgut cysteine proteases. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 2020: p. 101374.

- 57. Zhou, J., et al., *Characterization of an intracellular cystatin homolog from the tick Haemaphysalis longicornis.* Vet Parasitol, 2009. **160**(1-2): p. 180-3.
- 58. Yamaji, K., et al., *Hlcyst-1 and Hlcyst-2 are potential inhibitors* of *HlCPL-A in the midgut of the ixodid tick Haemaphysalis longicornis.* J Vet Med Sci, 2010. **72**(5): p. 599-604.
- 59. Grunclova, L., et al., *Two secreted cystatins of the soft tick* Ornithodoros moubata: differential expression pattern and inhibitory specificity. Biol Chem, 2006. **387**(12): p. 1635-44.
- 60. Wang, Y., et al., *Characterization of a secreted cystatin from the tick Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides*. Exp Appl Acarol, 2015. **67**(2): p. 289-98.
- 61. Parizi, L.F., et al., *Rhipicephalus microplus and Ixodes ovatus cystatins in tick blood digestion and evasion of host immune response*. Parasit Vectors, 2015. **8**: p. 122.
- 62. Yamaji, K., et al., *A salivary cystatin, HISC-1, from the ixodid tick Haemaphysalis longicornis play roles in the blood-feeding processes.* Parasitol Res, 2009. **106**(1): p. 61-8.
- 63. Salat, J., et al., *Crystal structure and functional characterization* of an immunomodulatory salivary cystatin from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata. Biochem J, 2010. **429**(1): p. 103-12.
- 64. Kotsyfakis, M., et al., *Cutting edge: Immunity against a "silent"* salivary antigen of the Lyme vector Ixodes scapularis impairs its ability to feed. J Immunol, 2008. **181**(8): p. 5209-12.
- 65. Kotsyfakis, M., et al., Selective cysteine protease inhibition contributes to blood-feeding success of the tick Ixodes scapularis. J Biol Chem, 2007. **282**(40): p. 29256-63.
- 66. Kotsyfakis, M., et al., *Antiinflammatory and immunosuppressive activity of sialostatin L, a salivary cystatin from the tick Ixodes scapularis.* J Biol Chem, 2006. **281**(36): p. 26298-307.
- 67. Lieskovska, J., et al., *Tick sialostatins L and L2 differentially influence dendritic cell responses to Borrelia spirochetes.* Parasit Vectors, 2015. **8**: p. 275.
- 68. Sa-Nunes, A., et al., *The immunomodulatory action of sialostatin L on dendritic cells reveals its potential to interfere with autoimmunity.* J Immunol, 2009. **182**(12): p. 7422-9.
- 69. Horka, H., et al., *The tick salivary protein sialostatin L inhibits the Th9-derived production of the asthma-promoting cytokine IL-9 and is effective in the prevention of experimental asthma.* J Immunol, 2012. **188**(6): p. 2669-76.

- 70. Chen, G., et al., *The tick salivary protein sialostatin L2 inhibits caspase-1-mediated inflammation during Anaplasma phagocytophilum infection.* Infect Immun, 2014. **82**(6): p. 2553-64.
- 71. Kotsyfakis, M., et al., *The crystal structures of two salivary cystatins from the tick Ixodes scapularis and the effect of these inhibitors on the establishment of Borrelia burgdorferi infection in a murine model.* Mol Microbiol, 2010. **77**(2): p. 456-70.
- 72. Kotal, J., et al., *The structure and function of Iristatin, a novel immunosuppressive tick salivary cystatin.* Cell Mol Life Sci, 2019. **76**(10): p. 2003-2013.
- 73. Huntington, J.A., *Serpin structure, function and dysfunction*. J Thromb Haemost, 2011. **9 Suppl 1**: p. 26-34.
- 74. Law, R.H., et al., *An overview of the serpin superfamily*. Genome Biol, 2006. **7**(5): p. 216.
- 75. Lu, H., et al., *Structure and functions of angiotensinogen*. Hypertens Res, 2016. **39**(7): p. 492-500.
- 76. Carrell, R.W. and R.J. Read, *How serpins transport hormones and regulate their release.* Semin Cell Dev Biol, 2016.
- 77. Silverman, G.A., et al., *Serpins flex their muscle: I. Putting the clamps on proteolysis in diverse biological systems.* J Biol Chem, 2010. **285**(32): p. 24299-305.
- 78. Whisstock, J.C., et al., *Serpins flex their muscle: II. Structural insights into target peptidase recognition, polymerization, and transport functions.* J Biol Chem, 2010. **285**(32): p. 24307-12.
- 79. Im, H., H.Y. Ahn, and M.H. Yu, *Bypassing the kinetic trap of serpin protein folding by loop extension*. Protein Sci, 2000. 9(8): p. 1497-502.
- 80. Kaslik, G., et al., *Effects of serpin binding on the target proteinase: global stabilization, localized increased structural flexibility, and conserved hydrogen bonding at the active site.* Biochemistry, 1997. **36**(18): p. 5455-64.
- 81. Huntington, J.A., R.J. Read, and R.W. Carrell, *Structure of a serpin-protease complex shows inhibition by deformation*. Nature, 2000. **407**(6806): p. 923-6.
- 82. Whisstock, J.C. and S.P. Bottomley, *Molecular gymnastics: serpin structure, folding and misfolding.* Curr Opin Struct Biol, 2006. **16**(6): p. 761-8.
- 83. Calugaru, S.V., R. Swanson, and S.T. Olson, *The pH* dependence of serpin-proteinase complex dissociation reveals a mechanism of complex stabilization involving inactive and

active conformational states of the proteinase which are perturbable by calcium. J Biol Chem, 2001. **276**(35): p. 32446-55.

- 84. Fredenburgh, J.C., A.R. Stafford, and J.I. Weitz, *Conformational changes in thrombin when complexed by serpins.* J Biol Chem, 2001. **276**(48): p. 44828-34.
- 85. Bock, P.E., S.T. Olson, and I. Bjork, *Inactivation of thrombin* by antithrombin is accompanied by inactivation of regulatory exosite I. J Biol Chem, 1997. **272**(32): p. 19837-45.
- 86. Lucas, A., et al., *Overview of Serpins and Their Roles in Biological Systems*. Methods Mol Biol, 2018. **1826**: p. 1-7.
- 87. Heit, C., et al., *Update of the human and mouse SERPIN gene superfamily*. Hum Genomics, 2013. **7**: p. 22.
- 88. Meekins, D.A., M.R. Kanost, and K. Michel, *Serpins in arthropod biology*. Semin Cell Dev Biol, 2017. **62**: p. 105-119.
- 89. Leboulle, G., et al., *Characterization of a novel salivary immunosuppressive protein from Ixodes ricinus ticks*. J Biol Chem, 2002. **277**(12): p. 10083-9.
- 90. Prevot, P.P., et al., *Anti-hemostatic effects of a serpin from the saliva of the tick Ixodes ricinus.* J Biol Chem, 2006. **281**(36): p. 26361-9.
- 91. Prevot, P.P., et al., *Exosites mediate the anti-inflammatory effects of a multifunctional serpin from the saliva of the tick Ixodes ricinus.* FEBS J, 2009. **276**(12): p. 3235-46.
- 92. Chmelar, J., et al., A tick salivary protein targets cathepsin G and chymase and inhibits host inflammation and platelet aggregation. Blood, 2011. **117**(2): p. 736-44.
- 93. Palenikova, J., et al., *Ixodes ricinus salivary serpin IRS-2 affects Th17 differentiation via inhibition of the interleukin-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway.* Infect Immun, 2015. **83**(5): p. 1949-56.
- 94. Pingen, M., et al., *Mosquito Biting Modulates Skin Response to Virus Infection*. Trends Parasitol, 2017. **33**(8): p. 645-657.
- 95. Manning, J.E. and T. Cantaert, *Time to Micromanage the Pathogen-Host-Vector Interface: Considerations for Vaccine Development.* Vaccines (Basel), 2019. 7(1).
- 96. Guerrero, D., T. Cantaert, and D. Misse, *Aedes Mosquito* Salivary Components and Their Effect on the Immune Response to Arboviruses. Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2020. **10**: p. 407.
- 97. Fong, S.W., R.M. Kini, and L.F.P. Ng, *Mosquito Saliva Reshapes Alphavirus Infection and Immunopathogenesis.* J Virol, 2018. **92**(12).

- 98. Awuoche, E.O., *Tsetse fly saliva: Could it be useful in fly infection when feeding in chronically aparasitemic mammalian hosts.* Open Vet J, 2012. **2**(1): p. 95-105.
- 99. Caljon, G., et al., *Identification of a tsetse fly salivary protein with dual inhibitory action on human platelet aggregation.* PLoS One, 2010. **5**(3): p. e9671.
- Caljon, G., et al., *Tsetse fly saliva biases the immune response* to *Th2 and induces anti-vector antibodies that are a useful tool* for exposure assessment. Int J Parasitol, 2006. **36**(9): p. 1025-35.
- 101. Oliveira, F., A.M. de Carvalho, and C.I. de Oliveira, *Sand-fly saliva-leishmania-man: the trigger trio*. Front Immunol, 2013.
 4: p. 375.
- 102. Lestinova, T., et al., *Insights into the sand fly saliva: Blood-feeding and immune interactions between sand flies, hosts, and Leishmania.* PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2017. **11**(7): p. e0005600.
- 103. Mendes, M.T., et al., *Effect of the saliva from different triatomine species on the biology and immunity of TLR-4 ligand and Trypanosoma cruzi-stimulated dendritic cells.* Parasit Vectors, 2016. **9**(1): p. 634.
- 104. Santiago, P.B., et al., *The Pharmacopea within Triatomine Salivary Glands*. Trends Parasitol, 2020. **36**(3): p. 250-265.
- 105. Pereira, M.H., et al., Anticoagulant activity of Triatoma infestans and Panstrongylus megistus saliva (Hemiptera/Triatominae). Acta Trop, 1996. **61**(3): p. 255-61.
- 106. Stark, K.R. and A.A. James, *A factor Xa-directed anticoagulant from the salivary glands of the yellow fever mosquito Aedes aegypti.* Exp Parasitol, 1995. **81**(3): p. 321-31.
- 107. Stark, K.R. and A.A. James, *Isolation and characterization of the gene encoding a novel factor Xa-directed anticoagulant from the yellow fever mosquito, Aedes aegypti.* J Biol Chem, 1998. **273**(33): p. 20802-9.
- 108. Calvo, E., et al., Alboserpin, a factor Xa inhibitor from the mosquito vector of yellow fever, binds heparin and membrane phospholipids and exhibits antithrombotic activity. J Biol Chem, 2011. **286**(32): p. 27998-8010.
- 109. Calvo, E., et al., An insight into the sialome of Anopheles funestus reveals an emerging pattern in anopheline salivary protein families. Insect Biochem Mol Biol, 2007. **37**(2): p. 164-75.

- 110. Ribeiro, J.M., et al., *An annotated catalogue of salivary gland transcripts in the adult female mosquito, Aedes aegypti.* BMC Genomics, 2007. **8**: p. 6.
- 111. Friedrich, T., et al., A Kazal-type inhibitor with thrombin specificity from Rhodnius prolixus. J Biol Chem, 1993. 268(22): p. 16216-22.
- 112. Lange, U., et al., *Biochemical characterization of a thrombin inhibitor from the bloodsucking bug Dipetalogaster maximus*. Haemostasis, 1999. **29**(4): p. 204-11.
- 113. Bussacos, A.C., et al., *Diversity of anti-haemostatic proteins in the salivary glands of Rhodnius species transmitters of Chagas disease in the greater Amazon.* J Proteomics, 2011. **74**(9): p. 1664-72.
- 114. Cappello, M., et al., *Isolation and characterization of the tsetse thrombin inhibitor: a potent antithrombotic peptide from the saliva of Glossina morsitans morsitans.* Am J Trop Med Hyg, 1996. **54**(5): p. 475-80.
- 115. Cappello, M., et al., Tsetse thrombin inhibitor: bloodmealinduced expression of an anticoagulant in salivary glands and gut tissue of Glossina morsitans morsitans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1998. 95(24): p. 14290-5.
- 116. Kato, H., et al., Ayadualin, a novel RGD peptide with dual antihemostatic activities from the sand fly Lutzomyia ayacuchensis, a vector of Andean-type cutaneous leishmaniasis. Biochimie, 2015. **112**: p. 49-56.
- 117. Chagas, A.C., et al., Lundep, a sand fly salivary endonuclease increases Leishmania parasite survival in neutrophils and inhibits XIIa contact activation in human plasma. PLoS Pathog, 2014. **10**(2): p. e1003923.
- 118. Collin, N., et al., Lufaxin, a novel factor Xa inhibitor from the salivary gland of the sand fly Lutzomyia longipalpis blocks protease-activated receptor 2 activation and inhibits inflammation and thrombosis in vivo. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2012. **32**(9): p. 2185-98.
- 119. Lemke, S. and A. Vilcinskas, *European Medicinal Leeches-New Roles in Modern Medicine*. Biomedicines, 2020. **8**(5).
- Ma, D., et al., Desmolaris, a novel factor XIa anticoagulant from the salivary gland of the vampire bat (Desmodus rotundus) inhibits inflammation and thrombosis in vivo. Blood, 2013. 122(25): p. 4094-106.

- 121. de la Fuente, J., *Controlling ticks and tick-borne diseases...looking forward.* Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 2018. **9**(5): p. 1354-1357.
- 122. Chmelar, J., et al., *The Use of Tick Salivary Proteins as Novel Therapeutics.* Front Physiol, 2019. **10**: p. 812.
- 123. Stibraniova, I., et al., *Deciphering Biological Processes at the Tick-Host Interface Opens New Strategies for Treatment of Human Diseases.* Front Physiol, 2019. **10**: p. 830.
- 124. de la Fuente, J., et al., *Targeting a global health problem: Vaccine design and challenges for the control of tick-borne diseases.* Vaccine, 2017. **35**(38): p. 5089-5094.
- 125. Chmelar, J., et al., *All For One and One For All on the Tick-Host Battlefield.* Trends Parasitol, 2016. **32**(5): p. 368-77.
- 126. Carreon, D., et al., *Vaccination with BM86, subolesin and akirin protective antigens for the control of tick infestations in white tailed deer and red deer.* Vaccine, 2012. **30**(2): p. 273-9.
- 127. de la Fuente, J., et al., *A ten-year review of commercial vaccine performance for control of tick infestations on cattle.* Anim Health Res Rev, 2007. **8**(1): p. 23-8.
- 128. de la Fuente, J., et al., Vaccination against ticks (Boophilus spp.): the experience with the Bm86-based vaccine Gavac. Genet Anal, 1999. **15**(3-5): p. 143-8.
- 129. Coumou, J., et al., Vaccination against Bm86 Homologues in Rabbits Does Not Impair Ixodes ricinus Feeding or Oviposition. PLoS One, 2014. **10**(4): p. e0123495.
- 130. Pal, U., et al., *TROSPA*, an *Ixodes scapularis receptor for Borrelia burgdorferi*. Cell, 2004. **119**(4): p. 457-68.
- Steeves, E.B. and J.R. Allen, *Tick resistance in mast cell-deficient mice: histological studies*. Int J Parasitol, 1991. 21(2): p. 265-8.
- 132. Schleger, A.V., et al., *Boophilus microplus: cellular responses* to larval attachment and their relationship to host resistance. Aust J Biol Sci, 1976. **29**(5-6): p. 499-512.
- 133. Narasimhan, S., et al., Immunity against Ixodes scapularis salivary proteins expressed within 24 hours of attachment thwarts tick feeding and impairs Borrelia transmission. PLoS One, 2007. **2**(5): p. e451.
- 134. Ramamoorthi, N., et al., *The Lyme disease agent exploits a tick protein to infect the mammalian host*. Nature, 2005. 436(7050): p. 573-7.
- 135. Wen, S., et al., Salp15, a Multifunctional Protein From Tick Saliva With Potential Pharmaceutical Effects. Front Immunol, 2019. **10**: p. 3067.
- 136. Dai, J., et al., Antibodies against a tick protein, Salp15, protect mice from the Lyme disease agent. Cell Host Microbe, 2009. 6(5): p. 482-92.
- 137. Mans, B.J., A.I. Louw, and A.W. Neitz, *Evolution of hematophagy in ticks: common origins for blood coagulation and platelet aggregation inhibitors from soft ticks of the genus Ornithodoros.* Mol Biol Evol, 2002. **19**(10): p. 1695-705.
- Shim, J.S. and J.O. Liu, *Recent advances in drug repositioning for the discovery of new anticancer drugs*. Int J Biol Sci, 2014. 10(7): p. 654-63.
- 139. Cherniack, E.P., Bugs as drugs, part two: worms, leeches, scorpions, snails, ticks, centipedes, and spiders. Altern Med Rev, 2011. **16**(1): p. 50-8.
- 140. Zhou, W., et al., *Systems Pharmacology in Small Molecular Drug Discovery*. Int J Mol Sci, 2016. **17**(2): p. 246.
- 141. Wang, X.J., et al., Novel applications of mass spectrometrybased metabolomics in herbal medicines and its active ingredients: Current evidence. Mass Spectrom Rev, 2019.
- 142. Chmelar, J., et al., Sialomes and Mialomes: A Systems-Biology View of Tick Tissues and Tick-Host Interactions. Trends Parasitol, 2016. **32**(3): p. 242-54.
- Markwardt, F., *Hirudin as alternative anticoagulant--a historical review*. Semin Thromb Hemost, 2002. 28(5): p. 405-14.
- 144. Barratt-Due, A., et al., Ornithodoros moubata complement inhibitor is an equally effective C5 inhibitor in pigs and humans. J Immunol, 2011. **187**(9): p. 4913-9.
- 145. Roversi, P., et al., *The structure of OMCI, a novel lipocalin inhibitor of the complement system.* J Mol Biol, 2007. 369(3): p. 784-93.
- 146. Hepburn, N.J., et al., *In vivo characterization and therapeutic efficacy of a C5-specific inhibitor from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata.* J Biol Chem, 2007. **282**(11): p. 8292-9.
- 147. Halstead, S.K., et al., *C5 inhibitor rEV576 protects against neural injury in an in vitro mouse model of Miller Fisher syndrome.* J Peripher Nerv Syst, 2008. **13**(3): p. 228-35.

- 148. Roversi, P., et al., *Bifunctional lipocalin ameliorates murine immune complex-induced acute lung injury*. J Biol Chem, 2013. 288(26): p. 18789-802.
- 149. Kusner, L.L., H.J. Kaminski, and J. Soltys, *Effect of complement and its regulation on myasthenia gravis pathogenesis.* Expert Rev Clin Immunol, 2008. **4**(1): p. 43-52.
- 150. Soltys, J., et al., *Novel complement inhibitor limits severity of experimentally myasthenia gravis.* Ann Neurol, 2009. **65**(1): p. 67-75.
- 151. Pischke, S.E., et al., *Complement factor 5 blockade reduces* porcine myocardial infarction size and improves immediate cardiac function. Basic Res Cardiol, 2017. **112**(3): p. 20.
- 152. Kuhn, N., et al., *PASylated Coversin, a C5-Specific Complement Inhibitor with Extended Pharmacokinetics, Shows Enhanced Anti-Hemolytic Activity in Vitro.* Bioconjug Chem, 2016. **27**(10): p. 2359-2371.
- 153. Goodship, T.H.J., et al., Use of the complement inhibitor Coversin to treat HSCT-associated TMA. Blood Adv, 2017. 1(16): p. 1254-1258.
- 154. Huber-Lang, M., et al., Double blockade of CD14 and complement C5 abolishes the cytokine storm and improves morbidity and survival in polymicrobial sepsis in mice. J Immunol, 2014. **192**(11): p. 5324-31.
- 155. Decrem, Y., et al., *Ir-CPI, a coagulation contact phase inhibitor* from the tick Ixodes ricinus, inhibits thrombus formation without impairing hemostasis. J Exp Med, 2009. **206**(11): p. 2381-95.
- 156. Pireaux, V., et al., *Anticoagulation With an Inhibitor of Factors XIa and XIIa During Cardiopulmonary Bypass.* J Am Coll Cardiol, 2019. **74**(17): p. 2178-2189.
- 157. Weitz, J.I. and N.C. Chan, Are Ticks the Answer to Medical Device-Associated Clotting? J Am Coll Cardiol, 2019. 74(17): p. 2190-2192.
- Charo, I.F. and R.M. Ransohoff, *The many roles of chemokines and chemokine receptors in inflammation*. N Engl J Med, 2006. 354(6): p. 610-21.
- 159. Deruaz, M., et al., *Ticks produce highly selective chemokine binding proteins with antiinflammatory activity.* J Exp Med, 2008. **205**(9): p. 2019-31.
- 160. Frauenschuh, A., et al., *Molecular cloning and characterization* of a highly selective chemokine-binding protein from the tick

Rhipicephalus sanguineus. J Biol Chem, 2007. **282**(37): p. 27250-8.

- Russo, R.C., et al., *Therapeutic effects of evasin-1, a chemokine binding protein, in bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis.* Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2011. 45(1): p. 72-80.
- 162. Castor, M.G., et al., *The CCL3/macrophage inflammatory* protein-1alpha-binding protein evasin-1 protects from graft-versus-host disease but does not modify graft-versus-leukemia in mice. J Immunol, 2010. **184**(5): p. 2646-54.
- 163. Deruaz, M., et al., *Evasin-4, a tick-derived chemokine-binding* protein with broad selectivity can be modified for use in preclinical disease models. FEBS J, 2013. **280**(19): p. 4876-87.
- 164. Vieira, A.T., et al., *Treatment with a novel chemokine-binding* protein or eosinophil lineage-ablation protects mice from experimental colitis. Am J Pathol, 2009. **175**(6): p. 2382-91.
- 165. Braunersreuther, V., et al., *Treatment with the CC chemokinebinding protein Evasin-4 improves post-infarction myocardial injury and survival in mice*. Thromb Haemost, 2013. **110**(4): p. 807-25.
- 166. Montecucco, F., et al., Single administration of the CXC chemokine-binding protein Evasin-3 during ischemia prevents myocardial reperfusion injury in mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2010. **30**(7): p. 1371-7.
- Copin, J.C., et al., *Treatment with Evasin-3 reduces* atherosclerotic vulnerability for ischemic stroke, but not brain injury in mice. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2013. 33(4): p. 490-8.
- 168. Montecucco, F., et al., *Treatment with Evasin-3 abrogates neutrophil-mediated inflammation in mouse acute pancreatitis*. Eur J Clin Invest, 2014. **44**(10): p. 940-50.
- 169. Neelakanta, G., et al., Anaplasma phagocytophilum induces Ixodes scapularis ticks to express an antifreeze glycoprotein gene that enhances their survival in the cold. J Clin Invest, 2010. **120**(9): p. 3179-90.
- 170. Heisig, M., et al., Antivirulence properties of an antifreeze protein. Cell Rep, 2014. **9**(2): p. 417-24.
- 171. Abraham, N.M., et al., *A Tick Antivirulence Protein Potentiates Antibiotics against Staphylococcus aureus*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2017. **61**(7).

- 172. Maraganore, J.M., et al., *Design and characterization of hirulogs: a novel class of bivalent peptide inhibitors of thrombin.* Biochemistry, 1990. **29**(30): p. 7095-101.
- 173. USAN Council. List No. 374. New names. Bivalirudin. Desirudin. Clin Pharmacol Ther, 1995. **58**(2): p. 241.
- 174. Bonvin, P., C.A. Power, and A.E. Proudfoot, *Evasins: Therapeutic Potential of a New Family of Chemokine-Binding Proteins from Ticks.* Front Immunol, 2016. 7: p. 208.
- 175. Krober, T. and P.M. Guerin, An in vitro feeding assay to test acaricides for control of hard ticks. Pest Manag Sci, 2007.
 63(1): p. 17-22.
- 176. Schwan, E.V., et al., Artificial feeding and successful reproduction in Ornithodoros moubata moubata (Murray, 1877) (Acarina: Argasidae). Exp Appl Acarol, 1991. **13**(2): p. 107-15.
- 177. Cong, L., et al., *Multiplex genome engineering using* CRISPR/Cas systems. Science, 2013. **339**(6121): p. 819-23.
- 178. Gaj, T., C.A. Gersbach, and C.F. Barbas, 3rd, *ZFN*, *TALEN*, and *CRISPR/Cas-based methods for genome engineering*. Trends Biotechnol, 2013. **31**(7): p. 397-405.
- 179. Miller, J.C., et al., *A TALE nuclease architecture for efficient genome editing*. Nat Biotechnol, 2011. **29**(2): p. 143-8.
- 180. Sun, D., et al., *Progress and Prospects of CRISPR/Cas Systems in Insects and Other Arthropods*. Front Physiol, 2017. **8**: p. 608.
- 181. Bajda, S., et al., A mutation in the PSST homologue of complex I (NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase) from Tetranychus urticae is associated with resistance to METI acaricides. Insect Biochem Mol Biol, 2017. 80: p. 79-90.

6. List of abbreviations

mblyomma maculatum serine protease inhibitor 6
mblyomma americanum serpin 19
ctivated partial thromboplastin time
hipicephalus microplus anticoagulant protein
hipicephalus microplus gut thrombin inhibitor
hipicephalus microplus trypsin inhibitor A
aSO4-adsorbing protein 1, 2
asic tail secretory protein
RISPR associated protein 9
C chemokine ligand 3/4/19
luster of differentiation 4 positive
lustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic
epeats
ytotoxic T lymphocytes
ermacentor variabilis Kunitz-type serine protease
hibitor
actor IX
actor V
ctivated factor VII
actor X
ctivated factor X
ctivated factor Xia
actor XII
ctivated factor XIIa
yalomma asiaticum 11kDa protein
aemaphysalis longicornis cathepsin L-like
rotease
aemaphysalis longicornis cystatin 1
aemaphysalis longicornis serpin-2
eat shock protein 70
eat shock protein 70 codes scapularis antifreeze glycoprotein
eat shock protein 70 codes scapularis antifreeze glycoprotein aterferon γ
eat shock protein 70 codes scapularis antifreeze glycoprotein aterferon γ aterleukin 2/4/6/9
eat shock protein 70 codes scapularis antifreeze glycoprotein aterferon γ aterleukin 2/4/6/9 codes ricinus contact phase inhibitor

IRS-2	Ixodes ricinus serpin 2
IRS-8	Ixodes ricinus serpin 8
IxscS-1E1	Ixodes scapularis serpin 1E1
NTI1, 2	Nymphal thrombin inhibitor 1, 2
Om-cystatin 1	Ornithodoros moubata cystatin 1
OmC2	Ornithodoros moubata cystatin 2
OmCI	Ornithodoros moubata complement inhibitor
OspA	Outer surface protein A
OspC	Outer surface protein C
PAS	Proline-Alanine-Serine
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
RCL	Reactive centre loop
RGD	Arginine-Glycine-Aspartate
RHcyst-2	Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides cystatin 2
RHS-1, 2	Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides serpin 1, 2
Rmcystatin-1b	Rhipicephalus microplus cystatin 1b
RMS-3/15/17	Rhipicephalus microplus serpin 3/15/17
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNAi	RNA interference
RT-PCR	Real time polymerase chain reaction
SGE	Salivary gland extract
TAP	Tick anticoagulant peptide
TBEV	Tick borne encephalitis virus
TF	Tissue factor
Th1/2/9/17	T helper cells 1/2/9/17
TLSPI	Tick mannose-binding lectin inhibitor
TROSPA	Tick receptor for outer surface protein A
TSGP2/3	Tick salivary gland protein 2/3
TTI	Tsetse thrombin inhibitor
TXA2	Thromboxane

7. Curriculum Vitae

Mgr. Jan Kotál

Personal information

Address: Studánecká 258, Vyšší Brod, 382 73, Czech Republic Phone: +420 728 422 706 Email: jankotal@gmail.com ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5644-1468 Birth date: 15th March 1989 Languages: Czech – native, English – C1, German – B2

Education

Doctoral: 2014 – now Program: Molecular and Cell Biology and Genetics; University of South Bohemia (CZE)

Master: 2011 – 2014 Program: Experimental Biology; University of South Bohemia (CZE)

Bachelor: 2008 – 2011 Program: Biological Chemistry; University of South Bohemia (CZE) and Johannes Kepler University (AUT)

Work experience

PhD student position at Biology Centre of Czech Academy of Science and at Faculty of Science University of South Bohemia; 2014 - now

• Functional analysis of tick salivary serine and cysteine protease inhibitors

PhD internship at University of Cambridge, Department of Haematology, (head prof. James Huntington), Cambridge Institute for Medical Research, United Kingdom; 11 weeks in 2017

• Testing antihemostatic effects of tick serpins

Internship at University Hospital at the Technische Universität Dresden; Laboratory for Vascular Inflammation, (head prof. Triantafyllos Chavakis); Germany; 3 weeks in 2013, 3 weeks in 2014

• Learning host immunomodulatory assays applicable to study effects of tick feeding

Teaching and other activities

- Supervisor or co-supervisor of 3 master and 5 bachelor students
- Teaching Practicals in Immunology at Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia
- Volunteering in Covid19 diagnostics

List of publications (chronological)

1. Klein, M., Bruhl, T. J., Staudt, V., Reuter, S., Grebe, N., Gerlitzki, B., Hoffmann, M., Bohn, T., Ulges, A., Stergiou, N., de Graaf, J., Lower, M., Taube, C., Becker, M., Hain, T., Dietzen, S., Stassen, M., Huber, M., Lohoff, M., Campos Chagas, A., Andersen, J., **Kotal, J.**, Langhansova, H., Kopecky, J., Schild, H., Kotsyfakis, M., Schmitt, E., and Bopp, T. (2015) Tick Salivary Sialostatin L Represses the Initiation of Immune Responses by Targeting IRF4-Dependent Transcription in Murine Mast Cells. Journal of immunology 195, 621-631

2. **Kotal, J**., Langhansova, H., Lieskovska, J., Andersen, J. F., Francischetti, I. M., Chavakis, T., Kopecky, J., Pedra, J. H., Kotsyfakis, M., and Chmelar, J. (2015) Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva. Journal of proteomics 128, 58-68

3. Chmelar, J., **Kotal, J.**, Karim, S., Kopacek, P., Francischetti, I. M. B., Pedra, J. H. F., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2016) Sialomes and Mialomes: A Systems-Biology View of Tick Tissues and Tick-Host Interactions. Trends in parasitology 32, 242-254

4. Chmelar, J., **Kotal, J.**, Kopecky, J., Pedra, J. H. F., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2016) All For One and One For All on the Tick-Host Battlefield. Trends in parasitology 32, 368-377

5. Chmelar, J., **Kotal, J**., Langhansova, H., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2017) Protease Inhibitors in Tick Saliva: The Role of Serpins and Cystatins in Tickhost-Pathogen Interaction. Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology 7, 216 6. Perner, J., **Kotal, J.**, Hatalova, T., Urbanova, V., Bartosova-Sojkova, P., Brophy, P. M., and Kopacek, P. (2018) Inducible glutathione S-transferase (IrGST1) from the tick Ixodes ricinus is a haem-binding protein. Insect biochemistry and molecular biology 95, 44-54

7. Chmelar, J., **Kotal, J.**, Kovarikova, A., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2019) The Use of Tick Salivary Proteins as Novel Therapeutics. Frontiers in physiology 10, 812

8. **Kotal, J.**, Stergiou, N., Busa, M., Chlastakova, A., Berankova, Z., Rezacova, P., Langhansova, H., Schwarz, A., Calvo, E., Kopecky, J., Mares, M., Schmitt, E., Chmelar, J., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2019) The structure and function of Iristatin, a novel immunosuppressive tick salivary cystatin. Cellular and molecular life sciences 76, 2003-2013

9. Martins, L. A., **Kotal, J.**, Bensaoud, C., Chmelar, J., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2020) Small protease inhibitors in tick saliva and salivary glands and their role in tick-host-pathogen interactions. Biochimica et biophysica acta. Proteins and proteomics 1868, 140336

Conference proceedings

- XVI. Interdisciplinary Meeting of Young Biologists, Biochemists and Chemists, 2016, Milovy, Czech Republic; poster
- 34th Winter School on Proteases and Inhibitors, 2017, Tiers, Italy; oral presentation
- GRC Proteolytic Enzymes and Their Inhibitors, 2018, Barga, Italy; poster
- International Symposium "Adaptations to Hematophagy in Blood-Feeding Parasites", 2018, Greifswald, Germany; oral presentation
- 13th International Symposium on Ticks and Tick-borne Diseases, 2019, Weimar, Germany; poster
- SERPINs 2019, 2019, Sevilla, Spain; poster
- 11th General Meeting of the International Proteolysis Society, 2019, Mariánské Lázně, Czech Republic; poster

Bibliographic data (Scopus, 31st Oct. 2020)

- H index: 6
- Total citations / without autocitations: 234 / 216

© for non-published parts Jan Kotál jankotal@gmail.com

Functional analysis of tick salivary serine and cysteine protease inhibitors Ph.D. Thesis Series, 2020, No. 19

All rights reserved For non-commercial use only

Printed in the Czech Republic by Typodesign Edition of 10 copies

University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice Faculty of Science Branišovská 1760 CZ-37005 České Budějovice, Czech Republic

Phone: +420 387 776 201 www.prf.jcu.cz, e-mail: sekret-fpr@prf.jcu.cz